

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/rser



# Macroalgae and microalgae as a potential source for commercial applications along with biofuels production: A biorefinery approach



### T. Suganya<sup>a,\*</sup>, M. Varman<sup>a,\*</sup>, H.H. Masjuki<sup>a</sup>, S. Renganathan<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Centre for Energy Sciences, Department of Mechanical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Malaya, 50603 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia <sup>b</sup> Centre for Biotechnology, Anna University, Chennai 600025, India

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 March 2015 Received in revised form 16 October 2015 Accepted 13 November 2015 Available online 5 December 2015

Keywords: Macroalgae Microalgae Biofuels Biorefinery Carotenoid Phycobiliprotein Biochemical Isotopes

#### ABSTRACT

Due to diminishing petroleum reserves and deleterious environmental consequences of exhaust gases from fossil-based fuels, research on renewable and environment friendly fuels has received a lot of impetus in the recent years. However, the availability of the non-edible crops serve as the sources for biofuel production are limited and economically not feasible. Algae are a promising alternative source to the conventional feedstocks for the third generation biofuel production. There has been a considerable discussion in the recent years about the potential of microalgae for the production of biofuels, but there may be other more readily exploitable commercial opportunities for macroalgae and microalgae. This review, briefly describes the biofuels conversion technologies for both macroalgae and microalgae. The gasification process produces combustible gases such as  $H_2$ ,  $CH_4$ ,  $CO_2$  and ammonia, whereas, the product of pyrolysis is bio-oil. The fermentation product of algae is ethanol, that can be used as a direct fuel or as a gasohol. Hydrogen can be obtained from the photobiological process of algal biomass. In transesterification process, algae oil is converted into biodiesel, which is quite similar to those of conventional diesel and it can be blended with the petroleum diesel. This study, also reviewed the production of high value byproducts from macroalgae and microalgae and their commercial applications. Algae as a potential renewable resource is not only used for biofuels but also for human health, animal and aquatic nutrition, environmental applications such as CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation, wastewater treatment, biofertilizer, highvalue compounds, synthesis of pigments and stable isotope biochemicals. This review is mainly an attempt, to investigate the biorefinery concept applied on the algal technology, for the synthesis of novel bioproducts to improve the algal biofuels as even more diversified and economically competitive.

The employment of a high-value, co-product strategy through the integrated biorefinery approach is expected to significantly enhance the overall commercial implementation of the biofuel from the algal technology.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introd	luction	910
	1.1.	Biofuels scenario	910
	1.2.	First generation biofuels	910
	1.3.	Second generation biofuels	911
	1.4.	Algae: renewable feedstock for biofuels	911
	1.5.	Enhancement of economic feasibility of biofuels from algae	911
		1.5.1. Biorefinery approach: the high-value co-product strategy	. 913
	1.6.	Algae: potential raw materials for commercial applications	913
2.	Biolog	y of algae	914
	2.1.	Macroalgae	914
	2.2.	Microalgae	914
	2.3.	Biochemical composition of algae	914

\* Corresponding authors. Tel.: +60 123076741; fax: +60 3 79675317. *E-mail addresses:* sugibiotech@gmail.com (T. Suganya), mv7\_98@yahoo.com (M. Varman).

3.	Algal	biofuels.		914				
	3.1.	Conver	sion technologies for algal biofuels	916				
		3.1.1.	Thermochemical conversion	916				
		3.1.2.	Biochemical conversion	919				
4.	Biofu	el produc	tion and environmental pollution control using algae: integrated approaches	923				
	4.1.	Bio-mitigation of CO <sub>2</sub> emission in algal cultivation						
	4.2.	Co-pro	cessing of wastewater treatment and microalgae farming	923				
5.	Comm	nercial a <sub>l</sub>	oplication of algae	924				
	5.1.	Comme	ercial applications of microalgae	924				
		5.1.1.	Microalgae in human and animal nutrition	924				
		5.1.2.	Bioactive compounds	927				
		5.1.3.	Fluorescent pigment	928				
		5.1.4.	Stable-isotope biochemicals	929				
		5.1.5.	Drug screening	930				
		5.1.6.	Microalgal recombinant proteins	931				
		5.1.7.	Microalgae in cosmetics	931				
		5.1.8.	Microalgae role as biofertilizer	931				
	5.2.	Comme	ercial applications of macroalgae	931				
		5.2.1.	Foods from macroalgae	931				
		5.2.2.	Industrial products from macroalgae	932				
		5.2.3.	Phenolic compounds	933				
		5.2.4.	Macroalgae as a meal and biofertilizer	934				
6.	Concl	lusions		934				
Ack	nowle	dgments.		934				
Ref	erences	s		934				

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Biofuels scenario

In this twenty first century, a major research emphasis is given to the development of petroleum, coal and natural gas based refinery to exploit the less expensive fossil feedstocks. These feedstocks are used in industry to produce multiple products such as fuel, fine chemicals, pharmaceuticals, detergents, synthetic fiber, plastics, pesticides, fertilizers, lubricants, solvent, waxes, coke, asphalt, etc. to meet the growing demand of the population [1,2]. Currently, the fossil resources are not regarded as sustainable and questionable from the economic, ecology and environmental point of views [3].

The burning of fossil fuels is a big contributor to increase the level of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere, which is directly associated with the global warming observed in very recent decades [4]. The adverse effects of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions on the environment, together with declining petroleum reserves, have been realized. Therefore, the quest for sustainable and environmentally benign sources of energy for our industrial economies and consumer societies has become urgent in the recent years [5].

In order to reduce the carbon emissions and the dwindling reserves of crude oil, liquid fuels derived from plant material biofuels – are an attractive source of energy [6]. Thus, the only possible solution to this crisis is to find a sustainable (renewable) and economically feasible source of alternative energy [7]. There are many alternative energy sources such as wind, solar, geothermal and biomass which fulfill the first criterion (sustainability). However, a few of these can fulfill the second criterion (economic feasibility). The best option, to fulfill both the above criteria, is biofuel, particularly that is made from a readily available biomass feedstock [8-10]. Biofuels are liquid or gaseous fuels for the transport sector that are predominantly produced from a variety of bio-feedstocks. Bio-feedstocks or biomass refers to all the vegetable matter that can be obtained from photosynthesis. They are renewable, sustainable, biodegradable, carbon neutral for the whole life cycle and environmentally friendly; they encourage

green industries and agriculture and are applicable as motor fuels, without or with slight engine modifications. The great versatility of biomass as a feedstock is evident from the range of materials that can be converted into various solid, liquid and gaseous fuels using biological and thermochemical conversion processes [7].

Several biofuels, including bio-ethanol, -methanol, -diesel and -hydrogen, appear to be attractive options for the future of transport sector. The production of biofuels is expected to rise steadily in the next few decades [11]. Biomass energy is the largest renewable energy source, representing 10.4% of the world's total primary energy supply or 77.4% of global renewable energy supply [12]. At present, several countries such Brazil, the United States, Germany, Australia, Italy and Austria are already using biofuels such as bioethanol and biodiesel. It is expected that, this trend will continue to grow and more countries will use biofuels [13,14]. Global biofuel production has tripled from 4.8 billion gallons in 2000 to about 16 billion in 2007, but still accounts fall less than 3% for the global transportation fuel supply, according to US Department of Agriculture report [15].

#### 1.2. First generation biofuels

'First generation' biofuels can offer some CO<sub>2</sub> benefits and can help to improve domestic energy security. However, a concern exists about the sourcing of feedstocks, including the impact, it may have on biodiversity and land use and competition with food crops. A 'first generation' biofuel (i.e. biodiesel (bioesters), bioethanol and biogas) is characterized either by its ability to be blended with petroleum-based fuels, combusted in existing internal combustion engines and distributed through existing infrastructure, or by the use in existing alternative vehicle technology like FFVs ("Flexible Fuel Vehicle") or natural gas vehicles [16]. The production of first generation biofuels is commercial today, with almost 50 billion liters produced annually. There are also other niche biofuels, such as biogas which have been derived by an anaerobic treatment of manure and other biomass materials. However, the volumes of biogas used for transportation are relatively smaller today [4].

However, the first generation biofuels seems to create some skepticism to scientists. There are concerns about environmental impacts and carbon balances, which sets limits in the increasing production of biofuels of first generation (Table 1). The main disadvantage of first generation biofuels is the food-versus-fuel dispute, one of the reasons for rising food prices is due to the increase in the production of these fuels [17]. Therefore, for the abatement of GHG, it is recommended to have more efficient alternatives based on both renewable and conventional technologies [18].

The sustainable and economic production of first generation biofuels has however come under scrutiny. Their potential to meet liquid transport fuel targets is being set by the government to help in achieving the goals of oil-product substitution, economic growth and climate change mitigation, which are limited by [19]:

- Competition for land and water used for food and fiber production [20,21];
- High production and processing costs that often require government subsidies in order to compete with petroleum products [22];
- 3. Widely varying assessments of the net greenhouse gas (GHG) reductions once land-use change is taken into account [23];

Therefore, lignocellulosic feedstock can offer the potential to provide novel biofuels, the biofuels of the 'second generation' [24].

#### 1.3. Second generation biofuels

Second generation biofuels produced from 'plant biomass' refer largely to lignocellulosic materials, as these make up the majority of the cheap and abundant nonfood materials available from plants. However, at present, the production of such fuels is not cost effective because there are a number of technical barriers that need to be overcome before their potential can be realized [18]. Plant biomass represents one of the most abundant and underutilized biological resources on the planet and is seen as a promising source of material for fuels and raw materials. At its most basic, plant biomass can simply be burned in order to produce heat and electricity. However, there is a great potential in the use of plant biomass to produce liquid biofuels. However, biofuel production from agricultural by-products could only satisfy a proportion of the increasing demand for liquid fuels. This has generated a great interest in making use of dedicated biomass crops as feedstock for biofuel production [25]. Therefore, it is anticipated that, these second generation biofuels could significantly reduce CO<sub>2</sub> production, do not compete with food crops and some types can offer better engine performance (Table 1).

When commercialized, the cost of second generation biofuels has the potential to be more comparable with standard petrol, diesel and would be a cost effective route to renewable, low carbon energy for road transport [4].

#### 1.4. Algae: renewable feedstock for biofuels

Algae are responsible for over 50% of primary photosynthetic productivity on earth and are budding sunlight factories for a wide range of potentially useful products, but are rarely used for commercial purposes [26–29].

Several biofuel candidates were proposed to displace fossil fuels, in order to eliminate the vulnerability of energy sector. Biodiesel and bioethanol produced from terrestrial plants have attracted the attention of the world as potential substitutes. The availability of crops that serve as source for biofuel production is limited [30]. However, due to "food versus fuel" competition as well as land consumption of these biofuels, they have brought much controversy and debate on their sustainability [31]. Therefore, it is necessary to find new feedstock, suitable for biofuel production, which does not drain the edible feedstock supply. One alternative to the conventional crop is algae. Third generation technology is based on algae or cyanobacteria that contain a high oil mass fraction grown in ponds.

Biofuel production from algae is widely considered as one of the most efficient methods. They appear to represent the recent renewable source of biofuels that could meet the global demand for transport fuels [32]. Algae represent an economically and environmentally sustainable, renewable source of biomass for the production of biofuels [33]. Algae are simple aquatic organisms that photosynthesize, but there are an estimated approximately 300,000 species, whose diversity is much greater than that of the land plants [6].

Algae can convert almost all of the energy in biomass residuals and wastes to methane and hydrogen. Certain algae and cyanobacteria have high lipid contents [34]. Algae can be cultivated in farms absorbing  $CO_2$  from the air. They contain oils that can be used as raw material for biodiesel production [35]. Algae also contain carbohydrates, which can be converted into bioethanol. They have the advantage that, they do not conflict with food production (Table 1). In addition, they have the potential to cover the global demand for transportation fuels [30].

Algae's potential as a feedstock is dramatically growing in the biofuel market. Algae have many desirable attributes as energy producers [36–38]:

- 1. Algae is the most promising non-food source of biofuels,
- 2. Algae has a simple cellular structure,
- Algae contain lipid-rich composition (40–80% in dry weight). Microalgae produce 15–300 times more lipid for biodiesel production than the traditional crops, which do on an area basis [39]. Their lipid content could be adjusted through changing growth medium composition [40].
- 4. A rapid reproduction rate and high growth rate; e.g., doubling in 24 h [41]. They could be harvested more than once in a year [42].
- 5. Salty or wastewater could be used [42].
- 6. Atmospheric carbon dioxide is the carbon source for the growth of microalgae [42].
- 7. Algae biofuel contains no sulfur, is non-toxic and highly biodegradable [42].

From a practical point of view, they are easy to be cultivated, can grow with slight or even no attention, using water, which is unsuitable for human consumption and effortless to obtain nutrient [43].

#### 1.5. Enhancement of economic feasibility of biofuels from algae

Algae can be used as a feedstock for biofuel production and also play a major role to control environmental pollution and provides plenty of nutritional supplements. Potential of algae for other purposes are as follows:

- Removal of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) from industrial flue gases by algae bio-fixation [44], reducing the GHG emissions of a company or process while producing biodiesel. High purity CO<sub>2</sub> gas is not required for algae culture. It is possible that flue gas containing 2–5% CO<sub>2</sub> can be fed directly. This will simplify CO<sub>2</sub> separation from flue gas significantly [45].
- Wastewater treatment by utilizing water contaminants such as NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> can be effectively used as nutrients for microalgae [43–45].
- Oil extracted algal biomass (after oil extraction from algal biomass) can be used to produce ethanol, methane or simply burned for energy co-generation (electricity and heat). It can

Comparison of three-generation biofuels with petroleum products.

	Petroleum products	First generation	Second generation	Third generation
Technology	Petroleum refinery	Microbial fermentation, chemical and enzymatic transesterification	Pretreatment, hydrolysis and fermentation, transesterification	Metabolic engineering for direct synthesis, fractionation of algal biomass
Feedstocks	Crude petroleum	Vegetable oils and corn sugar feedstocks	Non food, cheap and abundant plant waste biomass (Agricultural and forest residue, etc)	Algae
Products	CNG,LPG, diesel, petrol, kerosene and jet fuel	Biodiesel, corn ethanol, sugar alcohol	Hydrotreating oil, bio oil, FT oil, lignocellulose ethanol, butanol, mixed alcohols	Biodiesel, bioethanol, biohydrogen, biomethane
Benefits	1. High energy density: highly compact portable source of energy used for most forms of mechanical transportation	<ol> <li>Environmental friendly</li> <li>Economic and social security</li> </ol>	Environmental friendlyNot competing with foodAdvance technology still under development to reduce the cost	<ol> <li>Environmental friendly</li> <li>Not competing with food and Agricultural land</li> <li>Oil productivity is very high when com- pared with all other biomass</li> <li>Algae is the most promising non-food source of biofuels</li> <li>Algae has a simple cellular structure</li> <li>Lipid-rich composition (40–80% in dry weight)</li> <li>A rapid reproduction rate</li> <li>Algae can grow in salt water and harsh conditions</li> <li>Algae thrive on carbon dioxide from gas- and coal-fired power plants</li> <li>Algae biofuel contains no sulfur, is non- toxic and highly biodegradable</li> </ol>
Problems	<ol> <li>Depletion/</li> <li>Declining of petroleum reserve</li> <li>Environmental pollution</li> <li>Economic and ecological problems</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Limited Feedstocks</li> <li>Food vs. fuel competition</li> <li>Blended partially with conventional fuel</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Agricultural land consumption</li> <li>Complicated processes</li> </ol>	1. Low product yield at large scale 2. Less biomass production

also serve as a livestock feed, used as organic fertilizer due to its high N:P ratio [43,44].

- Combined with their potential to grow under undefined conditions and their limited nutritional requirement, they can be grown in areas which are unsuitable for agricultural purposes, independent of the seasonal weather changes, thus, not competing for arable land use and make use of wastewater as the culture medium, without the need for freshwater [43].
- Algae's high value commercial products could offset the capital and the operation costs of the process. Products are: (a) mineralized carbon for stable sequestration; and (b) compounds of highly commercial value. By selecting appropriate algae species, either one or both can be produced. Depending on the type of algae species, high value bio-active compounds can also be extracted, including a large range of fine chemicals and bulk products, such as fats, polyunsaturated fatty acids, oil, natural dyes, sugars, pigments, antioxidants and other fine chemicals and biomass [46,47].
- Because of this variety of high-value biological derivatives, with many possible commercial applications, algae can potentially revolutionize a large number of biotechnology areas including biofuels, nutrition and food additives, cosmetics, aquaculture, pharmaceuticals and prevention of environmental pollution [43,47].

#### 1.5.1. Biorefinery approach: the high-value co-product strategy

The term "biorefinery" was coined to describe the production of biofuels as well as high value co-products from biomasses by the integration of bioprocessing and appropriate low environmental impacting chemical technologies in a cost-effective and environmentally sustainable manner [39]. Algae biorefinery approach is represented in Fig. 1 [16].

Both macroalgae and microalgae have the capacity to produce vast array of high-value bioactive compounds that can be used as pharmaceutical compounds, health foods and natural pigments [48]. Significant examples includes: Alginates, Carrageenans, Agars, Agarose [49], acetylic acids,  $\beta$ -carotene [50,51], vitamin B [52], ketocarotenoid astaxanthin [53], polyunsaturated fatty acids [54] and lutein [51,55]. The economical feasibility of algal biofuel production should be significantly enhanced by a high-value co-product strategy. This strategy involves sequentially, the cultivation of algae with an algal farming facility (CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation, wastewater treatment), extracting bioreactive products from harvested algal biomass, thermal processing (pyrolysis, liquefaction, or gasification), extracting high-value chemicals from the resulting liquid, vapor and/or solid phases and reforming/ upgrading biofuels for different applications.

In the year 2010, Naik et al. [16] discussed the integral utilization of these feedstocks for the production of value added chemicals and biofuels. They also reviewed the cost reduction technologies and the processes to convert biomass into useful liquid biofuels and bioproducts.

In accordance with the current review, Brennan and Owende [56] premeditated the technologies underpinning microalgae-tobiofuels systems, focusing on the biomass production, harvesting, conversion technologies and the extraction of useful co-products. The study also includes the synergistic coupling of microalgae propagation with the potential for mitigation of environmental impacts associated with energy conversion and utilization.

#### 1.6. Algae: potential raw materials for commercial applications

Algae have a great potential to produce a wide range of important biochemicals for food, medical research and other uses and many exciting and important biochemicals are yet to be discovered from microalgae [27,29,47,57–60]

Apart from biofuel production algae will serve as a potential renewable source for the following commercial applications [61]: *i*.



Fig. 1. Biorefinery approach for algal feedstock.

Environmental applications such as wastewater treatment and  $CO_2$  mitigation; *ii*. Human nutrition; *iii*. Animal and aquatic feed; *iv*. Cosmetics product production; *v*. High-value molecules such as fatty acids; *vi*. Pigments synthesis such as  $\beta$ -carotene, astaxanthin, phycobiliproteins; *vii*. Stable isotope biochemicals; *viii*. Biofertilizer; *ix*. Drug synthesis for antimicrobial, antiviral, antibacterial and anticancer (Fig. 1).

Algae have three fundamental attributes that can be converted into technical and commercial advantages [57]:

- (1) They are genetically a very diverse group of organisms with a wide range of physiological and biochemical characteristics; thus they naturally produce many different and unusual fats, sugars, bioactive compounds, etc.
- (2) They can cost-effectively incorporate the stable isotopes <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>15</sup>N and <sup>2</sup>H into their biomass and thus into the various compounds they produce.
- (3) They comprise a large, unexplored group of organisms and thus provide a virtually untapped source of products.

Limited reports were established for the production of biofuels from macroalgae and the commercial applications of both macroalgae and microalgae. Therefore, this deficient endeavor is taken as a main objective for this review.

This review focuses on possibilities of different types of biofuel such as bio-diesel, -ethanol, -hydrogen, -methane, -propane production from both macroalgae and microalgae and the production technologies are briefly discussed. Furthermore, this review furnishes the outline of "biorefinery concepts" to enhance the economic feasibility of biofuels from algae combined with high value co-product strategy. Commercial value assessment of macroalgae and microalgae are elaborated in detail.

This discussion aims to highlight the potential of algae, both macroalgae and microalgae for biofuel production and synthesis of novel high value compounds in commercial echelon, so as to improve the mortal life of algae. Therefore, in the first part, biology of algae and biochemical composition of macro- and micro-algae are presented. Then the conversion technologies for algal biomass into biofuels and integrated approaches of biofuel production with environmental pollution control are described in detail. Finally, commercial applications of microalgae and macroalgae are elaborated.

#### 2. Biology of algae

Algae are photosynthetic aquatic organisms. The term "algae" refers to a polyphyletic, artificial assemblage of organisms [62]. The term is often used to refer specifically to eukaryotic organisms, thus excluding photosynthetic bacteria (such as cyanobacteria, which are also referred to as 'blue-green algae'). They may be unicellular (microalgae) or multicellular (macroalgae). The latter category includes seaweeds. The algae are very diverse in evolutionary terms. With over 40,000 species already identified and with many more yet to be identified, algae are classified in to multiple major groupings as follows: cyanobacteria (Cyanophyceae), green algae (Chlorophyceae), diatoms (Bacillariophyceae), yellow-green algae (Xanthophyceae), golden algae (Chrysophyceae), red algae (Rhodophyceae), brown algae (Phaeophyceae), dinoflagellates (Dinophyceae) and 'pico-plankton' (Prasinophyceae and Eustigmatophyceae). Algae are made up of eukaryotic cells. These are cells with nuclei and organelles. All algae have plastids, the bodies with chlorophyll that carry out photosynthesis. However, the various strains of algae have different combinations of chlorophyll (chl) molecules (Table 2). Some have only chl A, some A and B, while other strains, A, C and D [63].

#### 2.1. Macroalgae

Macroalgae or seaweed is a macroscopic, multicellular, marine algae that lives near the seabed (benthic) [64]. The term includes some members of the red, brown and green algae. A seaweed may belong to one of the several groups of multicellular algae: the red algae, green algae and brown algae. As these three groups are not thought to have a common multicellular ancestor, the seaweeds are a polyphyletic group. In addition, some tuft-forming bluegreen algae (cyanobacteria) are sometimes considered to be seaweeds. Seaweeds' appearance resembles non-arboreal terrestrial plants.

Macroalgae contain the following parts:

- Thallus: the algal body
  - Lamina or Blade: a flattened structure that is somewhat leaflike
- 1. Sorus: a spore cluster
- 2. On Fucus, air bladder: a floatation-assisting organ on the blade
- 3. On kelp, float: a floatation-assisting organ between the lamina and stipe

Stipe: a stem-like structure, may be absent

Holdfast: a specialized basal structure providing attachment to a surface, often a rock or another alga

Haptera: a finger-like extension of the holdfast anchoring to a benthic substrate

The stipe and blade are collectively known as the frond.

#### 2.2. Microalgae

Microphytes or microalgae are microscopic algae, typically found in freshwater and marine systems [6]. They are unicellular species, which exist individually, or in chains or groups. Depending on the species, their sizes can range from a few micrometers ( $\mu$ m) to a few hundreds of micrometers. Unlike higher plants, microalgae do not have roots, stems and leaves. Microalgae, capable of performing photosynthesis, are important for life on earth; they produce approximately half of the atmospheric oxygen and simultaneously use the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide to grow photo autotrophically.

The biodiversity of microalgae is enormous and they represent an almost untapped resource. It has been estimated that about 20,000–800,000 species exist of which about 40–50,000 species are described [65,66].

#### 2.3. Biochemical composition of algae

Algal biomass contains three main components: proteins, carbohydrates and lipid. The chemical compositions of various microand macro-algae are shown in Table 3 [57,67]. While the percentages vary with the types of algae, which comprise upto 40% of their overall mass of fatty acids [57,68]. This fatty acids (oil) can be extracted and converted into biodiesel.

#### 3. Algal biofuels

Diverse varieties of biofuels such as bio-oil, -diesel, -ethanol, -methane, -hydrogen, syngas and charcoal can be derived from algal biomass using multidisciplinary conversion technology. The following section of possible conversion process and end products are presented briefly. Properties of major algal taxonomic groups.

S. no.	Taxonomic group	Nuc	Chlorophyll	Carotenoids	Bilo proteins	Storage products	Flagellation & cell structure
1.	Bacillariophyta (Diatoms)	Eu	a,c	$\beta$ -Carotenefucoxanthin.	No	Chrysolaminarin, oils	1 Apical flagellum in male gametes: cell in two halves with elaborate markings.
2.	Chloro phycophyta (green algae)	Eu	a,b	$\beta$ -Carotene, rarely lycopene, lutein.	No	Amylose (starch), oils	1, 2, 4 to many, equal, apical or subapical flagella.
3.	Chrysophycophyta (golden algae)	Eu	a,c	$\beta$ -Carotene, fucoxanthin	No	Chrysolaminarin, oils	1 or 2 unequal, apical flagella, in some, cell surface covered by characteristic scales.
4.	Cyanobacteria (blue green algae)	Pro	a,c	β-Carotene, phycobilins	Phycoerythrin, phycobilins	Glycogen	Non-flagellated forms
5.	Phaeco phycophyta (brown algae)	Eu	a,c	$\beta$ -Carotene, fucoxanthin, violaxanthin	No	Laminarin, soluble carbo- hydrates, oils	2 Lateral flagella
6.	Dinophyta (Dinoflagellates)	Meso	a,c	β-Carotene, peridinin, neoperididnin dinox- anthin, neodinoxanthin.	No	Starch, oils	2 Lateral, 1 trailing,1 girdling flagellum, in most, there is a longitudinal and transverse furrow and angular plates.
7.	Rhodo phycophyta (red algae)	Eu	a, rarely d	$\beta$ -Carotene, zeaxanthin	Phycoerythrin, Phycocyanin	Floridean starch Oils, Glycogen	Flagella absent
8.	Euglenoids	Meso	a,b	Phytoene, phytofluene, c-carotene, 8-zeacar- otene, and f-carotene	No	Paramylon	Euglenoids have two flagella rooted in basal bodies located in a small reservoir at the front of the cell. In Euglena, one fla- gellum is very short, and does not protrude from the cell, while the other is relatively long, and often easily visible with light microscopy.
9	Cryptophyta	Eu	a,c <sub>2</sub>	Alloxanthin	Phycoerythrin	Amylose	Two slightly unequal flagella
10	Haptophyta	Eu	a,c <sub>1</sub> ,c <sub>2</sub>	Hexanoyloxyfucoxanthin, fucoxanthin, and zeaxanthin	No	Chrysolaminarin	Two slightly unequal flagella
11	Xanthophyta (yellow green algae)	Eu	a,c	$\beta$ -Carotene, diadinoxanthin	No	Chrysolaminarin	1 Flagella
12	Raphidiophyta (Chloromonads)	Eu	a,c	$\beta\mathchar`-$ Carotene, diadinoxanthin zeaxanthin, violaxanthin and an auroxanthin	No	Oils	Pair of flagella

Nuc=nuclear characteristics (Prokaryote, Mesokaryote, or Eukaryote).

#### Table 3

Biochemical composition of macroalgae and microalgae expressed on a dry matter basis (% dry weight) [57,67].

Algae	Protein	Carbohydrates	Lipid
Macroalgae			
Hypnea valentiae	11.8-12.6	11.8-13.0	9.6-11.6
Acanthophora spicifera	12.0-13.2	11.6-13.2	10.0-12.0
Laurencia papillosa	11.8-12.9	12.0-13.3	8.9-10.8
Ulva lactuca	11.4-12.6	11.6-13.2	9.6-11.4
Caulerpa racemosa	11.8-12.5	16.0	9.0-10.5
Ulva reticulate	12.83	16.88	8.50
Enteromorpha compressa	7.26	24.75	11.45
Chaetomorpha aerea	10.13	31.50	8.50
Chaetomorpha antennina	10.13	27.00	11.45
Chaetomorpha linoides	9.45	27.00	12.00
Cladophora fascicularis	15.53	49.50	15.70
Microdictyon agardhianum	20.93	27.00	9.40
Boergesenia forbesii	7.43	21.38	11.42
Valoniopsis pachvnema	8.78	31.50	9.09
Dictvosphaeria cavernosa	6.00	42.75	10.51
Caulerpa cupressoides	7.43	51.75	10.97
Caulerpa peltata	6.41	45.00	11.42
Caulerpa laetevirens	8.78	56.25	8.80
Caulerpa racemosa	8.78	33.75	10.63
Caulerpa fergusonii	7.76	23.63	7.15
Caulerpa sertularioides	9.11	49.50	6.99
Halimeda macroloba	5.40	32.63	9.89
Codium adhaerens	7.26	40.50	7.40
Codium decorticatum	6.08	50.63	9.00
Codium tomentosum	5.06	29.25	7.15
Microalgae			
Scenedesmus oblianus	50-56	10-17	12-14
Scenedesmus auadricauda	47	_	1.9
Scenedesmus dimorphus	8-18	21-52	16-40
Chlamvdomonas rheinhardii	48	17	21
Chlorella vulgaris	51-58	12-17	14-22
Chlorella pyrenoidosa	57	26	2
Spirogyra sp.	6-20	33-64	11-21
Dunaliella bioculata	49	4	8
Dunaliella salina	57	32	6
Euglena gracilis	39-61	14-18	14-20
Prymnesium parvum	28-45	25-33	22-39
Tetraselmis maculata	52	15	3
Pornhvridium cruentum	28-39	40-57	9-14
Spirulina platensis	46-63	8-14	4-9
Spirulina maxima	60-71	13-16	6-7
Synechoccus sp.	63	15	11
Anabaena cylindrica	43-56	25-30	4-7
-,			

#### 3.1. Conversion technologies for algal biofuels

The technically feasible conversion options for algal biomass and end-use of derived energy or energy carriers (liquid or gaseous fuels) are discussed in this section. The conversion of algal biomass-to-energy encompasses the different processes, which depend, to a large extent, on the types and sources of biomass, conservation options and endues [69]. The conversion technologies applied for algae biomass can be divided into two basic categories. They are thermochemical and biochemical conversion (Fig. 2) [16,70,71]. Factors that influence choice of conversion process include: the type and quantity of biomass feedstock; the desired form of the energy; economic consideration; project specific; and the desired end form of the product [72].

#### 3.1.1. Thermochemical conversion

Thermochemical conversion is the thermal decomposition of organic components in biomass to yield fuel products [70]. The thermochemical conversion process includes direct combustion, gasification, liquefaction and pyrolysis as shown in Fig. 2. When biomass is heated under oxygen deficient conditions, it generates synthesis gas, or syngas, which consists primarily of hydrogen and carbon monoxide. This syngas can be directly burned or further processed for other gaseous or liquid products. In this sense, thermal or chemical conversion of biomass is very similar to that of coal [73].

3.1.1.1. Direct combustion for energy production. Combustion is the chemical reaction between a fuel and oxygen which usually takes place in the presence of air and is more commonly known as burning. The products are carbon dioxide and water with the release of heat. Biomass is burnt in the presence of air to convert the stored chemical energy in biomass into hot gases [74]. Sulfur emissions (0.05–0.2 wt%) are much lower and the formation of particulate can be controlled at the source [75]. Combustion is usually performed in a furnace, a boiler, or a steam turbine at temperatures above 800 °C. It is possible to burn any type of biomass, but combustion is only feasible for biomass with moisture content < 50%, dry weight [69]. Net energy conversion efficiencies for biomass combustion power plants range from 20% to 40%, with higher efficiencies obtained in larger systems ( > 100 MW) or when biomass is co-combusted in coal fired power plants [72].

Only a very few reports are available for technically viable utilization of algal biomass in direct combustion in literature, but a life cycle assessment (LCA) of coal-algae co-firing [77] recommended that coal-algae co-firing could lead to lower GHG emissions and air pollution. Macroalgae species from the British Isles: *Fucus vesiculosus, Chorda filum, Laminaria digitata, Fucus serratus, Laminaria hyperborea* and *Macrocystis pyrifera* from South America, has been studied by Ross et al. [78]. They demonstrated macroalgae as fuel by investigating the combustion behaviors of macroalgae. Combustion behavior was investigated using TGA in an oxidizing atmosphere and pyrolysis products were analyzed by gas chromatography–mass spectrometer (GC–MS) [78].

3.1.1.2. Gasification for syngas production. Gasification is a term that describes a chemical process by which carbonaceous materials (hydrocarbon) are converted to combustible gas mixture or synthesis gas (syngas). It is a partial oxidation of biomass with air, oxygen and/or steam at high temperatures, typically in the range 800–1000 °C [79]. A flow diagram of algae system for fuel production by low temperature catalytic gasification of biomass is shown in Fig. 3 [70]. Syngas can be produced from biomass by two routes namely catalytic and non-catalytic gasification. Noncatalytic process requires a very high temperature for operation, of about 1300 °C, whereas catalytic process can be operated at significantly lower temperature. In advances, the temperature requirement is expected to go downward further from the current value of about 900 °C [73]. The gasification step involves the reaction of biomass with air, oxygen, or steam to produce a gaseous mixture of CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> either known as producer gas or syngas, depending on the relative proportions of the component gases [76,80]. Producer gas is primarily useful as a fuel for stationary power generation, whereas syngas is presently used to make a range of fuels and chemical intermediates. Syngas is a low calorific gas (typical 4–6 MJ m<sup>-3</sup>), that can be burnt directly or used as a fuel for gas engines or gas turbines [81]. For transportation fuels, the main syngas derived routes to fuels are as follows: 1. hydrogen by water-gas-shift reaction (WGS) [82] and 2. hydrocarbons by Fischer-Tropsch (F-T) synthesis or methanol synthesis followed by further reaction to produce hydrocarbon or oxygenated liquid fuels [83]. The WGS reaction uses CO, H<sub>2</sub>O to give H<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>. It can be used to upgrade producer gas to syngas by enriching the  $H_2$  content or to produce  $H_2$  as a product [16].

Several studies have been conducted on gasification characteristics of microalgae biomass. Hirano et al. [84] partially oxidized *Spirulina* at temperature ranging from 850 to 1000 °C and



Fig. 2. Potential algal biomass conversion processes modified from Naik et al. [16].



Fig. 3. Flow diagram of algal system for fuel production by gasification [70].

determined the gas composition required to generate theoretical yield of methanol. They estimated that algae biomass gasification at 1000 °C produced the highest theoretical yield of 0.64 g methanol from 1 g of biomass. Minowa and Sawayama [85] gasified the microalgae Chlorella vulgaris in a novel system with nitrogen cycling to obtain a methane-rich fuel. All nitrogen in the microalgae was converted into ammonia during the gasification, and the recovered solution, in which ammonia was dissolved, could be used as a nitrogen nutrient. A novel energy production system with nitrogen cycling combined with low temperature catalytic gasification of the algae has been reported [85]. Elliot and Sealock [86] have also developed a low temperature catalytic gasification of biomass with a high moisture content. Biomass with a high moisture is gasified directly to a methane rich fuel gas without drying. In addition, nitrogen in the biomass is converted to ammonia during the reaction [85].

The LCA study on utilization of macroalgae for enhanced  $CO_2$  fixation and biofuel production was performed by Aresta et al. [87]. They demonstrated that, there is a potential energy benefit

associated to recycle carbon by enhanced fixation of  $CO_2$  by macroalgae. In the best case considered so far, macroalgae can generate a net energy in the order of 11,000 MJ t<sup>-1</sup> dry algae compared to 9500 MJ t<sup>-1</sup> than a microalgae gasification can do.

3.1.1.3. Thermochemical liquefaction for liquid biofuel production. Thermochemical liquefaction is a process that can be employed to convert a wet algal biomass material into a liquid fuel [88]. Algal cell precipitates derived from centrifugation, which are of high moisture content, are thus good raw materials for liquefaction [89]. This process is a low-temperature (300–350 °C), highpressure (5–20 MPa) process aided by a catalyst in the presence of hydrogen to yield bio-oil [74]. Liquefaction usually produces water insoluble oils of high viscosity and usually requires solvents, reducing gases such as CO or H<sub>2</sub> and/or catalysts to be present in addition to biomass [80]. The liquefaction is performed in an aqueous solution of alkali glycerin, propanol, butanol or direct liquefaction [90] or alkaline earth salt at about 300 °C and 10 MPa without a reducing gas such as hydrogen and/or carbon monoxide [91]. The process utilizes the high water activity in sub-critical conditions to decompose biomass materials down to shorter and smaller molecular materials with a high energy density [88]. Alkali salts such as sodium carbonate and potassium carbonate, can act as catalyst for hydrolysis of macromolecules such as cellulose and hemicellulose into smaller fragments. The separation scheme is presented in Fig. 4 [89,91-93].

Many investigations were carried out on the characteristics of algal biomass as a feedstock (Table 4) [56]. Dote et al. [94] successfully used thermochemical liquefaction at 300 °C on *Botryococcus braunii* to achieve a maximum yield of 64% dry wt. based on oil with HHV of 45.9 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> and also declared a positive energy



Fig. 4. Thermochemical liquefaction algal cells [103].

balance for the process (output/input ratio of 6.67:1). In a similar study, an oil yield of 42% dry wt was obtained from *Dunaliella tertiolecta* giving a HHV of 34.9 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> and positive energy balance of 2.94:1 [91].

Zhou et al. [95] investigated the possibility of using macroalgae *Enteromorpha prolifera* for bio-oil production by hydrothermal liquefaction. Effects of the temperature, reaction time and alkali catalyst on product yields were studied and the characters of liquid and solid products were analyzed using multiple analysis methods, such as, elemental analysis, Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy, GC–MS and <sup>1</sup>H Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (<sup>1</sup>H NMR).

3.1.1.4. Pyrolysis for bio-oil production. Pyrolysis is a thermal degradation of biomass by heat in the absence of oxygen, which results in the production of charcoal (solid), bio-oil (liquid) and fuel gaseous products at medium to high temperatures (350–700 °C) [69,96] or by heating in the presence of a catalyst [97], at high heating rate  $(10^3-10^4 \text{ K/s})$  and with a short gas residence time to crack into short chain molecules and then being cooled to liquid rapidly [98]. The pyrolysis of biomass is targeted to recover a biofuel with a medium-low calorific power [90]. For biomass-to-liquid fuel conversion, it is deemed to have the potential for large scale production of biofuels that could replace petroleum based liquid fuel [2]. Table 5 outlines the characteristics and expected yields of different modes of pyrolysis [56,99].

Depending on the operating conditions, the pyrolysis process can be divided into three subclasses: (a) conventional pyrolysis, (b) fast pyrolysis and (c) flash pyrolysis [16].

3.1.1.4.1. Conventional pyrolysis. Conventional pyrolysis occurs under a slow heating rate (0.1-1 K/s) and residence time is 45–550 s. In the first stage of biomass decomposition which occurs in between 550 and 950 K is called pre-pyrolysis. During this stage, some internal rearrangement such as water elimination, bond breakage, appearance of free radicals, formation of carbonyl, carboxyl and hydroperoxide group take place [100]. The second stage of solid decomposition corresponds to the main pyrolysis process. It proceeds with a high rate and leads to the formation of pyrolysis products. During the third stage, the char decomposes at a very slow rate and it forms carbon rich solid residues.

3.1.1.4.2. Fast pyrolysis. It occurs in the high temperature range of 850–1250 K with fast heating rate (10–200 K/s), short solid residence

time (0.5-10 s) and fine particle ( < 1 mm). The fast pyrolysis is recommended for the production of liquid and/or gaseous products. In fast pyrolysis process, the biomass decomposes to generate vapors, aerosol and some charcoal like char. After cooling and condensation of vapors and aerosol a dark brown mobile liquid is formed that has heating value, that is half of that of conventional fuel oil. Fast pyrolysis produced 60–75% of bio-oil, 15–25% solid char and 10–20% noncondensed gases [100]. The advantage of fast pyrolysis is that, it can directly produce a liquid fuel [101].

3.1.1.4.3. Flash pyrolysis. It differs strongly from that of conventional pyrolysis, which is performed in the temperature range of 1050–1300 K, fast heating rate (> 1000 K/s), short residence time ( < 0.5 s) and very fine particle ( < 0.2 mm). Bio-oil production from biomass pyrolysis is typically carried out via flash pyrolysis [90]. The produced oil can be mixed with the char to produce bioslurry. Bioslurry can be more easily fed to the gasifier (gasifier condition: 26 bar; 927–1227 K) for efficient conversion to syngas. The conversion of biomass to crude oil can have an efficiency of up to 70-80% for flash pyrolysis process. The so called bio-crude can be used in engines and turbines [90,102]. A conceptual fluidized bed fast pyrolysis system is shown in Fig. 5 [101,103]. However, there are technical challenges as pyrolysis oils are acidic, unstable, viscous and contain solids and chemically dissolved water [104]. Therefore, the process oil will require upgrading hydrogenation and catalytic cracking to lower oxygen content and removes alkalis [76].

Since algae usually have high moisture content, a drying process requires much heating energy [92]. Algae are subjected to pyrolysis in the fluid bed reactor. The result of the reaction then flows to a cyclone and is separated into char, biofuel and gas. The resultant gas can be used for heating, for drying the raw material or for heating for the pyrolysis process [103].

Compared to other conversion technologies, research on pyrolysis of algal biomass is quite extensive and has achieved reliable and promising outcomes that could lead to commercial exploitation [56]. Miao and Wu [105] used fast pyrolysis to enhance oil yield from microalgae *Chlorella prothothecoides*. The recorded oil yield of 57.9% dry wt (HHV of 41 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>) and the results suggest that pyrolysis has potential in algal biomass-to liquid conversion. Miao et al. [98] achieved bio-oil yields of 18% (HHV of 30 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>) and 24% (HHV of 29 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>) with fast pyrolysis of *C. prothothecoides* and *Microcystis aeruginosa* grown phototrophically, respectively. Demirbas [106]

Conversion process	Microalgae	Production	Temp (°C)	Pressure (MPa)	Liquid content (% dry wt.)	HHV (MJ $kg^{-1}$ )	Gas Content (% dry wt)	Solid content (% dry wt)	Reference
Gasification	Spirulina	N/A	1000	0.101	1	I	64	1	[84]
Thermochemical liquefaction	Botryococcus braunii	N/A	300	3	64	45.9	1	1	[94]
Thermochemical liquefaction	Dunaliella tertiolecta	N/A	300	3	42	34.9	1	1	[63]
Pyrolysis	Chlorella prothothecoides	Heterotrophic	450	0.101	57.9	41	32	10.1	[105]
Pyrolysis	Chlorella prothothecoides	Phototrophic	450	0.101	16.6	30	1	1	[105]
Pyrolysis	Chlorella prothothecoides	Phototrophic	500	0.101	18	30	1	1	[96]
Pyrolysis	Chlorella prothothecoides	N/A	502	0.101	55.3	39.7	36.3	8.4	[106]
Pyrolysis	Microcystis aeruginosa	Phototrophic	500	0.101	24	29	I	1	[96]

Thermochemical conversion technologies applied on algal biomass [56]

Table 5	
Different modes of pyrolysis	[99].

Mode	Conditions	Liquid (%)	Char (%)	Gas (%)
Flash pyrolysis	Moderate temperature (500 °C), short hot vapor residence time (about 1 s)	75	2	13
Fast pyrolysis	Moderate temperature (500 °C), moderate hot vapor residence time (about 10– 20 s)	50	20	30
Slow pyrolysis	Low temperature (400 °C), very long solids residence time	30	35	35

experimenting with *C. prothothecoides*, showed that the bio-oil yield increased in line with temperature, that increased up to a point and then decreased at higher temperatures. For example, the yield rose from 5.7% to 55.3% with an increase from 254 to 502 °C and subsequently decreased to 51.8% at 602 °C. They recorded a HHV from microalgae of 39.7 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>obtained at temperatures ranging from 502 to 552 °C. Results indicate that bio-oils from microalgae (Table 6) are of a higher quality than those extracted from lignocellulosic materials [96,105].

Zhao et al. [107] carried out the production of bio-oil from marine macroalgae *E. prolifera* by thermochemical processing methods, such as, pyrolysis using free-fall Reactor. Rowbotham et al. [108] performed thermal pyrolysis to convert macroalgae *Laminaria digitata* into fuel and commodity chemicals.

3.1.1.5. Hydrogenation. Hydrogenation is a reductive chemical reaction, that results in an addition to hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>), usually to saturate organic compounds. The process consists of the addition of hydrogen atoms to the double bonds of a molecule by the use of a catalyst. Algal hydrogenation is performed by using an autoclave under high temperature and pressure conditions in the presence of a catalyst and a solvent [103]. Algal hydrogenation is a threephase operation in which contact must be established between the gaseous phase (hydrogen and hydrocarbon phase), liquid phase (mixture of solvent and liquid product) and solid particle phase (algal and catalyst) in order to achieve algal conversion and to promote the transfer of momentum, heat and mass [89,103]. In general, higher temperatures and longer reaction time increase the degree of conversion and decrease the asphaltene yield in the overall hydrogenation of algae. The oil yield and the degree of conversion increases proportionally with the maximum hydrogen pressure of about 8.2 MPa [103].

#### 3.1.2. Biochemical conversion

The biological process of energy conversion of biomass into fuels includes anaerobic digestion, alcoholic fermentation, photobiological hydrogen production, transestrification and in-situ transesterification [109].

3.1.2.1. Anaerobic digestion for biogas (methane) production. Anaerobic digestion (AD) is the conversion of organic wastes converted into a bio-gas, which consists of primarily methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and carbon dioxide, with traces of other gases such as hydrogen sulfide (Fig. 6) [16,110]. It involves the breakdown of organic matter, to produce a gas with an energy content of about 20–40% of the lower heating value of the biomass. Anaerobic digestion process is appropriate for high moisture content (80– 90% moisture) organic wastes [69], which can be useful for wet algal biomass. The AD process occurs in three sequential stages of hydrolysis, fermentation and methanogenesis. In hydrolysis, the complex compounds are broken down into soluble sugars. Then,



Fig. 5. Fast pyrolysis process principles [16].

#### Table 6

Comparison of typical properties of petroleum oil and bio-oils from fast pyrolysis of wood and microalgae [96,105].

Properties	Typical values				
	Bio-oils		Petroleum oil		
	Wood	Microalgae			
C (%)	56.4	62.07	83.0-87.0		
H (%)	6.2	8.76	10.0-14.0		
0 (%)	37.3	11.24	0.05-1.5		
N (%)	0.1	9.74	0.01-0.7		
Density $(\text{kg l}^{-1})$	1.2	1.06	0.75-1.0		
Viscosity (Pa s)	0.04–0.20 (at 40 °C)	0.10 (at 40 °C)	2-1000		
HHV (MJ $kg^{-1}$ )	21	29-45.9	42		

fermentative bacteria convert these into alcohols, acetic acid, volatile fatty acids (VFAs) and a gas containing H<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>, which is metabolized into primarily  $CH_4$  (60–70%) and  $CO_2$  (30–40%) by methanogens [111]. The gas has a heating value of 650–750 Btu/ft<sup>3</sup> [16]. It has been projected that, the conversion of algal biomass into methane could recover as much energy as obtained, from the extraction of cell lipids [112], while leaving a nutrient rich waste product, that can be recycled into a new algal growth medium [113,114]. Microalgae can have a high proportion of proteins, that result in low C/N ratios (ca. 10) which can affect the performance of the anaerobic digester. This problem may be resolved by codigestion with a high C/N ratio product (e.g. waste paper). Yen and Brune [115] achieved a significant increase in methane production with the addition of waste paper to algal biomass. They obtained double the methane production rate  $(1.17 \text{ ml l}^{-1} \text{ per day vs.})$ 0.57 ml  $l^{-1}$  per day) from 50/50 waste paper/algal biomass blend compared to anaerobic digestion of pure algal biomass. Due to increase in the cost of energy, the anaerobic digestion of biomass is an attractive, alternative for production of fuel and biofertilizer for organic cultivation [16].

3.1.2.2. Alcoholic fermentation for bioethanol production. The term fermentation can generally be defined as the metabolic process, in which, an organic substrate goes under chemical changes due to activities of enzymes, secreted by the micro-organisms. Alcoholic fermentation is the conversion of biomass materials, which contain sugars, starch or cellulose into ethanol [69]. The sugar is converted into ethanol by yeast. There are two basic types of fermentation, (a) aerobic and (b) anaerobic depending upon oxygen,

required in the process or not. Algal starch requires additional processing before fermentation [76].

Production of ethanol by using algae as raw material, can be performed, in the following procedure. The biomass is ground down and the starch is converted to sugars, which is then mixed with water and *Saccharomycess cerevisiae* yeast and kept warm in large tanks called fermenters to begin fermentation [76]. The yeast breaks down the sugar and converts it into ethanol as shown in Eq. (1) (Fig. 7).

$$\begin{array}{l} C_{6}H_{12}O_{6} \rightarrow 2C_{2}H_{5}OH + 2CO_{2} \\ MW \ (180) \ (2 \times 46) \ (2 \times 44) \end{array} \tag{1}$$

The ethanol is drained from the tank and pumped to a holding tank, to be fed to a distillation unit. A purification process (distillation) is required to remove the water and other impurities in the diluted alcohol product (10–15% ethanol) [69]. The concentrated ethanol (95% volume for one distillation) is drawn off and condensed into a liquid form, which can be used as a supplement or a substitute for petrol in cars [72,99]. The solid residue from the process can be used for animal feed or for gasification process [69]. This helps offset feedstock costs which typically make up 55–80% of the final alcohol selling price [56].

Microalgae such as *C. vulgaris* are a good source of ethanol, due to the high starch content (ca. 37% dry wt) and for which up to 65% ethanol conversion efficiency has been recorded [116]. Ueno et al. [117] investigated ethanol production by dark fermentation in the marine green alga *Chlorococcum littorale*. Under dark anaerobic conditions, 27% of the cellular starch was consumed within 24 h at 25 °C, the cellular starch decomposition being accelerated at higher temperature. Ethanol, acetate, hydrogen and carbon dioxide were obtained as fermentation products (Fig. 7) [103]. The maximum productivity of ethanol was 450  $\mu$ mol/g of dry weights at 30 °C.

3.1.2.3. Photobiological process for hydrogen production. Hydrogen  $(H_2)$  is a clean and an efficient energy carrier [79]. Algae possess the necessary genetic, metabolic and enzymatic characteristics to photo produce  $H_2$  gas [118]. Under anaerobic conditions hydrogen is produced from algae, as an electron donor in the CO<sub>2</sub> fixation process and is developed in both light and dark [119]. During photosynthesis, algae convert water molecules into hydrogen ions  $(H^+)$  and oxygen; the hydrogen ions are then subsequently converted by hydrogenase enzymes into  $H_2$  under anaerobic



Fig. 6. Anaerobic digestion of algal biomass.



Fig. 7. Fermentation process of algae feedstock [103].



Fig. 8. Acid catalyzed transesterification. (a) Reaction. (b) Mechanism [97,126].

conditions [111]. Due to reversibility in the nature of the reaction, hydrogen is either produced or consumed by the simple conversion of protons to hydrogen [79]. The photosynthetic oxygen produced, inhibits the key enzyme hydrogenase and the photosynthetic hydrogen production process is hindered [111,120–122]. Therefore, algae cultures for hydrogen production must be subjected to anaerobic conditions. There are two fundamental

approaches for photosynthetic  $H_2$  production from water. The first is the  $H_2$  production process, which is a two stage photosynthesis process, where photosynthetic oxygen production and  $H_2$  gas generation are spatially separated [118].

In the first stage, algae are grown photosynthetically in normal conditions. During the second stage, the algae are deprived of sulfur, thereby inducing anaerobic conditions and stimulating consistent hydrogen production [122]. This production process becomes limited with time, as hydrogen yield will begin to level off after 60 h of production. The use of this production system does not generate toxic or environmentally harmful products but could give value added products as a result of biomass cultivation [123].

The second approach involves the simultaneous production of photosynthetic oxygen and  $H_2$  gas. In this approach, electrons that are released upon photosynthetic  $H_2O$  oxidation are fed directly into the hydrogenase-mediated  $H_2$ -evolution process [118]. The  $H_2$  productivity is theoretically superior to the two-stage photosynthetic process. Melis and Happe [122] found that using the two-stage photosynthesis process and  $H_2$  production, a theoretical maximum yield of hydrogen by green algae could be about 198 kg  $H_2$  ha<sup>-1</sup> per day.

*3.1.2.4. Transesterification for biodiesel production.* Transesterification is a reaction, in which, the glycerol backbone of the triglycerides (TG) is replaced by methanol which esterifies fatty acids, the side chains of TG, into methyl esters (biodiesel). The general equation for

transesterification is shown in Fig. 9 [124]. Specifically, a TG molecule (primary compound in algal oils) reacts with a low molecular weight alcohol, yielding a mono alkyl ester and a byproduct glycerin, which is used in the pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries. The transesterification reaction proceeds in 3 steps: 1. TG reacts with methanol in the presence of a catalyst to produce diglycerides (DG) 2. DG reacts with methanol to generate monoglycerides (MG) 3. Finally, MG reacts with methanol to produce ME and glycerol. One mole of ME is generated from per mole of methanol reacted at each step, in all 3 mol of ME are produced [125]. The reactions are often catalyzed by an acid or a base (Figs. 8 and 9) [97], using a homogeneous or heterogeneous catalytic process [126]. This is the most predominant and significant method used to produce biodiesel for commercial scale.

Miao and Wu [32] performed transesterification reaction with *C. protothecoides* for the production of biodiesel. The best combination of factors was 100% catalyst quantity (based on oil weight) with 56:1 M ratio of methanol to oil at temperature of 30 °C. Biodiesel production efficiency of *C. vulgaris, Rhizoclonium hieroglyphicum* and mixed algae culture was measured by transesterification process.



Fig. 9. Base catalyzed transesterification. (a) Reaction. (b) Mechanism [97,124,126].

Yield of biodiesel from extracted algal oil was calculated as *C. vul-garis* (95%), *Rhizoclonium hieroglyphicum* (91%) and mixed algae culture (92%) [127]. Macroalgae *Caulerpa peltata, Enteromorpha compressa* was subjected to transesterification reaction for the production of biodiesel. Acid–base catalyzed transesterification was applied to this macroalgal biomass to convert algal oil into biodiesel [128,129].

3.1.2.5. Direct methanolysis for biodiesel production. Conventional method for the production of biodiesel from algae involves various stages; oil extraction, purification (degumming, deacidification, dewaxing, dephosphorization, dehvdration, etc.) and esterification/transesterification. The requirement of these multiple processing stages constitutes over 70% of the total production cost of biodiesel [130]. Therefore, development of direct methanolysis is also known as in-situ extraction, direct transesterification or simply as a reactive extraction that has the potential to cut down the processing cost. Reactive extraction differs from the conventional biodiesel production process in which the oil bearing material contacts with the alcohol directly instead of reacting with extracted oil. In other words, extraction and transesterification proceed in a single step, with alcohol acting as an extraction solvent and as a transesterification reagent [131]. Therefore, reactive extraction eliminates the requirement of two separate stages of biodiesel production processes, such as, costly oil extraction process and transesterification reaction process, thus reducing processing time, production cost, amount of solvent required and procedure of the production system [132].

Haas and Wagner [133] achieved 83% of maximum biodiesel yield from algal biomass through in-situ transesterification method at methanol/fatty acid molar ratio of 220:1, 65 °C reaction temperature for 2 h reaction time. Biodiesel was produced from *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* using in-situ transesterification process [134].

Suganya et al. [135] carried out an ultrasound-enhanced rapid in-situ transesterification of marine macroalgae *Enteromorpha compressa* for biodiesel production. The maximum biodiesel yield was calculated as 98.89% from this direct methanolysis process.

In the similar way, Amin [103] discussed the main conversion processes of microalgae into energy. Since microalgae have high water content, not all biomass energy conversion processes can be applied. The properties of the microalgae product are almost similar to those of offish and vegetable oils and therefore, it can be considered as a substitute of fossil oil.

# 4. Biofuel production and environmental pollution control using algae: integrated approaches

In last few decades, various researchers have worked on the use of seed oils, for the production of biofuels. Production of second generation fuels such as bioethanol and biodiesel from biomass grown on arable lands, specially the use of oil-seeds for biodiesel, have raised the food prices. Third generation biofuels from algal cells grown on non-arable land are the exact results of the foodfuel competition. Wastewater and flue gases are the best options for reducing the environmental burden from the cultivation of algal biomass [136].

#### 4.1. Bio-mitigation of CO<sub>2</sub> emission in algal cultivation

One of the key advantages of using microalgae for biofuel production lies in the ability of microalgal species to tolerate high  $CO_2$  content in feeding air streams [137]. It allows an efficient capturing of  $CO_2$  from high- $CO_2$  streams such as flue gases and flaring gases ( $CO_2$  content 5–15%) [138] in comparison with terrestrial plants, which typically absorb only 0.03–0.06%  $CO_2$  from

the atmosphere. The benefit of microalgae is evident in terms of CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation [46]. Microalgae can typically be used to capture CO<sub>2</sub> from three different sources: atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> emission from power plants and industrial processes and CO<sub>2</sub> from soluble carbonate. Capture of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> is probably the most basic mechanism, to sink carbon and relies on the mass transfer from the air to the microalgae in their aquatic growth environments during photosynthesis. Flue gas emission from an industrial process unit (e.g. from fuel-fired power plants) as a source of CO<sub>2</sub> for the microalgae growth is envisioned to have a great potential to diminish CO<sub>2</sub> and to provide a very promising alternative to current GHG emissions mitigation strategies. A number of microalgae species are able to assimilate CO<sub>2</sub> from soluble carbonates such as Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> and NaHCO<sub>3</sub> [44]. Zeiler et al. [139] demonstrated that, Monoruphidium minutum algae could efficiently utilize flue gas containing high levels of carbon dioxide, as well as sulfur and nitrogen oxides, as a feedstock to produce substantial biomass. The green algae Chlorophyta showed the ability to fix CO<sub>2</sub> while capturing solar energy with an efficiency of 10–50 times greater than that of terrestrial plants [44]. Chlorococcum littorale, a marine alga, showed remarkable tolerance to high CO<sub>2</sub> concentration of up to 40% [140]. Chlorella Strains from hot springs, also showed to be tolerant to high temperatures up to 42 °C, for CO<sub>2</sub> fixation from industrial flue gases containing up to 40% CO<sub>2</sub> [141].

Chang and Yang [137] found that certain species of Chlorella could grow in an atmosphere containing  $CO_2$  up to 40% (v/v). Doucha et al. [142] recorded 10-50% reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in flue gases using Chlorella sp., with the efficacy, decreasing with an increasing rate of flue gas injection into microalgae culture. de Morais and Costa [143], using Spirulina sp. obtained a maximum daily CO<sub>2</sub> biofixation of 53.29% for 6% (v/v) CO<sub>2</sub> and 45.61% for 12% (v/v) CO<sub>2</sub> in the injected flue gas, with the highest mean fixation rate being 37.9% for  $6\% (v/v) CO_2$ . They reported that the microalgae species, S. obliguus and C. kessleri are capable to grow in media containing up to 18% (v/v) CO<sub>2</sub>. They also achieved biofixation rates of 28.08% and 13.56% for 6% (v/v) and 12% (v/v) CO<sub>2</sub> respectively, using S. obliquus. Kadam [77] demonstrated the potential benefits of recycling CO<sub>2</sub> for microalgae biomass production through co-firing coal and microalgae to reduce the environmental impact of power generation. Their LCA results showed that co-firing reduced CO<sub>2</sub> and methane. Hence, GHG emissions through the recycling of microalgae biomass and the reduction in coal use, also registered lower net  $SO_x$  and  $NO_x$ particulates.

Comparison study was conducted by Yoo et al. [144] with three species of microalgae such as *B. braunii*, *C. vulgaris* and *Scene-desmus* sp. under flue gas conditions. From the study, it was found that *Scenedesmus* sp. were the most suitable for  $CO_2$  mitigation due to high rates of biomass production (0.218 g l<sup>-1</sup> per day). *B. braunii* and *Scenedesmus* sp. were found to grow better using flue gas as compared to air enhanced with  $CO_2$ .

At present, the high cost of biodiesel is the major obstacle for its commercialization [26]. Bio-mitigation of  $CO_2$  emissions provides a complementary function that may be exploited to reduce cost and to enable sustained utilization of microalgae as a biofuel resource [56].

#### 4.2. Co-processing of wastewater treatment and microalgae farming

Heterotrophic cultivation systems involving microalgae production and wastewater treatment (e.g. of amino acids, enzyme, or food industries wastewaters) seem to be quite promising for microalgae growth combined with environmental cleaning [43]. There is a unique opportunity to carry out co-processing of wastewater treatment and nutrients supplement to algae growth using nutrient-rich effluent streams (nitrogen and phosphorus). This leads to find a pathway for the removal of chemical and organic contaminants, heavy metals and pathogens from wastewater while producing biomass for biofuel production [145]. Wastewater treatment using algae has many advantages. It offers the feasibility to recycle these nutrients into algae biomass as a fertilizer and thus can offset treatment cost. Oxygen rich effluent is released into water bodies after wastewater treatment using algae [146]. Wastewater rich with CO<sub>2</sub> provides a conducive growth medium for microalgae because the CO<sub>2</sub> balances the Redfield ratio (molecular ratio of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in marine organic matter, C:N:P=106:16:1) of the wastewater allowing for faster production rates, reduced nutrient levels in the treated wastewater, decreased harvesting costs and increased lipid production [56,147]. Additionally, microalgae can mitigate the effects of sewage effluent and industrial sources of nitrogenous waste and at the same time, contributing to biodiversity. Moreover, removing nitrogen and carbon from water, microalgae can help to reduce the eutrophication in the aquatic environment [43].

Most of the used water turns into wastewater polluting the environment and creating health hazards. If 50% (495 billion m<sup>3</sup>) of this consumed water is available for algae production, it could generate about 247 million tons of algal biomass and about 37 million tons of oil. Yet the variations in the composition of wastewater limit such a notion, since only specific algae may perform to their potential [148]. Therefore, it is essential to select strains, capable of growing in variety of wastewaters and producing feedstock for biofuels that can compete in terms of land and water use, carbon sequestration and GHG emission savings, etc. Wastewater generated by carpet mills along with sewage from Dalton area in North Central Georgia (40–55 million m<sup>3</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>) has the potential to generate up to 15,000 t of algal biomass which can produce about 2.5-4 million L of biodiesel and remove about 1500 t of nitrogen and 150 t of phosphorus from the wastewater in one vear [148].

Several applications in wastewater treatment have been found in the literature. For example, Sawayama et al. [149] used B. braunii to remove nitrate and phosphate from sewage after primary treatment along with the production of hydrocarbon-rich biomass. Martinez et al. [150] achieved a significant removal of phosphorus and nitrogen from urban wastewater using the microalgal S. obliquus. They were able to achieve 98% elimination of phosphorus and a complete removal (100%) of ammonium in a stirred culture at 25 °C and 183 h retention time, respectively. Gomez-Villa et al. [151] experimented with outdoor cultivation of microalgal S. obliquus in artificial wastewater, achieved the final dissolved nitrogen concentrations which were 53% and 21% of initial values in winter and summer, respectively. Phosphorus, which was only removed during the day, achieved a total reduction of 45% in winter and 73% in summer [155]. Aslan and Kapdan [152] used C. vulgaris for nitrogen and phosphorus removal from wastewater with an average removal efficiency of 72% for nitrogen and 28% for phosphorus. Hodaifa et al. [153] recorded 67.4% reduction in BOD<sub>5</sub> with S. obliquus cultured in diluted (25%) industrial wastewater from olive-oil extraction.

Yun et al. [154] successfully grew *C. vulgaris* in wastewater discharge from a steel plant to achieve an ammonia bioremediation rate of  $0.022 \text{ g NH}_3 \text{ l}^{-1}$  per day. For the biodegradation of hazardous or toxic compounds, it is possible to use microalgae to generate the oxygen required by bacteria to biodegrade pollutants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

(PAHs), phenolics and organic solvents. Photosynthetic oxygen generated from the microalgae production reduces or eliminates the need for external mechanical aeration [145]. Chojnacka et al. [155] proved that *Spirulina* sp. acted as a bio-sorbent, thus was able to absorb heavy metal ions ( $Cr^{3+}$ ,  $Cd^{2+}$  and  $Cu^{2+}$ ).

Additionally, extensively used microalgae cultures for contaminants' removal from wastewater are *Chlorella* sp. [156,157], *Scenedesmus* sp.[150] and *Spirulina* sp. [158], *Nannochloris* [159], *B. brauinii* [160] and cyanobacterium *Phormidium bohneri* [161,162] and also their pollutants' removal have been reported.

#### 5. Commercial application of algae

Algae were promising organisms for providing both novel biologically active substances and essential compounds for human nutrition [163]. Therefore, an increasing supply for algal extracts, fractions or pure compounds for the economical sector was needed [164]. In this regard, both secondary and primary metabolites production from algal cells are shown in Fig. 10.

#### 5.1. Commercial applications of microalgae

Microalgae have three fundamental attributes that can be exploited to useful ends: They are (1) very diverse, (2) often phototrophic and (3) virtually unexplored. These attributes can provide significant technical and commercial advantages. Microalgae provide a large and untapped reservoir of potential new products and applications [58].

Table 9 indicates microalgae as a potential source, for high-value products in commercial scale level.

#### 5.1.1. Microalgae in human and animal nutrition

5.1.1.1. Human nutritional products. Nutritional supplements produced from microalgae have been the primary focus of microalgal biotechnology. Microalgae have been used for food by humans for thousands of years. Microalgae are observed as having a protein quality value, greater than other vegetable sources, for example, wheat, rice and legumes, but poorer than animal sources, for example, milk and meat [43]. Microalgae for human nutrition are now-a-days marketed in different forms, such as tablets, capsules and liquids. They can also be incorporated into pastas, snack foods, candy bars or gums and beverages [165,166]. Owing to their diverse chemical properties, they can act as a nutritional supplement or represent a source of natural food colorants [62,167,168]. The commercial applications are dominated by four strains: Arthrospira, *Chlorella, D. salina* and *Aphanizomenon* flos-aquae.

Dried biomass or cell extracts produced from *Chlorella* [165,169], *Dunaliella* [170] and *Spirulina* [171] have dominated the commercial opportunities. These products are directed mainly at the nutraceutical or health food market and are collectively worth many hundreds of million dollars [62].

*Chlorella* is sold as a health food or dietary supplement [172]. Health benefits of this microalgae are efficacy on gastric ulcers, wounds and constipation together with preventive action against both atherosclerosis and hyper-cholesterol and antitumor activity [57]. The most important active substance is b-1,3-glucan which is believed to be an active immune-stimulator, free radical scavenger and a reducer of blood lipids [61]. As affirmed by Barrow and Shahidi [173] Chlorella sp. presents several health benefits, when their extracts are ingested. For example, it can increase hemoglobin concentrations, lower blood sugar levels and act as hypocholesterolemic and hepatoprotective agents during malnutrition and ethionine intoxication. Polysaccharide complexes from C. pyrenoidosa and Chlorella ellipsoidea contain glucose and any combination of galactose, rhamnose, mannose, arabinose, N-acetyl glucosamide and N-acetyl galactosamine [173]. These complexes have immuno-modulating properties, specifically immune stimulatory activity and can inhibit the proliferation of *Listeria monocytogenes* and Candida albicans [43]. In addition, Chlorella extracts may be administered to mammals, to increase the proliferation of splenocytes and production of cytokines and can be used as a supplement to further stimulate their immune response [173].

Spirulina (Arthrospira) is used in human nutrition because of its high protein content and excellent nutrient value [49,59,174,175]. It is also a valuable source of the essential fatty acid (linolenic acid) that cannot be synthesized by humans [57]. In addition, this microalgae has various possible health-promoting effects: the alleviation of hyperlipidemia, suppression of hypertension, protection against renal failure, growth promotion of intestinal Lactobacillus and suppression of elevated serum glucose level [176]. Many companies are producing "nutraceuticals" (food supplements with claimed nutritional and medicinal benefits) made from Spirulina [61]. Spirulina has been exploited by ancient people in both Chad and Mexico as a source of food [28,177]. The market value of dried Spirulina was estimated to be US\$40 million in 2005 [60]. Spirulina sp. has been shown to increase the production of plaminogen-activating factor in vascular endothelial cells and thus facilitate cardiovascular disease prevention [173]. Additionally, several antioxidant compounds (e.g. dimethylsulfoniopropionate, mycosporines or mycosporinelike amino acids, b-carotene, astaxanthin and other carotenoids) have been isolated from microalgal sources, having the potential to protect against oxidative stress, cause a wide spectrum of diseases and ageing. A significant amount of Arthrospira production is realized in China and India.

There are health concerns over the ingestion of cyanobacteria (e.g. *Spirulina*). Cox et al. [178] studied over 50 strains of cyanobacteria and found that nearly all the strains produced the neurotoxin B-N-methylamino-L-alanine (BMAA). BMAA is linked to

amyptrophic lateral sclerosis–Parkinsonism dementia complex, Lou Gehrig's disease (ALS) and Alzheimer's disease.

**Dunaliella** sp. (especially *Dunaliella salina*) has become popular as a food grade green microalgae. In particular, due to their lipids and protein contents, glycerol concentration,  $\beta$ -carotene content (up to 4% of dry weight) and they have an exceptional ability to grow under brackish conditions [173]. *D. salina* is exploited for its  $\beta$ -carotene content that can reach 14% of dry weight [179]. For human consumption, Cognis Nutrition and Health, the world's largest producer of this strain, offers *Dunaliella* powder as an ingredient of dietary supplements and functional foods [59].

At present this microalgae is cultivated by several companies, in both Israel and Australia, as sources of vitamins A and C and as dietary supplements and powders [180]. Furthermore, it has been postulated that the carotenoids found in *Spirulina* sp. and *Dunaliella* sp. may be more potent anticancer agents than  $\beta$ -carotene [51,181].

The last major important commercial application strain is *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae*. According to many research studies, used alone or in combination with other nutraceuticals and natural food products, *A. flos-aquae* promotes overall good health [182–184].

#### 5.1.1.2. Animal nutrition

5.1.1.2.1. Aquaculture feeds. Aquaculture animals must obtain all their nutrients through the food chain. Algae are the basic producer in the food chain. The nutrient properties of the algae are critical for the growth and survival of larvae and adults. In a typical food chain, algae are consumed by zooplankton (rotifers, cladocerans, brine



Fig. 10. Secondary and primary metabolites produced from algal cell.

#### Table 7

Potential of microalgae as primary PUFA resources [56,59].

PUFA	Structure	Potential application	Algal species
γ-Linolenic acid (GLA)	18:3 ω6, 9, 12	Infant formulas for full-term infants, Nutritional supplements.	Arthrospira
Arachidonic acid (AA)	<b>20:4</b> ω6, 9, 12,15	Infant formulas for full-term/preterm infants, Nutritional supplements.	Porphyridium
Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA)	20: 5 ω3, 6, 9, 12, 15	Nutritional supplements, Aquaculture.	Nannochloropsis, Phaeodactylum, <i>Nitzschia</i>
Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA)	22: 6 ω3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18	Infant formulas for full-term/preterm infants, Nutritional supplements, Aquaculture.	Crypthecodinium, Schizochytrium

IdDle o		
Carotenoids	from	microalgae.

Molecule	Origin	Isomer	Price (US\$)	Principal producer
β-Carotene	Dunaliella	All <i>-trans</i> and 9-cis	300–3000/ kg	Cognis Nutrition and Health (Hutt Lagoon and Whyalla, Australia), Cyanotech (Kona, Hawaii, USA), Inner Mongolia Biological Eng. (Inner Mongolia, China), Nature Beta Technologies (Filat Israel), Tianiin Lantai Biotechnology (Tianiin, China)
Astaxanthin	Haematococcus	All-trans 3S, 3'S	2500/kg	Cyanotech (Kona, Hawaii, USA), Mera Pharmaceuticals (Kailua-Kona, Hawaii, USA), Bioreal (Kihei, Hawaii, USA), Parry's Pharmaceuticals (Chennai, India), Algatech (Kibbutz Ketura, Israel) Phaffia yeast 3 R, 3'R DSM (Heerlen, The Netherlands)

#### Table 9

High-value products from microalgae [59].

Product name	Price (US\$)	Distributor
R-phycoerythrin	3.25–14/mg	Cyanotech
Allophycocyanin	6–17/mg	Cyanotech
Streptavidin: B-phycoerythrin	145/mg	Martek
Goat anti-mouse IgG: R-phycoerythrin	165/mg	Martek
Sensilight PBXL1: Anti-GST	1500/mg	Martek
Mixed fatty acids	60/g	Spectra stable isotopes
<sup>13</sup> C-mixed free fatty acids	200/g	Spectra stable isotopes
<sup>13</sup> C-DHA ( > 95%)	38,000/g	Spectra stable isotopes
<sup>15</sup> N-alanine	260/g	Spectra stable isotopes
<sup>2</sup> H <sub>7</sub> , <sup>13</sup> C, <sup>15</sup> N <sub>4</sub> -arginine	5900/g	Spectra stable isotopes
dATP-CN	26,000/g	Spectra stable isotopes

shrimp or copepods), which in turn are consumed by fish larvae [180,185,186]. The algal species are commonly cultured for aquaculture feed, which include *Skeletonema*, *Chaetoceros*, *Isochrysis*, *Dunaliella*, *Phaeodactylum*, *Navicula*, *Pavlova*, *Amphora*, *Nannochloropsis*, *Cyclotella*, *Tetraselmis*, *Nitzschia and Chlorella* [187–189].

Isochrysis galbana and Tetraselmis suecica are considered the best food for larval bivalves, growing much better in unfiltered seawater to which these algae have been added. Drum-fried Scenedesmus can be used as Artemia food and Chlorella (marine, freshwater, or dried) is well suited for the rotifer Brachionus pli*catilis* cultivation [185]. The cost of producing dry algal biomass feed, in Australia, varies from US\$80/kg to US\$800/kg [57,59]. Other cost estimates have given costs between US\$50/kg to US \$150/kg with a peak value of US\$1000/kg [47]. In fact, 30% of the current world algal production is sold for animal feed applications [190] and over 50% of the current world production of Arthrospira is used as feed supplement [165]. In order to be used in aquaculture, a microalgal strain has to meet various criteria. It has to be easily cultured and nontoxic. It should also have the correct size and shape to be ingested and should have high nutritional qualities and a digestible cell wall to make nutrients available [191,192].

Although algae are an important part of any aquaculture facility, the reliability of the algal supply is a major problem in attaining a profitable operation [186]. If there is an interruption in the supply of algae, the entire food chain could be broken, resulting in loss of fish larvae and eventually decreased production of adult fish. This need for reliability to support zooplankton and larvae has led to a number of different designs for algal culturing systems, ranging from ponds to tanks and to sophisticated photo bioreactors [186,193–195]. Photo bioreactors are generally designed and constructed with input from engineers as well as biologists, so they can be very efficient in growing algae.

While microalgae provide food for zooplanktons, they also help to stabilize and improve the quality of the culture medium. Indeed, for numerous freshwater and seawater animal species, the introduction of phytoplanktons to rearing ponds (green-water technique) leads to much better results in terms of survival, growth and transformation index than that of the clear-water technique [196– 198]. The reasons for this are not entirely known, but may include [186,199] water quality improvement and stabilization by algal oxygen production and pH stabilization, the action of some excreted biochemical compounds along with the induction of behavioral processes like initial prey catching and the regulation of bacterial population have probiotic effects [200] and the stimulation of immunity [59].

Another challenge for aquaculture that is being addressed by phycologists is improvement of larval nutrition to achieve higher larval survival rates [201]. Given the substantial cost of maintaining the food chain for larvae, any increase in larval survival can have a significant impact on the economics of an aquaculture facility. Improving the nutritional properties of the rotifers and Artemia by feeding them more nutritionally balanced algae is a simple way to improve larval nutrition [202]. Protein content is a major factor determining the nutritional value of microalgae. In addition, highly unsaturated fatty acid (e.g., eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), arachidonic acid (AA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA)) content is of major importance [203]. Most of the researchers have focused on the importance of polyunsaturated fatty acids in larval growth and development [189,204,205]. In particular, DHA, EPA and more recently AA have been recognized as important nutrients for larvae [206,207]. Schizochytrium, Crypthecodinium and other algae that contain high levels of DHA have been used as a source of DHA for the aquaculture food chain [205,208]. Schizochytrium has been shown to enrich and boost the fatty acid and DHA content in rotifers and Artemia and to improve larval growth [205]. In addition, EPA is recognized as an important fatty acid in larval nutrition and the ratio of DHA/EPA is critical for larval development [201]. Recently, AA is also receiving attention as a potentially important nutrient for larval nutrition and it is possible that the ratio of these three fatty acids might be more important than their absolute levels [62,207]. Indeed, some fatty acids are essential for many marine animals [209] and similar requirements exist for the growth and metamorphosis of many larvae [190,210]. Microalgal vitamin content also has to be taken into account as it may be equally important [165,191].

Alterations in pigmentation can also be an important criteria for organisms grown in culture because they can affect commercial acceptability. Artificial diets typically lack the natural sources of pigments, that give organisms, such as, salmon, and trout their characteristic coloration. As a result, the carotenoid astaxanthin is used as a supplement feed [211]. In the natural food chain, algae are the primary source of astaxanthin and other pigments. For artificial diets, synthetic sources are commonly used because of reduced costs. The algae Hematococcus has been found to be an abundant producer of astaxanthin [212] and several companies have successfully commercialized Hematococcus as a source of natural astaxanthin for animal feeds [213,214]. In fact, microalgal astaxanthin has been approved in Japan and Canada as a pigment in salmonid feeds [215]. Feeds including 5% to 20% Arthrospira (rich in carotene pigments), which enhance the red and the yellow patterns in carp, while leaving a brilliant white color. This clarity and color definition increases their value (Resource center for Spirulina and microalgae; official web page, 2005 [216]). Another example is the traditional French technique called the greening of oysters. It consists of creating a blue-green color on the gills and labial palps of oysters using the diatom *Haslea ostrearia*. This increases the product's market value by 40% [199].

The main applications for algal biomass in aquaculture are: fish feed [180] including larval nutrition for molluscs or peneid shrimp [199]; coloring for farmed salmonids [199]; stabilization and improvement of quality of culture medium ('green-water' technique) [196]; inducement of essential biological activities in bred aquatic species [199] and enhancement of the immune systems of fish [217].

5.1.1.2.2. Animal feed (pets and farming). Many nutritional and toxicological evaluations have proved the suitability of algal biomass as feed supplements [146]. Arthrospira is largely used in this domain and concerns many types of animals: cats, dogs, aquarium fish, ornamental birds, horses, cows and breeding bulls. Algae positively affect the physiology (by providing a large profile of natural vitamins, minerals and essential fatty acids, improved immune response and fertility, better weight control) and their external appearance (resulting in healthy skin and a lustrous coat) of animals [218].

In poultry rations, algae up to a level of 5–10% can be used safely as a partial replacement for conventional proteins. The yellow color of broiler skin and shanks as well as the egg yolk, is the most important characteristic that can be influenced by feeding algae [146].

#### 5.1.2. Bioactive compounds

5.1.2.1. Fatty acids. Microalgae, especially marine microalgae, are also excellent sources of polyunsaturated fatty acids such as linolenic acid, AA, EPA and DHA [219,220]. These essential fatty acids are important for the treatment and prevention of a range of diseases and also important in human nutrition [221,222]. Algal species can be selected for the preponderance of a particular fatty acid and the content of these fatty acids can be manipulated by changing the culture conditions [223,224].

Certain microalgae produce large quantities of oils and fats containing long-chain omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids (LC-PUFA). LC-PUFA are long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids ('LC-PUFA), such as DHA and EPA [225]. LC-PUFA are essential to human nutrition and health and recent studies have indicated that certain of these LC-PUFA may be associated with physical, mental and visual development in infants [226]. In addition, omega-3 fatty acids are a part of a healthy diet that helps to lower the risks of diseases and include cardiovascular disease, various cancers, arthritis and dementia [227].

A number of algal groups have been identified that produce high levels of LC-PUFA, including diatoms, chrysophytes, cryptophytes, dinoflagellates and others [228,229]. Table 7 represents the predominant PUFA from different microalgal species [59].

DHA omega-3 LC-PUFA has 22 carbon atoms and 6 methyleneinterrupted *cis*-double bonds (22:6). It is a dominant fatty acid in neurological tissue, constituting 20–25% of the total fatty acids in the gray matter of the human brain and 50–60% in retina rod outer segments. It is also abundant in heart muscle tissue and sperm cells [230–232]. Humans are not capable of synthesizing DHA *de novo* and their capacity to synthesize DHA from its precursor, a linolenic acid, is relatively poor. Thus, adequate supplies of DHA must be obtained from dietary sources [233].

DHA is the predominant structural fatty acid in the gray matter of the brain and retina and must be supplied, preformed, in the diet; particularly it is important for correct brain and eye development in infants. It is essential for the proper functioning of brains and has been shown to support cardiovascular health in adults [234,235]. Microalgae such as *Crypthecodinium cohnii* (40– 50% DHA but negligible EPA), *Schizochytrium* (40% DHA, 17% docosapentaenoic acid) and *Ulkenia* sp. are well suited for the production of DHA [59,236]. The dino-flagellate *Crypthecodinium cohnii* can produce most of its fatty acid as DHA [229] with no other detectable LCPUFA, such as EPA or ARA. From 1990 onwards, a number of health and nutrition organizations specifically recommended the inclusion of DHA in infant formula for pre term and full term infants. The world wholesale market for infant formula is now estimated to be about US\$10 billion per annum [235]. Martek's DHA oil for this application (DHASCO; Martek, Columbia, MD, USA) comes from *C. cohnii* and contains 40–50% DHA but no EPA or any other long-chain PUFAs [235,237,238]. DHA oil produced from *C. cohnii* is currently available worldwide (including Europe, Australia, Asia and the Middle East) [239].

DHA are also produced commercially from *Schizochytrium* and these are mainly used for adult dietary supplements (including cheese, yogurt, spreads, dressings, cereals) and foods for pregnant and nursing women [59]. Moreover, OmegaTech (USA), also owned by Martek, exploits *Schizochytrium* to produce a low-cost oil formerly known as DHA Gold [238]. The oil is currently used as an adult dietary supplement in food and beverages, health foods, animal feeds and maricultural products. Finally, the Nutrinova process (Frankfurt, Germany) uses *Ulkenia* sp. which grows in 80-m<sup>3</sup> fermenters. The oil is sold under the name of DHActive [238].

A number of algae have been proposed for the production of EPA, including *Nitzschia* sp. [240], *Nannochloropsis* [223], *Navicula* sp. [241], *Phaeodactylum* [242] and *Porphyridium* [243]. In addition, EPA is a LCPUFA, but with 20 carbons and 5 double bonds (20:5). Changes in EPA levels can significantly change an individual's coronary vascular status because the products of EPA metabolism are eicosanoids with antithrombotic and antiaggregatory effects [231]. A process for producing high-purity EPA, another omega-3 fatty acid (20:5), from *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* has been developed by the University of Almeria in Spain. An economic analysis, on a potential facility producing 430 kg 96% pure EPA per year, estimated the total cost of production at US\$4602/kg, with 60% of the cost arising from the recovery process and 40% from the biomass production. It is believed that the cost needs to

be reduced by 80% to be economically viable. The residual biomass following the extraction of the EPA contains high amount of residual solvent to be sold for animal feed and therefore must be incinerated [244]. The annual worldwide demand of EPA is 300 t [60].

Algae can also serve as a source of genes involved in PUFA synthesis. Once the genes are isolated and characterized, they could be evaluated for suitability for transfer into other organisms, such as higher plants [245].

In addition, new algal sources for the very long chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (VLCPUFA) ( > 18 C) are being examined. These include the production of EPA in *Glossomastix chrysoplasta* [246] and screening of different strains of *Thraustochytrium* sp. for optimization of n-3 VLCPUFA production [247].

Harwood and Guschina [248] introduced the major cellular lipids and their fatty acids and also described how the PUFAs are synthesized. The discovery of different elongases and desaturases important for PUFA production and their application for biotechnology was detailed. Finally, the potential for algae in commercial applications was discussed, particularly in relation to the production of very long chain PUFAs and biofuel [248].

5.1.2.2. Carotenoids. Algae contain carotenoids, (yellow, orange or red pigments) that include the nutritional and therapeutic values, which are due to their ability to act as provitamin A, that can inturn be converted into vitamin A [249–251]. Carotenoids such as  $\beta$ -carotene and fucoxanthin also have anti-tumor and cancer preventive activity [252,253]. Moreover, carotenoids have intrinsic anti-inflammatory properties owing to their quenching action on relative oxygen species and a therapeutic chemo preventive



**Fig. 11.** Chemical structures of microalgal pigments. (a)  $\beta$ -Carotene, (b) Astaxanthin, (c) Phycoerythrin (in phycocyanin, the CH=CH<sub>2</sub> group noted an asterisk is replaced by CH<sub>3</sub>-CH<sub>2</sub>) [59].

anticancer effect is sometimes attributed to these molecules [250,254,255]. The carotenoids are widely used as food colorants and supplements for human and animal feeds (poultry, fish) [57,59]. Carotenoids also have applications in cosmetics [255]. Among 400 known carotenoids, only a very few are used commercially ( $\beta$ -carotene, astaxanthin) (Table 8) and, others are of lesser importance (lutein, zeaxanthin, lycopene and bixin) [255,176]. The structures of  $\beta$ -carotene, astaxanthin are presented in Fig. 11a and b [59].

5.1.2.2.1. β-Carotene. The average concentration of carotenoids in most algae is only 0.1–2%, but *Dunaliella* when grown under the right conditions of high salinity and light intensity will produce up to 14% β-carotene [29,57,59,60,172]. *Dunaliella* is, therefore, well suited for the commercial production of β-carotene and several industrial production plants are in operation around the world including Australia, Israel, USA and China [59]. It can be cultivated outdoors in open ponds owing to the extreme conditions under which it grows (hypersaline, low availability of nitrogen and high levels of solar radiation) [249,256].

The major producer of  $\beta$ -carotene is Cognis Nutrition and Health, whose farms cover 800 ha in Western Australia, Whyalla and South Australia [257]. Three categories of products which are derived from *D. salina* are:  $\beta$ -carotene extracts, *Dunaliella* powder for human use and dried *Dunaliella* for feed use. The prices of these products in 2004 varied from US\$300 to US\$3000/kg [59,258,259]. It has been reported that  $\beta$ -carotene from *Dunaliella* is a substantial growing industry and its commercial utilization is economically viable [60,28].

*5.1.2.2.2. Astaxanthin.* Astaxanthin is another carotenoid that can be derived from algae and is principally used in pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, nutraceuticals, agriculture and animal nutrition [260–263]. It is a potent antioxidant [264] and has possible roles in human health such as UV-light protection, immune enhancement, hormone precursor, pro-vitamin A source and for anti-inflammation [215]. It is also a strong coloring agent, with uses for coloring muscles in fish [217]. The annual worldwide aqua-culture market for this pigment in 2004 was estimated to be US \$200 million with an average price of US\$2500/kg [265]. Astaxanthin can be produced by *Haematococcus*, a freshwater alga that normally grows in puddles, birdbaths and other shallow fresh water depressions [212,266]. *Haematococcus* contains up to 3% astaxanthin, but it requires a two stage culture process, which is

not suited to open pond cultivation. The first stage of the process is designed to optimize algal biomass (green-thin walled flagellated stage with optimum growth at a temperature of 22–25 °C) and the second stage (thick walled resting stage) under intense light and nutrient poor conditions during which astaxanthin is produced [59,172].

Natural astaxanthin is preferred, for example in carp, chicken and red sea bream diets, due to enhanced natural pigment deposition, regulatory requirements and consumer demand for natural products [59,267].

Commercial production is being carried out in Hawaii, India and Israel, where Algatech sell a crushed *Haematococcus* biomass on the pharmaceutical market [59,172,268]. Cyanotech, in Hawaii claimed a market share of over 95% of the animal nutrition market for algae-based astaxanthin products [269]. Moreover, since the 1990's, human nutraceuticals have appeared as a new market possibility [254,264] and Algatech (Kibbutz Ketura, Israel) sells its product (crushed *Haematococcus* biomass rich in astaxanthin) in the pharmaceutical market [59].

5.1.2.2.3. Lutein. Lutein is a xanthophyll and one of the naturally available carotenoids. *Muriellopsis* sp. a microalgae, that is able to accumulate high levels of carotenoids, such as lutein, that is used for the prevention and treatment of degenerative diseases [51]. The lutein market is segmented into pharmaceutical, nutraceutical, food, pet foods and animal and fish feed. The pharmaceutical market is estimated to be around US\$190 million, nutraceutical and food is estimated to be around US\$110 million. Pet foods and other applications are estimated to be US\$175 million annually. Apart from the customary age-related macular degeneration applications, newer applications are emerging in cosmetics, skins and as an antioxidant. It is one of the fastest growing areas in the US\$2 billion carotenoid market.

5.1.2.3. Other bioactive compounds. Microalgae contain several different types of sterols, including clionasterol, isolated from *Spirulina* sp., which are shown to increase the production of plaminogen-activating factor in vascular endothelial cells and thus facilitate cardiovascular disease prevention [173]. Additionally, several antioxidants' compounds (e.g. dimethylsulfoniopropionate, mycosporines or mycosporinelike amino acids) have been isolated from microalgal sources, having the potential to protect against oxidative stress, a wide spectrum of diseases and ageing [43].

#### 5.1.3. Fluorescent pigment

Pigments present in algal photosynthetic systems are being utilized for commercial applications [270]. The most widely used are the phycobiliproteins. Phycobiliproteins are a family of light-harvesting macromolecules that function as components of the photosynthetic apparatus in cyanobacteria and several groups of eukaryotic algae, including the red algae, cryptomonads and glaucophytes [271,272]. They are deeply colored (red or blue), water soluble, complex, proteinaceous compounds. These algae pigments have the potential as natural colorants for food, cosmetics and pharmaceuticals. Their main function is to trap light energy in the 495–650-nm wavelength range and transfer it to chl *a* of the photosynthetic reaction centers.

Phycobiliproteins can be divided into three major groups based on their spectral properties [62]:

- i. phycoerythrin (PE) Amax=560 nm, emission=580;
- ii. phycocyanin (PC) Amax=620 nm, emission=650;
- iii. allophycocyanin (APC) Amax=650 nm, emission=660 nm.

Each of the different phycobiliproteins assemble into highmolecular-mass complexes composed of two non-identical polypeptide subunits ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) (Fig. 11c) [59]. The number of chromophores present in these complexes range from 6 to 34 and these complexes have extremely high absorbance coefficients. When excited with light energy at the maximal absorbance, greater than 90% of the absorbed energy can be emitted as fluorescence [272].

Many characteristics make phycobiliproteins well suited for commercial applications: (1) they have large numbers of chromophores and high quantum yields, (2) they are capable of large Stokes shifts (displacement of absorption and emission wavelengths) with the fluorescence emission at wavelengths with minimal auto fluorescence from biological materials. (3) they form very stable conjugates with many materials. (4) they are fully water soluble and (5) they can be efficiently excited by argon or helium-neon lasers [62]. The ability to form stable conjugates with antibodies, strepavidin, biotin and so on are especially important for developing valuable applications for the phycobiliproteins. This allows the phycobiliproteins to function as fluorescent tags for labeling highly specific probes to identify cell types or proteins [273]. Some of the more significant applications are in flow cytometry and fluorescence-activated cell sorting. In these applications, PE is 20 times brighter on a molar ratio than on a fluorescein isothiocyanate and provides an important additional color for multicolor detection systems in conjunction with other fluorescent pigments. In addition, APC is a significant pigment for flow cytometry applications. Biliproteins have also been widely used in immune-histochemistry [61].

Phycobiliprotein complexes assemble into extremely large macromolecular complexes called phycobilisomes [272]. Phycobilisomes are unstable in low salt buffer and at dilute protein concentrations. Recently, methods have been developed to stabilize the phycobilisomes, by chemical crosslinking [274]. Stabilized phycobilisomes have the same advantages as individual biliproteins do but contain up to 1400 chromophores, making them the most powerful fluorescent pigments, currently available on a perbinding-event basis. They have broad wavelength adsorption characteristics, with the prominent absorption peaks corresponding to each of the phycobiliproteins present. This is well suited for excitation by both argon and helium-neon lasers. They can also have extraordinary Stokes shift of up to 178 nm. The emission wavelength of approximately 670 nm provides minimal overlap with mammalian cell auto-fluorescence. They are easily conjugated to the same materials as the individual biliproteins, which include antibodies, peptides, streptavidin, biotin and DNA. Stabilized phycobilisomes are commercially available as secondary labels for a variety of uses.

Phycobilisomes are well suited for direct fluorescent detection in immunoblots, in which they are capable of detecting subpicogram levels of protein [275]. In microplate immunoassays, phycobilisomes are capable of detecting 40-femtomolar levels of antigenic protein, with a linear assay range of four orders of magnitude [276]. For use in flow cytometry, they are five-fold brighter than PE and thus well suited for detection of low density cell surface markers, which were previously undetectable through conventional fluors.

Phycoiliproteins from cryptomonads, which provide unique absorption and emission characteristics [277] along with relatively low molecular mass ( < 50 kDa), are also commercially available. These have possible applications for use as intracellular markers or in cases, in which specialized absorption and emission requirements are desired.

Dino flagellates also produce a pigment, that has found limited application as an additional color in flow cytometry [278]. The peridinin chlorophyll proteins are water-soluble pigments containing carotenoids and chl *a*.

Dainippon Ink and Chemicals produce a blue food colorant from *Spirulina*, called Lina blue, that is used in chewing gum, ice slush,

sweets, soft drinks, dairy products and wasabi [47,59,279]. Phycobiliproteins can be commercially produced from *Spirulina* and the red microalgae Porphyridium and Rhodella [57,59,60,172]. In 1997, the global market for Phycobiliproteins colorants was estimated at US\$50 million and prices vary from US\$3 to US\$25/mg [59].

#### 5.1.4. Stable-isotope biochemicals

Microalgae are ideally suited as sources of stable isotopically labeled compounds. They are easily handled and cultured and their ability to perform photosynthesis allows them to incorporate <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>15</sup>N and <sup>2</sup>H from relatively inexpensive inorganic compounds (i.e. <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>, <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub> and <sup>2</sup>H<sub>2</sub>O) into more highly valued organic compounds [62]. For unicellular microalgae, each cell is exposed to the isotope, resulting in uniform labeling of compounds. Closed photobioreactor systems make it possible to have a very high conversion of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> into biomass, thus minimizing the cost associated with producing <sup>13</sup>C labeled substrates. Microalgae are metabolically very flexible and can be made to overproduce a variety of different products through simple manipulations of the culture environment [229,280,281].

One application for algal-produced stable isotopically labeled complex organic compounds is forming the basis of culture media of bacteria, yeast and mammalian cells. Stable isotopes provided in the media are incorporated into cellular components and, in particular, proteins. Proteins of interest can be produced in large quantity using molecular technology. It is coupled with recent developments in multidimensional NMR technology and stableisotope-editing techniques [282]. These techniques are also used to determine the primary, secondary and tertiary structures of small and medium-sized proteins [283,284]. Structural information can be used to predict the interactions of substrates with the active sites of proteins and to detect the specific site which is used to alter biological activity of the protein [285,286].

Two commonly used stable isotopically labeled compounds for cell culture are glucose and glycerol. Many algae (especially chlorophytes) are known to accumulate high levels of glucose in the form of starch [280]. When these organisms are grown in the presence of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>, they will produce labeled starch that can be easily hydrolyzed and purified as crystalline <sup>13</sup>C-glucose. Similarly, *Dunaliella* produces high levels of glycerol and has been used for <sup>13</sup>C-glycerol production. In addition to the use of glucose and glycerol as cell culture nutrients, other stable isotopically labeled compounds derived from algae are being used to study macromolecular interactions and the elucidation of metabolic pathways [62]. For example, <sup>13</sup>C glucose has been included in growth media, enabling the algae to produce <sup>13</sup>C-DHA-containing triglyceride, which is used to study the metabolism and turnover of DHA [287].

Algal-derived stable isotopically labeled compounds have also been used as metabolic tracers to elucidate various metabolic pathways [288,289]; <sup>13</sup>C-palmitic acid has been used to measure palmitic acid flux in the blood [290] and labeled galactose has been used to follow carbohydrate metabolism in the liver [289]. A variety of labeled fatty acids has been used to monitor fatty acid metabolism. For example, <sup>13</sup>C-labeled linoleic acid and linolenic acid have been useful in studying the synthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids in infants [291].

Breath tests for the diagnosis of medical disease and dysfunction represent another application for the use of microalgalderived stable isotopically labeled products. A breath test is simply the determination and quantitation of the compounds in human breath. The principle of these tests is that a substrate labeled with <sup>13</sup>C is ingested, absorbed from the small intestine and ultimately metabolized to carbon dioxide. The magnitude and the rate of the appearance of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> in the exhaled breath is used to diagnose the subject's physiological state. Several different approaches to measure <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> have been developed. These include the use of isotope ratio-mass spectrometry, infrared spectroscopy and laser-based systems [292].

Several *Chlamydomonas* sp. are known to produce high levels of a galactose containing polysaccharides [229], which can be hydrolyzed to produce monosaccharides; <sup>13</sup>C-galactose has been used to measure liver function [229,293,294] and its non-invasive nature gives it an advantage over liver biopsy. In addition, <sup>13</sup>C-xylose has been produced from Chlamydomonas, which can produce nearly 25% of its biomass as xylose; <sup>13</sup>C-xylose has been used to diagnose bacterial overgrowth of the small intestine [295] because xylose is poorly absorbed from the small intestine and is metabolized largely by colonic microflora.

Finally, <sup>13</sup>C-labeled mixed triglycerides (known as Hiolein) have been produced from Neochloris and used to diagnose fat malabsorption [296]. Hiolein is a triglyceride oil, that contains over 50% oleic acid and it is functionally equivalent to other triglycerides that have been used as breath test substrates [297,298]. Market value of stable-isotope compounds from algae is probably higher than US\$13 million/year [59]. Spectra Stable Isotopes (Columbia, MD, USA), a division of Spectra gases (part of Cambridge Isotope Laboratories) sells its marked amino acids at prices in the range from US\$260/g to US\$5900/g and its marked nucleic acids at about US\$28/mg [59,299]. Moreover, it has recently developed a process for the autotrophic production of labeled PUFAs from microalgae using <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>, in which <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> is directly sparged into the culture as required. Thus, the carbon loss is high and there is a low efficiency of labeled carbon use. In spite of these considerations, this company is manufacturing more than 400 g per year of labeled fatty acids at US\$38,000/g [62,300] (Table 9).

#### 5.1.5. Drug screening

Algae are a very diverse group of organisms, that occupy a wide variety of ecological niches. As such, they have the potential to be a rich source of bioactive compounds.

A large number of bioactivities have been reported in algae, including anticancer, antimicrobial, anti-HIV, antiviral and various neurological activities [301–305]. Some species of blue green algae and dinoflagellates can produce highly potent toxins [303]. For example, the microcystins are a group of circular peptides produced by blue green algae and some of the more potent derivatives have an LD50 of 50  $\mu$ g/kg [306]. Saxitoxin and the brevetoxins are produced by dinoflagellates and each has significant bioactive effects on humans and fish [307]. Table 9 presents the high value bioproducts from microalgae.

In addition to toxins, many other bioactive compounds have been found in algae [301,302,304]. The National Cancer Institute (NCI) demonstrated that algal-sulfolipids had in vitro activity against the HIV virus [308]. More recently, NCI discovered cyanovirin from the blue-green alga *Nostoc ellipsosporum* [309]. This compound is a low-molecular-weight protein that can be produced as a recombinant molecule in *E. coli*. Cyanovirin irreversibly inactivates HIV, without adversely affecting the host cells [62].

5.1.5.1. Antimicrobial agents from microalgae. A large number of microalgal extracts and/or extracellular products have been found to have antimicrobial (antibacterial, antifungal, antialgal, antiprotozooal) activity [310]. Table 10 represents the antibacterial and antifungal substances identified from microalgae [311–329].

Microalgae antimicrobial compounds serve as useful leads to new synthetic antibiotics or may find application in agriculture. For example, the tjipanazoles, isolated from the cyanobacterium, Tolypothrix tjipanensis, are indolo (2,3-a) carbazoles, similar to those found in actinomycetes and slime molds, but without a pyrrolo (3,4-c) ring [319]. They show little cytotoxicity and no *in vivo* activity against Candida albicans, however tjipanazole Al

Table 10

Antibacterial and antifungal substances identified from micro algae [311].

S. no.	Antibacterial and antifungal substances	References
1.	Fatty acids	[312-313]
2.	Glycolipids	[314]
3.	Acrylic acid	[315]
4.	Phenolics	[316]
5.	Bromophenols	[317]
6.	Terpenoids, carbohydrates	[314,318]
7.	N-glycosides	[319]
8.	Peptides	[320]
9.	Polysaccharides	[321-322]
10.	Acrolyl-choline	[323]
11.	Acrolyl-diketone	[324]
12.	Isonitrile (indole alkaloids such as haploindole)	[325]
13.	Nodularin, goniautoxin, saxitoxin, okadaic acid and ciguatoxin	[326-329]

and A2 show appreciable fungicidal activity against rice blast and leaf rust wheat infections.

Other algal toxins may also be of interest in environmental management. For example, the algacides produced by some cyanobacteria, such as the y-lactone, cyanobacterin, produced by *Scytonema hofmanni* [330], fischerellin from *Fischerella muscicola* [331] and an unidentified extracellular product of an *Oscillatoria* sp. [332–333] may find use in the control of algal blooms. Cyanobacteria have also been patented as a herbicide [330].

5.1.5.2. Antiviral activity of microalgae. A number of cyanobacteria and very few other microalgae, have been screened for antiviral activity [334]. For example, Rinehart et al. [335] have found that over 5% of the extracts of cultured cyanobacteria screened by them showed antiviral activity against *Herpes simplex* virus type II and > 5% had activity against respiratory syncytial virus. Lau et al. [336] have also screened extracts of over 900 strains of cyanobacteria for inhibition of reverse transcriptases of avian myeloblastosis virus and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and they found that over 2% of these algae showed promising activities. The active compounds have, however, not been identified, yet with the exception of an anti-AIDS sulfolipid [337].

5.1.5.3. Anticancer activity of microalgae. Amongst the cyanobacteria, numerous cytotoxic compounds, some of which have potential as anticancer drugs have been characterised [334]. These compounds include tubericidin and toyocamycin [338,339] and new unique macrolides such as scytophycin B isolated from Scytonema pseudohofmanni. The scytophycins show cytotoxicity against the KB (a human nasopharyngeal carcinoma) cell line, as well as moderate activity against murine, intraperitoneally implanted P388 lymphocytic leukemia and Lewis lung carcinoma [340,341]. Similar activities have been reported for the scytophycin, tolytoxin, from Tolypothrix conglutinate var. colorata and S. mirabile [342,343] and for indocarbazoles isolated from Nostoc [344]. The cytostatic effect of tolytoxin apparently results from an inhibition action of polymerization, thus disrupting microfilament organization in eukaryotic cells [345,346]. The acutiphycins from Oscillatoria acutissima, are another group of macrolides with cytotoxicity against KB, as well as activity against murine, intraperitoneally implanted, Lewis lung carcinoma [347]. Macrolides with antitumour action have also been isolated from dinoflagellates; i.e. amphidinolide-A from an Amphidinium sp. [348]. An alternative screen for potential anti-cancer activity, including protein kinase C, protein tyrosine kinase and inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase has also resulted in a range of compounds from cyanobacteria, cryptophytes and chrysophytes [349].

Concordance with the current discussion, Borowitzka [311] stated that the great biochemical diversity of microalgae makes them a valuable potential renewable source of new drugs, growth regulators and other useful chemicals. The author reviewed the status of microalgae as sources of pharmaceuticals and other biologically active molecules.

#### 5.1.6. Microalgal recombinant proteins

Recently, tremendous advances have been made in the tools available to study a variety of algae. Highly sophisticated molecular systems are being used to dissect biological processes in many cyanobacteria [350]. The cyanobacteria can be readily transformed with autonomously replicating plasmids and endogenous genes can be disrupted by homologous recombination. Although a number of commercial possibilities have been proposed for recombinant cyanobacteria [351,352], the potential is yet to be realized.

A novel application of recombinant techniques was to transfer the *cryIVC* gene for producing Bt toxin to *Synechococcus* [353–354]. Cyanobacteria are a food source for mosquito larvae and the Bt toxin is capable of inhibiting larval development. In principle, recombinant cyanobacteria could be dispersed in areas of high mosquito infestation and as the larvae consume the cyanobacteria, larval development would be inhibited. An attempt is being made to commercialize cyanobacteria containing Bt toxin [355], but this venture faces obvious difficulties because of the potential for widespread dispersal of recombinant organisms that might rapidly lose their effectiveness because of the development of resistant larvae.

Advances in eukaryotic algal recombinant techniques have recently been extensively reviewed [356]. *Chlamydomonas* has developed into a sophisticated molecular system that has made important contributions to the understanding of photosynthetic processes. Although recombinant *Chlamydomonas* does not have direct commercial applications, the technology developed for *Chlamydomonas* has provided the direction for the development of transformation techniques in other algae.

Recently developed transformation techniques for *Chlorella* [357] and diatoms [358,359] have potential use in direct commercial applications. At the very least, recombinant techniques in economically valuable algae provide an important tool for elucidating and understanding the biochemical pathways responsible for the synthesis of products of interest (e.g. biosynthesis of PUFAs). At this point, recombinant techniques have not contributed directly to a commercial product. However, with public and government acceptance of recombinant and continued progress in developing methodologies for algal systems, significant contributions could be realized in the near future.

#### 5.1.7. Microalgae in cosmetics

Some microalgal species are used in cosmetics industries, especially in the skin care market, the main microalgae species are *Arthrospira* and *Chlorella* [360]. Microalgae extracts can be mainly found in face and skin care products (e.g., anti-aging cream, refreshing or regenerant care products, emollient and as an anti-irritant in peelers). Microalgae are also utilized in sun protection and hair care products.

Examples of commercially available products and their properties claimed by their companies; 1. A protein-rich extract from *Arthrospira* repairs the signs of early skin aging, exerts a tightening effect and prevents stria formation (Protulines, Exsymol S.A.M., Monaco); 2. An extract from *C. vulgaris* stimulates collagen synthesis in skin, thereby supporting tissue regeneration and wrinkle reduction (Dermochlorella, Codif, St. Malo, France).

Recently, two new products have been launched by Pentapharm (Basel, Switzerland): 1. An ingredient from *Nannochloropsis*  *oculata* with excellent skin-tightening properties (short and long-term effects) (Pepha-Tight); 2. An ingredient from *D. salina*, which shows the ability to markedly stimulate cell proliferation and turnover and to positively influence the energy metabolism of skin (Pepha-Ctive) [360].

#### 5.1.8. Microalgae role as biofertilizer

Pyrolysis is the conversion of biomass to bio-oil, syngas and charcoal at medium to high temperatures (350–700 °C) in the absence of air [74]. This conversion process leads to the formation of the solid charcoal residue called "biochar" from algae, that has potential agricultural applications as a biofertilizer and for carbon sequestration [361]. Biochar can also be utilized as process fuel in bioenergy conversion. It is considered a long-term sink in carbon sequestration process, which could be used to reduce carbon dioxide emissions by up to 84%. This biochar sequestration offers the potential to produce a carbon-negative biofuel [362].

#### 5.2. Commercial applications of macroalgae

The use of macroalgae as a potential source of high value chemicals and in therapeutic purpose has engrossed its commercial interest on macroalgae. Recently, macroalgae have been used as a novel food with potential nutritional benefits and in industry and medicine for various purposes. Furthermore, macroalgae have shown to provide a rich source of natural bioactive compounds with antiviral, antifungal, antibacterial, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, hypercholesterolemia and hypolipidemic and antineoplasteic properties. Thus, there is a growing interest in the area of research on the positive effect of macroalgae on human health and other benefits [363].

Macroalgae have mainly been used as a raw material to extract alginates (from brown algae), agar and carragenates (from red algae). Moreover, algae also contain multitude of bioactive compounds (phenolic compounds, alkaloids, plant acids, terpenoids and glycosides) that have antioxidant, antibacterial, antiviral, anticarcinogenic, etc. properties [364]. Primarily brown algae, the largest and most conspicuous of the macroalgae and red algae, has a diverse algal group.

#### 5.2.1. Foods from macroalgae

The major foods derived from macroalgae are illustrated in Table 11 [44,365]. The algal biomass for these products is derived from wild, managed, or cultivated stands of macroalgae that undergo a minor processing after harvest. In these cases, the product is the biomass itself, rather than chemicals extracted from the algae. The post-harvest processing serves only to clean and preserve the intrinsic character of the algae.

5.2.1.1. Nori. The major algal product in the world today is nori, the algal blade (called a thallus) of certain species of the red macroalgae Porphyra. Nori is a primary constituent of "SUSHI", a Japanese food item that is becoming increasingly popular in the West. The methods employed in the harvesting and drying of the seaweed are often small scale, traditional and primitive [366]. In the case of nori, however, modern techniques introduced in the 1960s have provided the means to rapidly increase the production yields [367]. Nori cultivation is a type of farming, in which seed like propagules, called conchospores, are seeded onto nori nets, which are hung in sheltered ocean areas. Before the mid 1960s, nori cultivation was limited to shallow, sandy bays, where the nori nets could be hung between poles stuck in the bottom. After this time, the nets were often attached to surface buoys, so that deeper water could be used for cultivation. Around 1970, a system was developed to raise the nets out of the water, which allowed the controlled drying and temporary storage of the porphyra thalli. These sophisticated growth systems and procedures, coupled with fast growing cultivation forms and mechanized methods for processing, have provided ample production capacity and nori supply has recently exceeded demand [367]. Many nori products are available; of these, toasted nori sheets are the largest product segment. With a market value of approximately \$2 billion and a product volume of 40,000 t per year [365], nori represents the most successful algal product group now. Although nori is primarily consumed in Japan, Korea and China, sales in other countries are rapidly increasing US sales in 1991, were estimated to be \$20- \$25 million [368].

5.2.1.2. Wakame. Another major algal food product is wakame, a group of related foods derived from a brown alga known as *Undaria pinnatifida*. This macroalgal product has been cultivated commercially since the middle of 1950s [369]. Similar to nori, wakame is produced mainly in Japan, Korea and China. Wakame is more extensively processed after harvest than most other macroalgal biomass products. The most popular wakame product is boiled and salted, which results in the green product most preferred by consumers. As with nori, the primary market for wakame products is Japan, where it is available in many forms (e.g., salted or dried cut) and is used as an ingredient in soups, salads and noodles. As of 1990, in the region of 20,000 t, with a market value of \$600 million, were sold annually [49].

*5.2.1.3. Kombu.* The third major algal food product group is kombu, which is derived from *Laminaria japonica* and related species of brown macroalgae. These algae are collected during the summer, dried naturally and then boiled. A variety of kombu products are produced, which can be served with meat, fish, or soups or as a vegetable [370]. The annual market for these products is around \$600 million.

5.2.1.4. Other macroalgal foods. Many other macroalgae are also used for human consumption as nutritious food items. For example, the red macroalga *Palmaria palmata*, known as "Dulse", has been consumed by shoreline populations of northwest Europe since approximately the tenth century [371]. Another dulse, *Rho-dymenia* sp., is harvested and consumed in parts of North America, particularly the Maritime Provinces of Canada [366], where it is promoted as a sea vegetable.

#### 5.2.2. Industrial products from macroalgae

5.2.2.1. Hydrocolloids. Table 11 summarizes the uses and market values of the major polysaccharide products derived from macroalgae. These products, also referred to as "hydrocolloids", make up the major industrial products derived from algae at the present time; their combined market value is well over \$500 million. These products are prepared from wild or cultivated bed type marine macroalgal species (certain species of red and brown algae).

Carrageenans and agars are obtained from different species of red algae. Alginates are extracted from brown algae species. Unlike the food products described above, the macroalgal biomass for these products undergoes extensive extraction and processing to yield the final product [372]. The extreme case is agarose, which is derived from agar (already a processed product) by extensive separation and purification [373].

*5.2.2.1.1. Alginates.* The alginates are salts of alginic acid; these salts and the sodium salts in particular, are also known as algin. They are polymers composed of D-mannuronic acid and L-guluronic acid monomers. The sequences and proportions of these constituents vary with the source of the algin. The major commercial sources of alginates are brown macroalgae, particularly from *Laminaria* sp., *Macrocystis* sp. and *Ascophyllum* sp.

#### Table 11

Commercial Products from macroalgae [49].

Product	Use	Market value (million \$US)
Nori	Food	1800
Wakame	Food	600
Kombu	Food	600
Alginates	i. Food products ii. Paper products iii. Biomedical applications	230
Carrageenans	i. Food products ii. Cosmetics iii. Pharmaceutical products	100
Agars	Food products	160
Agarose	i. Biomedical applications ii. Biotechnology applications	> 50
Sea weed meal	Animal feed	5
Manure ("Maerl")	Agriculture	10
Liquid fertilizer	Agriculture	5
Phycobili proteins	i. Biomedical applications ii. Biotechnology applications	2

Alginates are typically recovered from the macroalgal biomass by extracting the insoluble alginic acid salts with hot alkali reagent (sodium carbonate). The sodium alginate is then separated from the insoluble seaweed residue by filtration and purified [374]. The primary characteristic of alginates is, their ability to form viscous solutions when dissolved in cold water. Alginates provide thickening, gel-forming, water retaining and suspending properties to solutions containing them. These features trigger their importance in food, industrial and biotechnological applications. Approximately 27,000 t of alginates, with a value of \$230 million, were sold annually in the year of 1990 [365].

*5.2.2.1.2. Carrageenans.* The carrageenans are a complex group of polysaccharides derived from red macroalgae. They are made up of galactose related monomers (a-1,3-D-galactose and P-1,4-3,6-anhydro-D-galactose) to which sulfate groups are attached. Three major types of carrageenans, designated kappa, lambda and iota. They are primarily derived from *Eucheuma cottonii, Chondrus crispus* and *Eucheuma spinosum.* The carrageenans are recovered from the macroalgal biomass by extraction with hot water. Subsequent processing depends on the characteristics of the product desired [375]. The carrageenans are commercially used to make gel, thicken, suspend and stabilize foods and other products. Approximately 15,500 t of carrageenans, with a value of \$100 million, were sold annually at the beginning of this decade [365].

5.2.2.1.3. Agars. The agars are mixtures of polysaccharides extracted from certain red macroalgae. Their unifying characteristic is that, they are all composed of galactose related monomers (D-galactose and 3,6-anhydro-L-galactose). The agars contain varying amounts of sulfate, pyruvate and methoxy groups, the content of which vary with the source of the macroalgal biomass and the subsequent processing procedures. They are derived primarily from species of Gracilaria, Gelidium, Pterocladia, Acantho*peltis* and *Ahnfeltia*. The agars are usually extracted with hot water. Subsequent processing steps serve to generate a concentrated filtrate, which is allowed to form a gel; this gel is then treated, dehydrated and milled [376]. The ability of agars to form stable gels that retain their characteristics under a range of conditions (e.g., temperature, humidity and chemical milieu) underlies their value in many applications. In addition to their use in foods, agars serve as media to grow microorganisms such as bacteria and yeast. Annual sales of these products are approximately \$160 million, on a volume of 11,000 t, circa 1990 [365].

*5.2.2.1.4. Agaroses.* The agaroses are highly refined, specialized macroalgal products, that have played a pivotal role in the biotechnological revolution [377]. These products are manufactured

by isolating the less ionic fractions of agar, under highly controlled conditions, designed to minimize a lot-to-lot variation. The individual products are targeted to a variety of unique applications, each requiring specific quality assurance protocols. The main applications for the agaroses are in the biotechnology area and these products are key elements in powerful techniques such as gene mapping [377]. The value of more than \$50 million per annum is a crude estimate. The unit value of some of these products can be ranging beyond \$25,000/kg [49].

#### 5.2.3. Phenolic compounds

Phenolic compounds are secondary metabolites and thus not directly involved in algal primary processes such as photosynthesis, cell division and reproduction. Phenolic compounds are characterized as stress compounds, it involves chemical protective mechanisms against biotic factors such as grazing [378,379], settlement of bacteria or other fouling organisms [380,381] and against abiotic stressors such as UV-radiation [382] and metal contamination [383,384]. However, some phenolic compounds, such as phlorotannins in brown seaweeds, also exhibit primary functions e.g. in growth and the development of the cell wall in *Fucales* [385].

Phenolic compounds contain one or more phenolic rings, which may be halogenated conferring different and often stronger biological activities [386,387]. Phenolic compounds are present in most algal groups; bromophenols are common to all major algal groups (Table 12). To our knowledge, contrary to terrestrial plants, no flavonoid phenolic compounds such as anthocyanins and flavones have been found in algae.

Bromophenols have been detected in red seaweeds mainly in Ceramiales (*Laurencia* sp.) [388,389], and also in Gelidiales [390] and Corallinales [391]. Bromophenols are also identified in brown [392] and green [390] seaweeds.

Mycosporine-like amino acids (MAA), water-soluble molecules, are most commonly produced by Cyanobacteria and Rhodophyta, but they have also been detected in several groups of microalgae and in *Prasiola* sp. [393,394]. Additionally, although these observations are still under debate, there are reports of the presence of MAA in macroalgae, belonging to other Chlorophyta and Phaeophyceae [394,395].

Phenolic terpenoids have been characterised in brown and red macroalgae; the former contain meroditerpenoids (plastoquinones, chromanols, chromenes) found almost exclusively in the Sargassaceae [396]. Red algae contain mainly diterpenes, with sesquiterpenes present in Rhodomelaceae particularly in *Laurencia* sp. [397] and the occurrence of a secondary cyclization forming a macrolide, which belongs to bromophycolides has been reported for *Callophycus serratus* [398]. In Phaeophyceae, the majority of described phenolic compounds are phlorotannins: polymers of phloroglucinol such as fucols, fuhalols, phlorethols [399], eckols and carmalols [400]. They are present only in brown seaweeds but are widespread amongst them, occurring in greatest abundance in the *Fucales* (up to 20% dry weight) [399].

Other non-typical phenolic compounds have been characterised such as colpol in the brown seaweed *Colpomenia sinuosa* [402]; tichocarpols (phenylpropanoid derivatives) in the red macroalga *Tichocarpus crinitus* [403]; coumarins in green seaweeds such as *Dasycladus vermicularis* [404] and some vanillic acid derivatives in another green macroalga, *Cladophora socialis* [405].

A polyphenolic pigment "marennine" in the diatom *Haslea* ostrearia responsible for the oyster "greening" [406]; finally another polyphenolic pigment, scytonemin and phenolic toxins such as microcystin are produced by some Cyanobacteria [395,407]. Lignin (polymerized hydroxycinnamyl alcohols) which commonly occurs in and was previously thought to be restricted to, vascular land plants has also been discovered in the calcified intertidal red seaweed *Calliarthron cheilosporioides* [408].

#### Table 12

Distribution of phenolic compounds in algal groups [425].

Algal group	Main class of phenolic compounds	Examples
Cyanobacteria	MAA	Asterina-330, euhalothece-362, mycosporine-alanine, mycosporine-glutaminol, mycosporine-gluta-
	Dhanalia nimeant	minoi-giucoside, mycosporine-giycine, paiytnene, paiytninoi, porpnyra-334, sninorine [393,394]
	Towing	Scytonenum (395)
Phodophyta	Torpopoide	Microcystin [407]
Kilodopilyta	Bromonhanolo	2. Promoshanel 4 homoshanel 24 dibramenhanel 26 dibramenhanel 246 tribramenhanel
	Bromophenois	[388–391]
	Phenylpropanoid derivatives	Tichocarpols [403]
	Polymerized hydroxycinnamyl	Lignin [408]
	alcohols	
	MAA	Asterina-330, mycosporine-glycine, palythene, palythine, palythinol, porphyra-334,shinorine,usur- ijene [393,394]
Prymnesiophyceae	MAA	Mycosporine-glycine, mycosporine-glycine-valine, palythine, porphyra-334, shinorine [393, 394]
Bacillariophyta	MAA	Mycosporine-glycine, mycosporine-taurine, palythene, palythine,porphyra-334,shinorine [393,394]
	Phenolic pigment	Marennine [406]
Dinophyceae	MAA	Mycosporine-glycine, palythene, palythenic acid, palythine, porphyra-334, shinorine, shinorine
		methyl ester,usujirene [393,394]
Phaeophyceae	Phlorotannins	$Phloroglucinol, phloroglucinol with a C_{20} a cylside chain; fucols, fucophlorethols, fuhalols, phlorethols; a constraint of the second state o$
		eckols,eckstolonol,phloroeckol, phlorofucofuroeckol-A, triphlorethol-A, dioxinodehydroeckol;car-
		malol, diphlorethohydroxycarmalol [399–401]
	C <sub>6</sub> -C <sub>4</sub> -C <sub>6</sub> metabolite	Colpol,8,9-dihydrocolpol [402]
	Meroditerpenoids	Plastoquinones, sargaquinoicacid, sargachromanols, chromenederivatives [396]
	Bromophenols	2-bromophenol, 4-bromophenol, 2,4-dibromophenol,2,6-dibromophenol,2,4,6-tribromophenol [392]
Raphidophyceae	MAA	Asterina-330, mycosporine-glycine, mycosporine-glycine-valine, shinorine [393,394]
Chlorophyta:	Bromophenols	Avrainvilleol,2-bromophenol,4-bromophenol,2,4-dibromophenol,2,6-dibromophenol,2,4,6-tri-
		bromophenol [390]
Chlorophyceae	Coumarin	3,6,7-trihydroxycoumarin [404]
	Vanillic acid derivative	Vanillic acid derivative andsulphateadduct [405]
Chlorophyta: Trebouxiophyceae	MAA	Mycosporine-324 [394]

*5.2.3.1. Activity of phenolic compounds.* Purified phenolic compounds exhibit many activities such as antioxidant [382,404,409], anti-radical [406,410], UV-protection [382,393,411], metal-chelation e.g. copper [383] and anti-fouling [381,412].

Activity of Phenolic compounds e.g phlorotannins varies according to concentration and molecular-size profile [413]. For example, eckols exhibit anti-viral (anti-HIV) [414] and anti-allergic [415] activities. They have anti-adipogenic [416] and neuroprotective [401] effects and have potential application in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease [417,418] and are inhibitors of melanin formation [419]. Bromophenols are used as "marine" flavor agents in farmed fish and prawns [390].

Some meroditerpenoids from *Sargassum fallax* exhibit antitumor activities [396] and elatol, a sesquiterpene found in *Laur*encia obtusa var. dendroidea, is an anti-parasitic agent [420].

Some specific terpenoids of *C. serratus*, bromophycolides, have anti-malaria properties due to their macrolide structure [398]. Some of these activities have been patented, for example as antiallergic [421], anti-viral [422] and antioxidant [423] agents and natural UV-screen [424] ('Helioguard<sup>®</sup> 365' using MAA from the red macroalga *Porphyra umbilicalis*) [425].

#### 5.2.4. Macroalgae as a meal and biofertilizer

In addition to the major products described, macroalgae provide several other products with significant commercial impact. For example, three agricultural products such as seaweed meal, manure and liquid fertilizer, each have annual sales of several millions of dollars annually (Table 11). Naylor [366] describes some of these products and their dissemination and use. An interesting group of high value macroalgal products, is the phycobiliproteins. These protein-containing pigments, which are distinctive to certain algae, serve as valuable fluorescent tags with many applications in high technology areas, such as flow cytometry, fluorescence activated cell sorting and histochemistry [273]. The major product in this area is R-phycoerythrin, which is currently derived from species of Porphyra, either cultured or harvested from the wild. The high cost of this process is balanced by the high value of the product as a biomedical reagent. The raw material (purified phycobiliprotein) currently sells for approximately \$5000/g [49].

#### 6. Conclusions

The growth in world population has resulted in a surge in energy demand and therefore, there is a need for secure energy sources. All the countries are grappling, with the problem of meeting, the ever increasing demand of transport fuels within the constraints of international commitments, legal requirements, environmental concerns and limited resources. Biofuels are an excellent substitute for conventional diesel fuel, because of being renewable, nontoxic and biodegradable. Algae are a potential alternative source for the conventional feedstocks. Current efforts and business investment are driving attention and marketing efforts on the promises of producing algal biodiesel and superior production systems. Algal biofuel production is potentially sustainable but economic feasibility is the major hindrance for its commercialization.

Apart from potential feedstock for biofuel production, Algae plays an important role in environmental pollution control, human health, animal and aqua nutrition, cosmetic industry, pharmaceutical filed and as a source for bioactive compounds, biomedical components and high value pigments.

Algae farming can be coupled with flue gas CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation and wastewater treatment. It can also be carried out with seawater as the medium, given that marine algal species are adopted, providing

a feasible alternative for biofuel production to populous and dry coastal regions.

The key message arising from this study is cost-effective technologies and the processes to convert biomass into useful biofuels and bioproducts, with particular focus on algal biorefinery concepts. This biorefinery approach helps to improve the economic viability of the algal biofuels.

The paper has discussed the possible conversion technologies for biofuel production from both macroalgae and microalgae. The production technologies for different biofuels including biodiesel, bio-oil, bio-syngas, bio-hydrogen and methane were discussed briefly. By using thermochemical processes, bio-oil and gas (syngass and methane) can be produced and by using biochemical processes, bio-ethanol, diesel and bio hydrogen can be produced. Therefore, based on current knowledge and technology projections, third generation biofuels specifically derived from microalgae are considered to be a technically viable alternative energy resource that is devoid of the major drawbacks associated with the first and second generation biofuels.

The following conclusions can be drawn regarding commercial value assessment of algae:

- i. Algae can be used to enhance the nutritional value of food (Nori, Wakame, Kombu, Arthrospira, Chlorella, Dunaliella) and animal feed owing to their chemical composition;
- ii. Algae play a crucial role in aquaculture (Isochrysis galbana, Tetraselmis suecica); and
- Algae can be incorporated into cosmetics (Pepha-Tight, Pepha-Ctive).

Algae serve as a source for the production of following compounds:

- i. Bioactive compounds such as Alginates Carrageenans, Agars, Agarose, Fatty acids, carotenoids ( $\beta$ -carotene and Astaxanthin ), sterols and several antioxidants;
- ii. Biofertilizer (Maerl);
- iii. Fluorescent pigments (phycobili proteins);
- iv. Algal recombinant proteins;
- v. Algal Drugs (anticancer, antimicrobial, anti-HIV, antiviral); and
- vi. Stable-isotope (<sup>13</sup>C-palmitic acid and <sup>13</sup>C-labeled linoleic).

Evidence in this review suggests that, the concurrent production of valuable co-products that have wide applications in medicine, food and cosmetic industries with biofuel production, has significant potential.

Overall, Combining algal farming, novel bioproducts synthesis and the production of biofuels using biorefinery strategy is expected to significantly enhance the overall cost-effectiveness of the biofuels using algae technology. As a result, utilization of algae for biofuel production, provides dual benefits, it serves as a biomass for the production of biofuels and also save our environment from detrimental effects.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge University of Malaya for the financial support through Project no. UM.C/HIR/MOHE/ ENG/60 and RP016-2012A and FP007-2014.

#### References

 Bender M. Potential conservation of biomass in the production of synthetic organics. Resour Conserv Recycl 2000;30:49–58.

- [2] Demirbas MF. Current technologies for biomass conversion into chemicals and fuels. Energy Sour Part A 2006;28:1181–8.
- [3] Kamm B, Gruber PR, Kamm M. Biorefinery industrial processes and products. Status and future direction, vols. 1–2. Weinheim: Wiley-Verlay Gmbtt and Co KGaA; 2006.
- [4] (http://www.shell.com).
- [5] Mabee WE, Gregg DJ, Saddler JN. Assessing the emerging biorefinery sector in Canada. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 2005;121–124:765–78.
- [6] Scott SA, Davey MP, Dennis JS, Horst I, Howe CJ, Lea-Smith DJ, Smith AG. Biodiesel from algae: challenges and prospects. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2010;21:277–86.
- [7] Yusuf NNAN Kamarudin SK, Yaakub Z. Overview on the current trends in biodiesel production. Energy Convers Manag 2011;52:2741–51.
- [8] Demirbas A. Progress and recent trends in biodiesel fuels. Energy Convers Manag 2009;50:14–34.
- [9] Gui MM, Lee KT, Bhatia S. Feasibility of edible oil vs. waste edible oil as biodiesel feedstock. Energy 2008;33:1646–53.
- [10] Lam MK, Tan KT, Lee KT, Mohamed AR. Malaysian palm oil: surviving the food versus fuel dispute for a sustainable future. Renew Sustain Energy 2009;13:1456–64.
- [11] Wen D, Jiang H, Zhang K. Supercritical fluid technology for clean biofuel production. Prog Nat Sci 2009;19:273–84.
- [12] Carlos RM, Khang DB. Characterization of biomass energy projects in Southeast Asia. Biomass Bioenergy 2008;32:525–32.
- [13] Dorado MP, Cruz F, Palomar JM, Lopez FJ. An approach to the economics of two vegetable oil-based biofuels in Spain. Renew Energy 2006;31:1231–7.
- [14] Haas MJ, McAloon AJ, Yee WC, Foglia TA. A process model to estimate biodiesel production costs. Bioresour Technol 2006;97:671–8.
- [15] Coyle W. The future of biofuels: a global perspective. Oregon Wheat 2008:26–30.
- [16] Naik SN, Goud VV, Rout PK, Dalai AK. Production of first and second generation biofuels: a comprehensive review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2010;14:578–97.
- [17] Laursen W. Students take a green initiative. Chem Eng 2006:32-4.
- [18] Eisberg N. Harvesting energy. Chem Ind 2006;17:24–5.
- [19] Sims REH, Mabee W, Saddler JN, Taylor M. An overview of second generation biofuel technologies. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:1570–80.
- [20] Fargione J, Hill J, Tilman D, Polasky S, Hawthorne P. Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. Science Express 7; 2008. Science 1152747. www.sciencexpress.org.
- [21] Searchinger T, Heimlich R, Houghton RA, Dong F, Elobeid A, Fabiosa J, Tokgoz S, Hayes D, Yu TH. Use of US croplands for biofuels increases greenhouse gases through emissions from land use change. Science 2008;319:1238–40.
- [22] Doornbusch R, Steenblik R. Biofuels: Is the cure worse than the disease? In: Paper prepared for the round table on sustainable development, organisation for economic co-operation and development (OECD), Paris; 2007, 11–12 September, SG/SO/RT(2007)3/REV1.
- [23] OECD. Economic assessment of biofuel support policies. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, OECD; 2008. www.oecd.org/ tad/ bioenergy.
- [24] Simpson-Holley M, Higson A, Evans G. Bring on the biorefinery. Chem Eng 2007:46–9.
- [25] Gomez LD, Clare GS, McQueen-Mason J. Sustainable liquid biofuels from biomass: the writing's on the walls. New Phytol 2008;178:473–85.
- [26] Chisti Y. Marine biotechnology—a neglected resource. Editor Biotechnol Adv 2000;18:547–8.
- [27] Gavrilescu M, Chisti C. Biotechnology—a sustainable alternative for chemical industry. Biotechnol Adv 2005;23:471–99.
- [28] Chisti Y. Microalgae as sustainable cell factories. Environ Eng Manag J 2006;5(3):261–74.
- [29] Wijffels RH. Potential of sponges and microalgae for marine biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 2007;26(1):26–31.
- [30] Chisti Y. Biodiesel from microalgae beats bioethanol. Trends Biotechnol 2008;26:126–31.
- [31] Goh CS, Lee KT. A visionary and conceptual macroalgae-based third generation bioethanol (TGB) biorefinery in Sabah, Malaysia as an underlay for renewable and sustainable development. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2010;14:842–8.
- [32] Miao X, Wu Q. Biodiesel production from heterotrophic microalgal oil. Bioresour Technol 2006;97:841–6.
- [33] John RP, Anisha GS, Nampoothiri KM, Pandey A. Micro and macroalgal biomass: a renewable source for bioethanol. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:186–93.
- [34] Spiertz JHJ, Ewert F. Crop production and resource use to meet the growing demand for food, feed and fuel: opportunities and constraints. NJAS – Wageningen J Life Sci 2009;56:281–300.
- [35] Petrou EC, Pappis CP. Biofuels: a survey on pros and cons. Energy Fuels 2009;23:1055-66.
- [36] Choe S, Jung I. Growth inhibition of freshwater algae by ester compounds released from rotted plants. J Ind Eng Chem 2002;8:297–304.
  [37] Sheehan J, Dunahay T, Benemann J, Roessler P. A Look Back at the U.S.
- [37] Sheehan J, Dunahay T, Benemann J, Roessler P. A Look Back at the U.S. Department of Energy's Aquatic Species Program—Biodiesel from Algae. NREL Report NREL/TP-580-24190; 1998.
- [38] Burlew J. Algae culture. Washington (DC): From Laboratory to Pilot Plant, Carnegie Institute; 1953.
- [39] Chisti Y. Biodiesel from microalgae. Biotechnol Adv 2007;25:294-306.

- [40] Naik SN, Meher LC, Sagar DV. Technical aspects of biodiesel production by transesterification – a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2006;10:248–68.
- [41] Rittmann BE. Opportunities for renewable bioenergy using microorganisms. Biotechnol Bioeng 2008;100:203–12.
- [42] Schenk PM, Thomas-Hall SR, Stephens E, Marx UC, Mussgnug JH, Posten C, Kruse O, Hankamer B. Second generation biofuels: high-efficiency microalgae for biodiesel production. Bioenergy Res 2008;1:20–43.
- [43] Mata TM, Martins AA, Caetano NS. Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2010;14:217–32.
- [44] Wang B, Li Y, Wu N, Lan CQ. CO<sub>2</sub> bio-mitigation using microalgae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2008:707–18.
- [45] Um BH, Kim Y. Review: a chance for Korea to advance algal-biodiesel technology. J Ind Eng Chem 2009;15:1–7.
- [46] Li Y, Horsman M, Wu N, Lan CQ, Dubois-Calero N. Biofuels from microalgae. Biotechnol Prog 2008;24:815–20.
- [47] Raja R, Hemaiswarya S, Kumar NA, Sridhar S, Rengasamy R. A perspective on the biotechnological potential of microalgae. Crit Rev Microbiol 2008;34:77–88.
- [48] Oh HM, Choi A, Mheen TI. High-value materials from microalgae. Korean J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2003;31:95–102.
- [49] Radmer RJ. AlgalDiversity and Commercial Algal Products. Bioscience 1996;46(4):263–70.
- [50] Huang JC, Chen F, Sandmann G. Stress-related differential expression of multiple b-carotene ketolase genes in the unicellular green alga *Haematococcus pluvialis*. J Biotechnol 2006;122:176–85.
- [51] Del Campo JA, Garcia-Gonzalez M, Guerrero MG. Outdoor cultivation of microalgae for carotenoid production: current state and perspectives. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2007;74:1163–74.
- [52] He HZ, Li HB, Chen F. Determination of vitamin B1 in seawater and microalgal fermentation media by high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection. Anal Bioanal Chem 2005;383:875–9.
- [53] Ip PF, Chen F. Employment of reactive oxygen species to enhance astaxanthin formation in *Chlorella zofingiensis* in heterotrophic culture. Process Biochem 2005;40:3491–6.
- [54] Wen ZY, Chen F. Heterotrophic production of eicosapentaenoic acid by microalgae. Biotechnol Adv 2003;21:273–94.
- [55] Blanco AM, Moreno J, Del Campo JA, Rivas J, Guerrero MG. Outdoor cultivation of lutein-rich cells of Muriellopsis sp. in open ponds. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2007;73:1259–66.
- [56] Brennan L, Owende P. Biofuels from microalgae—a review of technologies for production, processing and extractions of biofuels and co-products. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2010;14:557–77.
- [57] Becker EW. Microalgae. Biotechnology and microbiology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1994 ISBN: 978-0-521-06113.
- [58] Radmer RJ, Parker BC. Commercial applications of algae: opportunities and constraints. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:93–8.
- [59] Spolaore P, Joannis-Cassan C, Duran E, Isambet A. Commercial applications of microalgae. J Biosci Bioeng 2006;101(2):87–96.
- [60] Singh S, Bhushan KN, Banerjee UC. Bioactive compounds from cyanobacteria and microalgae: an overview. Crit Rev Biotechnol 2005;25(3):73–95.
- [61] Milledge JJ. Commercial application of microalgae other than as biofuels: a brief review. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 2011;10:31–41.
- [62] Apt KA, Behrens PW. Commercial developments in microalgal biotechnology. | Phycol 1999;35:215–26.
- [63] Benemann JR, Koopman BL, Weissman JC, Eisenberg DM, Oswald WJ. An integrated system for the conversion of solar energy with sewage-grown microalgae. Report, Contract D(0-3)-34, SAN-003-4-2. U.S. Department of Energy; 1978.
- [64] Smith GM. Marine algae of the monterey peninsula. 2nd ed. California: Stanford Univ.; 1944.
- [65] Oncel SS. Microalgae for a macroenergy world. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2013;26:241–64.
- [66] Hu Q, Sommerfeld M, Jarvis E, Ghirardi M, Posewitz M, Seibert M. Microalgal triacylglycerols as feedstocks for biofuel production: perspectives and advances. Plant J 2008;54:621–39.
- [67] Kaliaperumal N, Ramalingam JR, Kalimuthu S, Ezhil Valavan R. Seasonal changes in growth, biochemical constituents and phycocolloid of some marine algae of mandapam coast. Seaweed Res Util 2002;24(1):73–7.
- [68] Princen LH. Alternative industrial feedstocks from agriculture. Econ Bot 1982;36:302–12.
- [69] McKendry P. Energy production from biomass (part 2): conversion technologies. Bioresour Technol 2002;83(1):47–54.
- [70] Tsukahara K, Sawayama S. Liquid fuel production using microalgae. J Jpn Pet Inst 2005;48(5):251–9.
- [71] Posten C, Schaub G. Microalgae and terrestrial biomass as source for fuels—a process view. J Biotechnol 2009;142:64–9.
- [72] McKendry P. Energy production from biomass (part 1): overview of biomass. Bioresour Technol 2002;83(1):37–46.
- [73] Lee S, Speight JG, Loyalka SK. Hand book of alternative fuel technologies. USA: CRC Taylor and Francis Group; 2007.
- [74] Goyal HB, Seal D, Saxena RC. Bio-fuels from thermochemical conversion of renewable resources: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2008;12(2):504–17.
- [75] Pradhan RC, Naik SN, Bhatnagar N, Vijay VK. Moisture-dependent physical properties of jatropha fruit. Ind Crop Prod 2009;29:341–7.
- [76] Demirbas A. Biomass resource facilities and biomass conversion processing for fuels and chemicals. Energ Convers Manag 2001;42(11):1357–78.

- [77] Kadam KL. Environmental implications of power generation via coalmicroalgae cofiring. Energy 2002;27(10):905–22.
- [78] Ross AB, Jones JM, Kubacki ML, Bridgeman T. Classification of macroalgae as fuel and its thermochemical behavior. Bioresour Technol 2008;99:6494–504.
- [79] Clark J, Deswarte F. Introduction to chemicals from biomass. In: Stevens CV, editor. Wiley series in renewable resources. John Wiley and Sons; 2008.
   [80] Rowlands WN, Masters A, Maschmeyer T. The biorefinery-challenges, oppor-
- tunities and an Australian perspective. Bull Sci Technol Soc 2008;28(2):149–58. [81] McKendry P. Energy production from biomass (part 3): gasification tech-
- nologies. Bioresour Technol 2002;83(1):55–63. [82] Steen EV, Claeys M. Fischer–Tropsch catalysts for the biomass-to-liquid (BTL)
- process. Chem Eng Technol 2008;31(5):655–60. [83] Balat M. Sustainable transportation fuels from biomass materials. Energy
- Educ Sci Technol 2006;17:83–103. [84] Hirano A, Hon-Nami K, Kunito S, Hada M, Ogushi Y. Temperature effect on continuous gasification of microalgal biomass: theoretical yield of methanol
- production and its energy balance. Catal Today 1998;45(1-4):399-404.
  [85] Minowa T, Sawayama S. A novel microalgal system for energy production with nitrogen cycling. Fuel 1999;78(10):1213-5.
- [86] Elliot DC, Sealock LJ. Chemical processing in high-pressure aqueous environments: low temperature catalytic gasification. Trans IChemE 1999;74:563–6.
- [87] Aresta M, Dibenedetto A, Barberio G. Utilization of macroalgae for enhanced CO<sub>2</sub> fixation and biofuels production: Development of a computing software for an LCA study. Fuel Process Technol 2005;86:1679–93.
- [88] Patil V, Tran KQ, Giselrad HR. Towards sustainable production of biofuels from microalgae. Int J Mol Sci 2008;9(7):1188–95.
- [89] FAO. Oil production. FAO corp doc repository. www.fao.org/docrep/w7241e/ w7241e0h.htm [accessed 02.05.07].
- [90] Demirbas A. Current technologies for the thermo-conversion of biomass into fuels and chemicals. Energy Source 2004;26:715–30.
- [91] Minowa T, Yokoyama S, Kishimoto M, Okakurat T. Oil production from algal cells of *Dunaliella tertiolecta* by direct thermochemical liquefaction. J Fuel 1995;74(12):1735–8.
- [92] Yang YF, Feng CP, Inamori Y, Maekawa T. Analysis of energy conversion characteristics in liquefaction of algae. Res Conserv Recycl 2004;43:21–33.
- [93] Rosenberg JN, Oyler GA, Wilkinson L, Betenbaugh MJ. A green light for engineered algae redirecting metabolism to fuel a biotechnology revolution. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2008;19(5):430–6.
- [94] Dote Y, Sawayama S, Inoue S, Minowa T, Yokoyama SY. Recovery of liquid fuel from hydrocarbon-rich microalgae by thermochemical liquefaction. Fuel 1994;73(12):1855–7.
- [95] Zhou D, Zhang L, Zhang S, Fu H, Chen J. Hydrothermal liquefaction of macroalgae Enteromorpha prolifera to bio-oil. Energy Fuels 2010;24:4054–61.
  [96] Miao X, Wu Q, Yang C. Fast pyrolysis of microalgae to produce renewable
- [97] Agarwal AK. Biofuel (alcohol and biodiesel) applications as fuel for internal
- combustion engine. Prog Energy Combust Sci 2007;33:23–71. [98] Qi Z, Jie C, Tiejun W, Ying X. Review of biomass pyrolysis oil properties and
- upgrading research. Energy Convers Manag 2007;48:87–92. [99] Bridgwater AV. IEA bioenergy 27th update: biomass pyrolysis. Biomass
- Bioenergy 2007;31:VII-XVIII.
- [100] Shafizadeh F. Introduction to pyrolysis of biomass. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 1982;3:283–305.
- [101] Appell HR, Fu YC, Friedman S, Yavorsky PM, Wender I. Technical report of investigation 7560. Pittsburgh: US Bureau of Mines; 1971.
- [102] Mohan D, Pitman CU, Steele PH. Pyrolysis of wood/biomass for bio-oil: a critical review. Energy Fuel 2006;20:848–89.
- [103] Amin S. Review on biofuel oil and gas production processes from microalgae. Energ Convers Manage 2009;50:1834–40.
- [104] Chiaramonti D, Oasmaa A, Solantausta Y. Power generation using fast pyrolysis liquids from biomass. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2007;11(6):1056–86.
- [105] Miao X, Wu Q. High yield bio-oil production from fast pyrolysis by metabolic controlling of Chlorella protothecoides. J Biotechnol 2004;110(1):85–93.
- [106] Demirbas A. Oily products from mosses and algae via pyrolysis. Energy Source Part A–Recovery Util Environ Effects 2006;28(10):933–40.
- [107] Zhao H, Yan HX, Liu M, Sun BB, Zhang Y, Dong SS, Qi LB, Qin S. Production of bio-oil from Fast pyrolysis of macroalgae Enteromorpha prolifera powder in a free-fall reactor. Energ Source Part A 2013;35:859–67.
- [108] Rowbotham JS, Dyer PW, Greenwell HC, Selby D, Theodorou MK. Copper(II) mediated thermolysis of alginates: a model kinetic study on the influence of metal ions in the thermochemical processing of macroalgae. Interface Focus 2013;3:2042–890.
- [109] USDOE. Roadmap for biomass technologies in the United States. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy; 2002.
- [110] EU. Biomass conversion technologies: achievements and prospects for heat and power generation. EUR 18029 EN. European Commission Directorate— General Science, Research and Development; 1999. p. 178.
- [111] Cantrell KB, Ducey T, Ro KS, Hunt PG. Livestock waste-to-bioenergy generation opportunities. Bioresour Technol 2008;99(17):7941–53.
- [112] Sialve B, Bernet N, Bernard O. Anaerobic digestion of microalgae as a necessary step to make microalgal biodiesel sustainable. Biotechnol Adv 2009;27(4):409–16.
- [113] Olguin EJ. The cleaner production strategy applied to animal production. In: Olguin EJ, Sanchez G, Hernandez E, editors. Environmental biotechnology and cleaner bioprocesses. London: Taylor and Francis; 2000. p. 227–43.

- [114] Phang SM, Miah MS, Yeoh BG, Hashim MA. Spirulina cultivation in digested sago starch factory wastewater. J Appl Phycol 2000;12(3):395–400.
- [115] Yen HW, Brune DE. Anaerobic co-digestion of algal sludge and waste paper to produce methane. Bioresour Technol 2007;98(1):130–4.
- [116] Hirano A, Ueda R, Hirayama S, Ogushi Y. CO<sub>2</sub> fixation and ethanol production with microalgal photosynthesis and intracellular anaerobic fermentation. Energy 1997;22(2–3):137–42.
- [117] Ueno Y, Kurano N, Miyachi S. Ethanol production by dark fermentation in the marine green alga, *Chlorococcum littorale*. J Ferment Bioeng 1998;86(1):38–43.
- [118] Ghirardi ML, Zhang L, Lee JW, Flynn T, Seibert M, Greenbaum E. Microalgae: a green source of renewable H<sub>2</sub>. Trends Biotechnol 2000;18(12):506–11.
- [119] Greenbaum E. Energetic efficiency of hydrogen photoevolution by algal water splitting. Biophys J 1988;54(2):365–8.
- [120] Akkerman I, Janssen M, Rocha J, Wijffels RH. Photobiological hydrogen production: photochemical efficiency and bioreactor design. Int J Hydrog Energy 2002;27(11):1195–208.
- [121] Miura Y, Akano T, Fukatsu K, Miyasaka H, Mizoguchi T, Yagi K. Hydrogen production by photosynthetic microorganisms. Energy Convers Manag 1995;36(6–9):903–6.
- [122] Melis A, Happe T. Hydrogen production. Green algae as a source of energy. Plant Physiol 2001;127(3):740-8.
- [123] Melis A. Green alga hydrogen production: progress, challenges and prospects. Int J Hydrog Energ 2002;27(11–12):1217–28.
- [124] Bautista LF, Vicente G, Rodriguez R, Pacheco M. Optimisation of FAME production from waste cooking oil for biodiesel use. Biomass Bioenergy 2009;33:862–72.
- [125] Anitescu G, Deshpande A, Tavlarides L. Integrated technology for supercritical biodieselproduction and power cogeneration. Energy Fuels 2008;22:1391–9.
- [126] Pintoa AC, Guarieiroa LLN, GMJC Rezendea, Ribeiroa NM, Torresb EA, Lopesc WA. Biodiesel: an overview. J Braz Chem Soc 2005;15(5B):1313–30.
- [127] Ahmad F, Khan AU, Yasar A. Transesterification of oil extracted from different species of algae for biodiesel production. Afr J Environ Sci Technol 2013;7 (6):358–64.
- [128] Suganya T, Renganathan S. Ultrasonic assisted acid base transesterification of algal oil from marine macroalgae *Caulerpa peltata*: optimization and characterization studies. Fuel 2014;128:347–55.
- [129] Suganya T, Nagendra Gandhi N, Renganathan S. Production of algal biodiesel from marine macroalgae *Enteromorpha compressa* by two step process: optimization and kinetic study. Bioresour Technol 2013;128:392–400.
- [130] Zeng J, Wang X, Zhao B, Sun J, Wang Y. Rapid in-situ transesterification of sunflower oil. Ind Eng Chem Res 2009;48:850–6.
- [131] Georgogianni KG, Kontominas MG, Pomonis PJ, Avlonitis D, Gergis V. Conventional and in-situ transesterification of sunflower seed oil for the production of biodiesel. Fuel Process Technol 2008;89:503–9.
- [132] Leung DYC, Wu X, Leung MKH. A review on biodiesel production using catalyzed transesterification. Appl Energy 2010;87:1083–95.
- [133] Haas MJ, Wagner K. Simplifying biodiesel production: the direct or in-situ transesterification of algal biomass. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 2011;113:1219–29.
- [134] Li P, Miao X, Li R, Zhong J. In-situ biodiesel production from fast-growing and high oil content *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* in rice straw hydrolysate. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2011/141207.
- [135] Suganya T, Ramachandran K, Renganathan S. Ultrasound-enhanced rapid insitu transesterification of marine macroalgae *Enteromorpha compressa* for biodiesel production. Bioresour Technol 2014;156:283–90.
- [136] Singh A, Nigam PS, Murphy JD. Renewable fuels from algae: an answer to debatable land based fuels. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:10–6.
- [137] Chang EH, Yang SS. Some characteristics of microalgae isolated in Taiwan for biofixation of carbon dioxide. Bot Bull Acad Sin 2003;44:43–52.
- [138] Hsueh HT, Chu H, Yu ST. A batch study on the bio-fixation of carbon dioxide in the absorbed solution from a chemical wet scrubber by hot spring and marine algae. Chemosphere 2007;66:878–86.
- [139] Zeiler KG, Heacox DA, Toon ST, Kadam KL, Brown LM. Use of microalgae for assimilation and utilization of carbon dioxide from fossil fuel-fired power plant flue gas. Energ Convers Manag 1995;36(6–9):707–12.
- [140] Iwasaki I, Hu Q, Kurano N, Miyachi S. Effect of extremely high-CO<sub>2</sub> stress on energy distribution between photosystem I and photosystem II in a 'high-CO<sub>2</sub>' tolerant green alga. *Chlorococcum littorale* and the intolerant green alga *Stichococcus bacillaris*. J Photochem Photobiol 1998;B44:184–90.
- [141] Sakai N, Sakamoto Y, Kishimoto N, Chihara M, Karube I. Chlorella strains from hot springs tolerant to high temperature and high CO<sub>2</sub>. Energy Convers Manag 1995;36(6–9):693–6.
- [142] Doucha J, Straka F, Livansky K. Utilization of flue gas for cultivation of microalgae (*Chlorella* sp.) in an outdoor open thin-layer photobioreactor. J Appl Phycol 2005;17(5):403–12.
- [143] de Morais MG, Costa JAV. Biofixation of carbon dioxide by Spirulina sp. and Scenedesmus obliquus cultivated in a three-stage serial tubular photobioreactor. J Biotechnol 2007;129(3):439–45.
- [144] Yoo C, Jun SY, Lee JY, Ahn CY, Oh HM. Selection of microalgae for lipid production under high levels carbon dioxide. Bioresour Technol 2010;101(1, Supplement 1):S71–4.
- [145] Munoz R, Guieysse B. Algal-bacterial processes for the treatment of hazardous contaminants: a review. Water Res 2006;40(15):2799–815.
- [146] Becker W. Microalgae in human and animal nutrition. In: Richmond A, editor. Handbook of microalgal culture. Blackwell, Oxford; 2004. p. 312–51.
- [147] Lundquist TJ. Production of algae in conjunction with wastewater treatment. In: NREL–AFOSR workshop on algal oil for jet fuel production; 2008.

- [148] Chinnasamy S, Bhatnagar A, Hunt RW, Das KC. Microalgae cultivation in a wastewater dominated by carpet mill effluents for biofuel applications. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:3097–105.
- [149] Sawayama S, Inoue S, Dote Y, Yokoyama SY. CO<sub>2</sub> fixation and oil production through microalgae. Energy Convers Manag 1995;36(6–9):729–31.
- [150] Martinez ME, Sanchez S, Jimenez JM, El Yousfi F, Munoz L. Nitrogen and phosphorus removal from urban wastewater by the microalga *Scenedesmus* obliquus. Bioresour Technol 2000;73(3):263–72.
- [151] Gomez-Villa H, Voltolina D, Nieves M, Pina P. Biomass production and nutrient budget in outdoor cultures of *Scenedesmus obliquus* (chlorophyceae) in artificial wastewater, under the winter and summer conditions of Mazatlan, Sinaloa, Mexico. Vie Milieu 2005;55(2):121–6.
- [152] Aslan S, Kapdan IK. Batch kinetics of nitrogen and phosphorus removal from synthetic wastewater by algae. Ecolog Eng 2006;28(1):64–70.
- [153] Hodaifa G, Martinez ME, Sanchez S. Use of industrial wastewater from oliveoil extraction for biomass production of *Scenedesmus obliquus*. Bioresour Technol 2008;99(5):1111–7.
- [154] Yun YS, Lee SB, Park JM, Lee CI, Yang JW. Carbon dioxide fixation by algal cultivation using wastewater nutrients. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 1997;69(4):451–5.
   [155] Chojnacka K, Chojnacki A, Gorecka H. Biosorption of Cr<sup>3+</sup>, Cd<sup>2+</sup> and Cu<sup>2+</sup>
- [155] Chojnacka K, Chojnacki A, Gorecka H. Biosorption of Cr<sup>3+</sup>, Cd<sup>2+</sup> and Cu<sup>2+</sup> ions by blue-green algae *Spirulina* sp. kinetics, equilibrium and the mechanism of the process. Chemosphere 2005;59(1):75–84.
- [156] Gonzales LE, Canizares RO, Baena S. Efficiency of ammonia and phosphorus removal from a Colombian agroindustrial wastewater by the microalgae Chlorealla vulgaris and Scenedesmus dimorphus. Bioresour Technol 1997;60:259–62.
- [157] Lee K, Lee CG. Effect of light/dark cycles on wastewater treatments by microalgae. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 2001;6:194–9.
- [158] Olguin EJ, Galicia S, Mercado G, Perez T. Annual productivity of Spirulina (Arthrospira) and nutrient removal in a pig wastewater recycle process under tropical conditions. J Appl Phycol 2003;15:249–57.
   [159] Jimenez-Perez MV, Sanches-Castillo P, Romera O, Fernandez-Moreno D,
- [159] Jimenez-Perez MV, Sanches-Castillo P, Romera O, Fernandez-Moreno D, Perez-Martinez C. Growth and nutrient removal in free and immobilized planktonic green algae isolated from pig manure. Enzym Microb Technol 2004;34:392–8.
- [160] An JY, Sim SJ, Lee JS, Kim BK. Hydrocarbon production from secondarily treated piggery wastewater by the green algae, *Botryococcus braunii*. J Appl Phycol 2003;15:185–91.
- [161] Dumas A, Laliberte G, Lessard P, Noue J. Biotreatment of fish farm effluents using the cyanobacterium *Phormidium bohneri*. Aquac Eng 1998;17:57–68.
- [162] Laliberte G, Lessard P, Noue J, Sylvestre S. Effect of phosphorus addition on nutrient removal from wastewater with the cyanobacterium *Phormidium bohneri*. Bioresour Technol 1997;59:227–33.
- [163] Mayer AMS, Hamann MT. Marine pharmacology in 2000: marinecompounds with antibacterial, anticoagulant, antifungal, anti-inflammatory, antimalarial, antiplatelet, antituberculosis and antiviral activities; affecting the cardiovascular, immune and nervous system and other miscellaneous mechanisms of action. Mar Biotechnol 2004;6:37–52.
- [164] Dos Santos MD, Guaratini T, Lopes JLC, Colepicolo P, Lopes NP. Plant cell and microalgae culture. Modern biotechnology in medicinal chemistry and industry. Kerala, India: Research Signpost; 2005.
- [165] Yamaguchi K. Recent advances in microalgal bioscience in Japan, with special reference to utilization of biomass and metabolites: a review. J Appl Phycol 1997;8:487–502.
- [166] Liang S, Xueming L, Chen F, Chen Z. Current microalgal health food RandD activities in China. Hydrobiologia 2004;512:45–8.
- [167] Borowitzka MA. Commercial production of microalgae: ponds, tanks, tubes and fermenters. J Biotechnol 1999;70:313–21.
- [168] Soletto D, Binaghi L, Lodi A, Carvalho JCM, Converti A. Batch and fed-batch cultivations of Spirulina platensis using ammonium sulphate and urea as nitrogen sources. Aquaculture 2005;243:217–24.
- [169] Lee YK. Commercial production of microalgae in the Asia-Pacific rim. J Appl Phycol 1997;9:403–11.
- [170] Avron M, Ben-Amotz A, editors. Dunaliella: physiology, biochemistry and biotechnology. Boca Raton (Florida): CRC Press; 1992. p. 240.
- [171] Vonshak A. Spirulina platensis (Arthrospira): Physiology, Cell-Biology and Biotechnology. London: Taylor and Francis; 1997. p. 233.
- [172] Borowitzka MA. Biotechnological and Environmental Applications of Microalgae. Biotechnological and Environmental Applications of Microalgae. [Online] Murdoch University, 2006. [Cited: 26 11 2008]. (http://www.bsb. murdoch.edu.au/groups/beam/BEAM-Appl0.html).
- [173] Barrow C, Shahidi F. Marine nutraceuticals and functional foods. CRC Press, Taylor and Francis Group; 2008.
- [174] Desmorieux H, Decaen N. Convective drying of Spirulina in thin layer. J Food Eng 2005;66:497–503.
- [175] Rangel-Yagui CO, Godoy Danesi EDG, Carvalho JCM, Sato S. Chlorophyll production from *Spirulina platensis*: cultivation with urea addition by fed-batch process. Bioresour Technol 2004;92:133–41.
- [176] Vilchez C, Garbayo I, Lobato MV, Vega JM. Microalgae-mediated chemicals production and wastes removal. Enzym Microb Technol 1997;20:562–72.
- [177] Henrikson R. In the beginning were blue-green algae. Spirulina Source.com. [Online] Ronore Enterprises, 2008. [Cited: 26 11 2008]. (http://www.spirulinasource.com/earthfoodch1a.html).
- [178] Cox PA, Banack SA, Murch SJ, Rasmussen U, Tien G, Bidigare RR. Diverse taxa of cyanobacteria produce I2-N-methylamino-l-alanine, a neurotoxic amino acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102(14):5074–8.

- [179] Metting FB. Biodiversity and application of microalgae. J Ind Microbiol 1996;17:477–89.
- [180] Brown MR, Jeffrey SW, Volkman JK, Dunstan GA. Nutritional properties of microalgae for mariculture. Aquaculture 1997;151(1–4):315–31.
- [181] Canela APRF, Rosa PTV, Marques MOM, Meireles MAA. Supercritical fluid extraction of fatty acids and carotenoids from the microalgae *Spirulina maxima*. Ind Eng Chem Res 2002;41(12):3012–8.
- [182] Jensen GS, Ginsberg DI, Drapeau MS. Bluegreen algae as an immunoenhancer and biomodulator. J Am Nutraceutical Assoc 2001;3:24–30.
- [183] Benedetti S, Benvenuti F, Pagliarani S, Francogli S, Scoglio S, Canestrari F. Antioxidant properties of a novel phycocyanin extract from the blue-green alga Aphanizomenon flos-aquae. Life Sci 2004;75:2353–62.
- [184] Pugh N, Pasco DS. Characterization of human monocyte activation by a water soluble preparation of *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae*. Phytomedicine 2001;8:445–53.
- [185] De Pauw N, Morales J, Persoone G. Mass culture of microalgae in aquaculture systems: progress and constraints. Hydrobiologia 1984;116–117:121–34.
- [186] Borowitzka MA. Microalgae for aquaculture: opportunities and constraints. J Appl Phycol 1997;9:393–401.
- [187] De Roeck Holtzhauer Y, Claire C, Bresdin F, Amicel L, Derrien A. Vitamin, free amino acid and fatty acid compositions of some marine planktonic microalgae used in aquaculture. Bot Mar 1993;36:321–5.
- [188] Renaud SM, Parry DL, Thinh LV. Microalgae for use in tropical aquaculture 1: gross chemical and fatty acid composition of twelve species of microalgae from the Northern Territory, Australia. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:337–45.
- [189] Takeyama H, Iwamoto K, Hata S, Takano H, Matsunaga T. DHA enrichment of rotifers: a simple two-step culture using the unicellular algae *Chlorella regularis* and *Isochrysis galbana*. | Mar Biotechnol 1996;3:244–7.
- [190] Becker W. Microalgae for aquaculture. The nutritional value of microalgae for aquaculture. In: Richmond A, editor. Handbook of microalgal culture. Blackwell, Oxford; 2004. p. 380–91.
- [191] Brown MR, Mular M, Miller I, Farmer C, Trenerry C. The vitamin content of microalgae used in aquaculture. J Appl Phycol 1999;11:247–55.
- [192] Renaud SM, Thinh LV, Lambrinidis G, Parry DL. Effect of temperature on growth, chemical composition and fatty acid composition of tropical Australian microalgae grown in batch cultures. Aquaculture 2002;211:195–214.
- [193] Chaumont D. Biotechnology of algal biomass production: a review of systems for outdoor mass culture. J Appl Phycol 1993;5:593–604.
- [194] Qiang H, Richmond A. Optimizing the population density in *Isochrysis gal-bana* grown outdoors in a glass column photobioreactor. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:391–6.
- [195] Spektorova L, Creswell RL, Vaughan D. Closed tubular cultivators: an innovative system for commercial culture of microalgae. World Aquac 1997;28:39–43.
- [196] Chuntapa B, Powtongsook S, Menasveta P. Water quality control using Spirulina platensis in shrimp culture tanks. Aquaculture 2003;220(1–4):355–66.
- [197] Lio-Po GD, Leaño EM, Peñaranda MMD, Villa-Franco AU, Sombito CD, Guanzon NG. Antiluminous Vibrio factors associated with the 'green water' growout culture of the tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture 2005;250:1–7.
- [198] Rodolfi L, Zittelli GC, Barsanti L, Rosati G, Tredici MR. Growth medium recycling in Nannochloropsis sp. mass cultivation. Biomol Eng 2003;20:243–8.
- [199] Muller-Feuga A. The role of microalgae in aquaculture: situation and trends. J Appl Phycol 2000;12(3):527–34.
- [200] Irianto A, Austin B. Probiotics in aquaculture. J Fish Dis 2002;25:633-42.
- [201] Brett MT, Muller-Navarra DC. The role of highly unsaturated fatty acids in aquatic foodweb processes. Freshw Biol 1997;38:483–99.
- [202] Coutteau P, Sorgeloos P. Manipulation of dietary lipids, fatty acids and vitamins in zooplankton cultures. Freshw Biol 1997;38:501-12.
- [203] Reitan KI, Rainuzzo JR, Oie G, Olsen Y. A review of the nutritional effects of algae in marine fish larvae. Aquaculture 1997;155:207–21.
- [204] Sargent JR, Bell JG, Bell MV, Henderson RJ, Tocher DR. Dietary origins and functions of long-chain (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids in marine fish. J Mar Biotechnol 1994;3:26–8.
- [205] Barclay W, Zeller S. Nutritional enhancement of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids in rotifers and Artemia nauplii by feeding spraydried Schizochytrium sp. J World Aquac Soc 1996;27:314–22.
- [206] Estevez A, Ishikawa M, Kanazawa A. Effects of arachidonic acid on pigmentation and fatty acid composition of Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* (Temminck and Schlegel). Aquac Res 1997;28:279–89.
- [207] Harel M, Koven W, Lund E, Behrens PW, Place A. High DHA (docosahexaenoic acid) enrichment of live food organisms using novel DHA-rich phospholipids. In: Proceedings of the world aquaculture society annual meeting, February, Las Vegas, NV; 1998. p. 228.
- [208] Kashiwakura M, Seto A, Hasegawa K. Heterotrophic microalgal production of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and its use for aquaculture of marine juvenile fish. In: Proceedings of the third international marine biotechnology conference, May, Baltimore, MD; 1994. p. 61.
- [209] Nichols DS. Prokaryotes and the input of polyunsaturated fatty acids to the marine food web. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2003;219:1–7.
- [210] Aragao C, Conceicao LEC, Dinis MT, Fyhn HJ. Amino acid pools of rotifers and Artemia under different conditions: nutritional implications for fish larvae. Aquaculture 2004;234:429–45.
- [211] Shahidi F, Metusalach J, Brown JA. Carotenoid pigments in seafoods and aquaculture. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 1998;38(1):1–67.

- [212] Johnson EA, An GH. Astaxathin from microbial sources. Crit Rev Biotechnol 1991;11(4):297–326.
- [213] Anonymous. Cyanotech will supply Japanese customers a minimum of \$1.5 mil of NatuRose natural astaxanthin. Chem Mark Rep 1998;254(2):3.
- [214] Lynch R. Aquasearch delaying Kau expansion deal. Honolulu Star Bulletin 1998;1998–06–19:C4.
- [215] Lorenz RT, Cysewski GR. Commercial potential for Haematococcus microalgae as a natural source of astaxanthin. Trends Biotechnol 2000;18:160–7.
   [216] (http://www.spirulinasource.com).
- [217] Pulz O, Gross W. Valuable products from biotechnology of microalgae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2004;65(6):635–48.
- [218] Certik M, Shimizu S. Biosynthesis and regulation of microbial polyunsaturated fatty acid production. J Biosci Bioeng 1999;87:1–14.
- [219] Borowitzka MA. Microalgae as sources of essential fatty acids. Aust J Biotechnol 1988;1:58–62.
- [220] Cohen Z, Cohen S. Preparation of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) concentrate from Porphyridium cruentum. JAOCS, 68; 1991. p. 16–9.
- [221] Okuyama H. Minimum requirements of n-3 and n-6 essential fatty acids for the function of the central nervous system and for the prevention of chronic disease. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1992;200:174–6.
- [222] Zevenbergen JL, Rudrum M. The role of polyunsaturated fatty acids in the prevention of chronic diseases. Fett Wissensch Technol 1993;95:456–60.
- [223] Sukenik A. Ecophysiological considerations in the optimization of eicosapentaenoic acid production by *Nannochloropsis* sp. (Eustigmatophyceae). Bioresour Technol 1991;35:263–9.
- [224] Chrismadha T, Borowitzka MA. Effect of cell density and irradiance on growth, proximate composition and eicosapentaenoic acid production of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* grown in a tubular photobioreactor. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:67–74.
- [225] Pohl P. Lipids and fatty acids of microalgae. In: Zaborsky, editor. Handbook of biosolar resources. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1982. p. 383-404.
- [226] Neuringer M, Conner WE. The importance of dietary n-3 fatty acids in the development of the retina and nervous system. In: Lands WEM, editor. Proceedings of the AOCS short course on polyunsaturated fatty acids and eicosanoids. Champaign (Illinois): American Oil Chemists Society; 1987. p. 574.
- [227] University of Maryland Medical Centre (2007) Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA. University of Maryland Medical Centre. [Online] University of Maryland Medical Centre, 1 9 2007. [Cited: 3 12 2008]. (http://www.umm.edu/altmed/ articles/docosahexaenoic-acid-000300.htm).
- [228] Cohen Z, Norman HA, Heimer YM. Microalgae as a source of omega-3 fatty acids. World Rev Nutr Diet 1995;77:1–31.
- [229] Behrens PW, Kyle DJ. Microalgae as a source of fatty acids. J Food Lipids 1996;3:259-72.
- [230] Salem N, Kim HY, Yergey J. Docosahexaenoic acid: membrane function and metbolism. In: Simopoulos AP, Kifer RR, Martin RE, editors. Health effects of polyunsaturated fatty acids in seafoods. New York: Academic Press; 1986. p. 263–317.
- [231] Salem N. Omega-3 fatty acids: molecular and biochemical aspects. In: Spiller G, Scala J, editors. New protective roles for selected nutrients: current topics in nutrition and disease, 22. New York: Alan R. Liss; 1989. p. 109–228.
- [232] Gill I, Valivety R. Polyunsaturated fatty acids, part 1: occurrence, biological activities and applications. Trend Biotechnol 1997;15:401–9.
- [233] Emken EA, Adlof RO, Gulley RM. Dietary linoleic acid influences desaturation and acylation of deuterium-labeled linoleic and linolenic acids in young adult males. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994;1213:277–88.
- [234] Kroes R, Schaefer EJ, Squire RA, Williams GM. A review of the safety of DHA45-oil. Food Chem Toxicol 2003;41:1433–46.
- [235] Ward OP, Singh A. Omega-3/6 fatty acids: alternative sources of production. Process Biochem 2005;40:3627–52.
- [236] Ganuza E anderson AJ, Ratledge C. High-cell-density cultivation of *Schi-zochytrium* sp. in an ammonium/pH-auxostat fed-batch system. Biotechnol Lett 2008;30 1559e1564.
- [237] Jiang Y, Chen F, Liang SZ. Production potential of docosahexaenoic acid by the heterotrophic marine dinoflagellate *Crypthecodinium cohnii*. Process Biochem 1999;34:633–7.
- [238] Ratledge C. Fatty acid biosynthesis in microorganisms being used for single cell oil production. Biochimie 2004;86:807–15.
- [239] Brower V. Nutraceuticals: poised for a healthy slice of the heathcare market? Nat Biotechnol 1998;16:728–31.
- [240] Boswell KDB, Gladue R, Prima B, Kyle DJ. SCO production by fermentative microalgae. In: Kyle DJ, Ratledge C, editors. Industrial applications of single cell oils. Champaign (Illinois): American Oil Chemists' Society; 1992. p. 274–86.
- [241] Tan CK, Johns MR. Screening of diatoms for heterotrophic eicosapentaenoic acid production. J Appl Phycol 1996;8:59–64.
- [242] Molina Grima E, Sanchez Perez JA, Garcia Camacho F, Fernandez Sevilla JM, Acien Fernandez FG, Urda Cardona J. Biomass and icosapentaenoic acid productivities from an outdoor batch culture of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* UTEX 640 in an airlift tubular photobioreactor. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1995;42:658–63.
- [243] Cohen Z. The production potential of eicosapentaenoic and arachidonic acids by the red alga *Porphyridium cruentum*. J Am Oil Chem Soc 1990;67:916–20.
- [244] Molina Grima E, Belarbi EH, Acien Fernandez FG, Robles Medina A, Chisti Y. Recovery of microalgal biomass and metabolites: process options and economics. Biotechnol Adv 2003;20(7–8):491–515.

- [245] Yuan A, Knauf V. Modification of plant components. Curr Opin Biotechnol 1997;8:227–33.
- [246] Hsiao TY, Blanch HW. Physiological studies of eicosapentaenoic acid production in the marine microalga *Glossomastix chrysoplasta*. Biotechnol Bioeng 2006;93:465–75.
- [247] Burla AM, Radianingtyas H, Windest A, Barrow CJ. Isolation and characterisation of polyunsaturated fatty acid producing *Thraustochytrium* species: screening of strains and optimisation of omega-3 production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2006;72:1161–9.
- [248] Harwood JL, Guschina IA. The versatility of algae and their lipid metabolism. Biochimie 2009;91:679–84.
- [249] Garcia-Gonzalez M, Moreno J, Manzano JC, Florencio FJ, Guerrero MG. Production of *Dunaliella salina* biomass rich in 9-cis-β-carotene and lutein in a closed tubular photobioreactor. J Biotechnol 2005;115:81–90.
- [250] Gouveia L, Empis J. Relative stabilities of microalgal carotenoids in microalgal extracts, biomass and fish feed: effect of storage conditions. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 2003;4:227–33.
- [251] Borowitzka MA. Vitamins and fine chemicals from microalgae. In: Borowitzka MA, Borowitzka LJ, editors. Microalgal biotechnology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1988. p. 153–96.
- [252] Okuzumi J, Nishino H, Murakoshi M, Iwashima A, Tanaka Y, Yamane T, Fujita Y, Takahashi T. Inhibitory effects of fucoxanthin, a natural carotenoid, on Nmyc expression and cell cycle progression in human malignant tumor cells. Cancer Lett 1990;55:75–81.
- [253] Davison A, Rousseau E, Dunn B. Putative anticarcinogenic actions of carotenoidsnutritional implications. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1993;71:732–45.
- [254] Guerin M, Huntley ME, Olaizola M. Haematococcus astaxanthin: applications for human health and nutrition. Trends Biotechnol 2003;21:210–6.
- [255] Del Campo JA, Moreno J, Rodriguez H, Vargas MA, Rivas J, Guerrero MG. Carotenoid content of chlorophycean microalgae: factors determining lutein accumulation in *Muriellopsis* sp. (Chlorophyta). J Biotechnol 2000;76:51–9.
- [256] Leon R, Martin M, Vigara J, Vilchez C, Vega JM. Microalgae mediated photoproduction of β-carotene in aqueous–organic two phase systems. Biomol Eng 2003;20:177–82.
- [257] Borowitzka LJ, Borowitzka MA. Carotene (Provitamin A) production with algae. In: Vandamme EJ, editor. Biotechnology of vitamins, pigments and growth factors. elsevier applied science. London: Applied Science; 1989. p. 15–26.
- [258] Cognis. Cognis Launches Betatene\_ 10% WDP. Cognis. [Online] Cognis, 22 10 2008.
- [259] Ben-Amotz A. Industrial production of microalgal cell-mass and secondary products — major industrial species-Dunaliella. In: Richmond A, editor. Handbook of microalgal culture. Blackwell, Oxford; 2004. p. 273–80.
- [260] Miki W. Biological functions and activities of animal carotenoids. Pure Appl Chem 1991;63:141–6.
- [261] Torrissen OJ, Christiansen R. Requirements for carotenoids in fish diets. J Appl Ichthyol 1995;11:225–30.
- [262] Nishino H. Cancer prevention by carotenoids. Mutat Res 1998;402:159-63.
- [263] Wu Y, Jenkins T, Blunden G, von Mende N, Hankins SD. Suppression of fecundity of the root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne javanica*, in monoxenic cultures of *Arabidopsis thaliana* treated with an alkaline extract of *Ascophyllum nodosum*. J appl Phycol 1998;10:91–4.
- [264] Waldenstedt L, Inborr J, Hansson I, Elwinger K. Effects of astaxanthin-rich algal meal (Haematococcus pluvalis) on growth performance, caecal campylobacter and clostridial counts and tissue astaxanthin concentration of broiler chickens. Anim Feed Sci Technol 2003;108:119–32.
- [265] Hejazi MA, Wijffels RH. Milking of microalgae. Trends Biotechnol 2004;22:189–94.
- [266] Margalith PZ. Production of ketocarotenoids by microalgae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1999;51:431–8.
- [267] Cysewski GR, Lorenz RT. Industrial production of microalgal cell-mass and secondary products. Major industrial species – Haematococcus. In: Richmond A, editor. Handbook of microalgal culture. Blackwell, Oxford; 2004. p. 281–8.
- [268] Algatech Astaxanthin—The Algatech Story. Astaxanthin— The Algatech Story. [Online] Algatech; 2004. [Cited: 3 12 2008].
- [269] Cyanotech Corporation (2008) BioAstin Production and Purity. Cyanotech Corporation. [Online] Cyanotech Corporation, 2008. [Cited: 3 12 2008].
- [270] Grossman AR, Bhaya D, Apt KE, Kehoe DM. Lightharvesting complexes in oxygenic photosynthesis: diversity, control and evolution. Annu Rev Genet 1995;29:231–88.
- [271] MacColl R, Guard-Friar D. Phycobiliproteins. Boca Raton (Florida): CRC Press; 1987. p. 218.
- [272] Sidler W. Phycobilisomes and phycobiliprotein structures. In: Bryant DR, editor. The molecular biology of cyanobacteria. Dordrecht: Kluwer; 1994. p. 139–216.
- [273] Glazer AN. Phycobiliproteins—a family of valuable widely used fluorophores. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:105–12.
- [274] Cubicciotti RC. Phycobilisomes, derivatives and uses there of. US Patent No. 5695990;1997.
- [275] Morseman J, Moss M, Zoha S, Allnutt FCT. PBXL-1: a new fluorochrome for detecting protein on membranes. Dual Helix 1998;1:3–4.
- [276] Zoha SJ, Ramnarain S, Allnutt FCT. Ultrasensitive direct fluorescent immunoassay for thyroid stimulating hormone. Clin Chem 1998;44(9):2045–6.
- [277] Wedemayer GJ, Kidd DG, Glazer AN. Cryptomonad biliproteins: bilin types and locations. Photosyn Res 1996;48:163–70.

- [278] Afar B, Merrill J, Clark EA. Detection of lymphocyte subsets using three-color/ single-laser flow cytometry and the fluorescent dye peridinin chlorophyll a protein. J Clin Immunol 1991;11:254–61.
- [279] DIC Corporation. Natural blue colorant derived from DIC Spirulina. DIC Corporation. [Online] DIC Corporation, 2008. [Cited: 9 12 2008].
- [280] Behrens PW, Bingham SE, Hoeksema SD, Cohoon DL, Cox JC. Studies on the incorporation of CO<sub>2</sub> into starch by *Chlorella vulgaris*. J Appl Phycol 1989;1:123–30.
- [281] Behrens PW, Hoeksema SD, Arnett KL, Cole MS, Heubner TA, Rutten JM, Kyle DJ. Eicosapentaenoic acid from microaglae. In: Demain AL, Somkuti GA, Hunter-Cevera JC, Rossmoore HW, editors. Novel microbial products for medicine and agriculture. Society of Industrial Microbiology; 1989. p. 253–9.
- [282] Kainosho M. Isotope labelling of macromolecules for structural determinations. Nat Struct Biol 1997;4:858–61.
- [283] Lustbader J, Birken S, Pollack S, Pound A, Chait B, Mirza U, Ramnarain S, Canfield R, Brown JM. Expression of human chorionic gonadotropin uniformly labeled with NMR isotopes in Chinese hamster ovary cells: an advance toward rapid determination of glycoprotein structure. J Biomol NMR 1996;7:295–304.
- [284] Weller C, Lustbader J, Seshadri K, Brown JM, Chadwick CA, Kolthoff CE, Ramnarain S, Pollak S, Canfield R, Homans SW. Structural and conformational analysis of glycan moieties in situ on isotopically <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>15</sup>N-enriched recombinant human chorionic gonadotropin. Biochemistry 1996;35:8815–23.
- [285] Bertini I, Couture MM, Donaire A, Eltis LD, Felli IC, Luchinat C, Piccioli M, Rosato A. The solution structure refinement of the paramagnetic reduced high-potential iron-sulfur protein 1 from *Ectothiorhodospira halophila* by using stable isotope labeling and nuclear relaxation. Eur J Biochem 1996;241:440–52.
- [286] Enokizono J, Wikstrom M, Sjobring U, Bjorck L, Forsen S, Arata Y, Kato K, Shimada I. NMR analysis of the interaction between protein L and Ig light chains. J Mol Bio 1997;270:8–13.
- [287] Brossard N, Pachiaudi C, Croset M, Normand S, Lecerf J, Chirouze V, Riou JP, Tayot JL, Lagarde M. Stable isotope tracer and gas-chromatography combustion isotope ratio mass spectrometry to study the in vivo compartmental metabolism of docosahexaenoic acid. Anal Biochem 1994;220:192–9.
- [288] Cunnane SC, Likhodii SS. <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy and gas chromatographcombustion-isotope ratio mass spectrometry: complementary applications in monitoring the metabolism of 13C-labelled polyunsaturated fatty acids. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1996;74:761–8.
- [289] Hellerstein MK, Neese RA, Linfoot P, Christiansen M, Turner S, Letscher A. Hepatic gluconeogenic fluxes and glycogen turnover during fasting in humans: a stable isotope study. J Clin Invest 1997;100:1305–19.
- [290] Guo Z, Nielsen S, Burguera B, Jensen MD. Free fatty acid turnover measured using ultralow doses of [U-13C] palmitate. J Lipid Res 1997;38:1888–95.
- [291] Carnielli VP, Wattimena DJ, Luijendijk IH, Boerlage A, Degenhart HJ, Sauer PJ. The very low birth weight premature infant is capable of synthesizing arachidonic and docosahexaenoic acids from linoleic and linolenic acids. Pediatr Res 1996;40:169–74.
- [292] Schadewaldt P, Schommartz B, Wienrich G, Brosicke H, Piolot R, Ziegler D. Application of isotope-selective nondispersive infrared spectrometry (IRIS) for evaluation of [13C]octanoic acid gastric-emptying breath tests: comparison with isotope ratio-mass spectrometry (IRMS). Clin Chem 1997;43:518–22.
- [293] Shreeve W, Shoop J, Ott D, McInteer B. Test for alcoholic cirrhosis by conversion of 14C- or 13C-galactose to expired CO<sub>2</sub>. Gastroenterology 1976;71:98–101.
- [294] Caspary WF, Schaffer J. <sup>14</sup>C-D-galactose breath test for evaluation of liver function in patients with chronic liver disease. Digestion 1978;17:410–8.
- [295] Dellert SF, Nowicki MJ, Farrell MK, Delente J, Heubi JE. The <sup>13</sup>C-xylose breath test for the diagnosis of small bowel bacterial overgrowth in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1997;25:153–8.
- [296] Lembcke B, Braden B, Caspary WF. Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency: accuracy and clinical value of the uniformly labelled <sup>13</sup>C-Hiolein breath test. Gut 1996;39:668–74.
- [297] Watkins J, Klein P, Schoeller D, Kirschner B, Park R, Perman J. Diagnosis and differentiation of fat malabsorption in children using 13C-labeled lipids: trioctanoin, triolein and palmitic acid breath tests. Gastroenterology 1982;82:911–7.
- [298] Kyle DJ. Method for diagnosing fatty acid metabolism and absorption disorders using labeled triglyceride oils produced by cultivation of microorganisms. US Patent No. 5,466,434; 1995.
- [299] Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (2008). Spectra Stable Isotopes. Cambridge Isotope Laboratories. [Online] Cambridge Isotope Laboratories, 7 2008. [Cited: 9 12 2008].
- [300] Lopez MC, Fernandez Sevilla JM, Ibanez Gonzalez MJ, Gomez RN, Molina Grima E. Assessment of the production of <sup>13</sup>C labeled compounds from phototrophic microalgae at laboratory scale. Biomol Eng 2003;20:149–62.
- [301] Schwartz RE, Hirsch CF, Sesin DF, Flor JE, Chartrain M, Fromtling RE, Harris GH, Salvatore MJ, Liesch JM, Yudin K. Pharmaceuticals from cultured algae. J Ind Microbiol 1990;5:113–24.
- [302] Cannell RJP. Algae as a source of biologically active products. Pestic Sci 1993;39:147–53.
- [303] Codd GA. Cyanobacterial toxins: occurrence, properties and biological significance. Water Tech Sci 1995;32:149–56.
- [304] Moore RE. Cyclic peptides and depsipeptides from cyanobacteria: a review. J Ind Microbiol 1996;16:134–43.

- [305] Sivonen K. Cyanobacterial toxins and toxin production. Phycologia 1996;35:12–24.
- [306] Rinehart KL, Namikoshi M, Choi BW. Structure and biosynthesis of toxins from blue-green algae (cyanobacteria). J Appl Phycol 1994;6:159–76.
- [307] Yasumoto T, Murata M. Marine toxins. Chem Rev 1993;93:1897-909.
- [308] Gustafson KR, Cardellina JH, Fuller RW, Weislow OS, Kiser RF, Snader KM, Patterson KML, Boyd MR. AIDS-antiviral sulfolipids from cyanobacteria (bluegreen algae). J Nat Cancer Ins 1989;81:1254–8.
- [309] Boyd MR, Gustafson KR, McMahon JB, Shoemaker RH, OKeefe BR, Mori T, Gulakowski RJ, Wu L, Rivera MI, Laurencot CM, Currens MJ, Cardellina II JH, Buckheit Jr RW, Nara PL, LK Pannell, Sowder II RC, Henderson LE. Discovery of cyanovirin-N, a novel human immunodeficiency virus-inactivating protein that binds viral surface envelope glycoprotein gp120: potential applications to microbicide development. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1997;41:1521–30.
- [310] Pesando D. Antibacterial and antifungal activities of marine algae. In: Akatsuka I, editor. Introduction to applied phycology. Hague: SPB Academic Publishing; 1990. p. 3–26.
- [311] Borowitzka MA. Microalgae as sources of pharmaceuticals and other biologically active compounds. J Appl Phycol 1995;7:3–15.
- [312] Harder R, Opperman A. Uber antibiotische Stoffe bei den Griinalgen Stichococcus bacillaris und Protosiphon botryoides. Arch Mikrobiol 1953;19:398–401.
- [313] Findlay JA, Patil AD. Antibacterial constituents of the diatom Navicula delognei. Lloydia 1984;47:815-8.
- [314] Duff DCB, Bruce DL, Antia NJ. The antibacterial activity of marine planktonic algae. Can J Microbiol 1966;12:877–8.
- [315] Sieburth JM. Acrylic acid, an 'antibiotic' principle in *Phaeocystis blooms* in Antarctic waters. Science 1959;132:676–7.
- [316] De Cano MMS, De Mule MCZ, De Calre GZ, De Halperin DR. Inhibition of Candida albicans and Staphylococcus aureus by phenolic compounds from the terrestrial cyanobacterium Nostoc muscorum. | Appl Phycol 1990;2:79–81.
- [317] Pedersen M, DaSilva EJ. Simple brominated phenols in the bluegreen alga Calothrix brevissima West. Planta 1973;115:83–96.
- [318] Ramamurthy VD. Antibacterial activity of the marine bluegreen algae *Trichodesmium erythraeum* in the gastro-intestinal tract of the sea gull *Larus brumicephalus*. Mar Biol 1970;6:74–6.
- [319] Bonjouklian R, Smitka TA, Doolin LE, Molloy RM, Debono M, Shaffer SA, Moore RE, Stewart JB, Patterson GML. Tjipanazoles, new antifungal agents from the blue-green alga *Tolypothrix tjipanasensis*. Tetrahedron 1991;47:7739–50.
- [320] Berland BR, Bonin DJ, Cornu AL. The antibacterial substances of the marine alga Stichochrysis immobilis (Chrysophyta). J Phycol 1972;8:383–92.
- [321] Pesando D, Gnassia-Barelli M. Antifungal properties of some marine planktonic algae. In: Hoppe HA, Levring T, Tanaka Y, editors. Marine algae in pharmaceutical science. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter; 1979. p. 461–71.
- [322] Pesando D, Gnassia-Garelli M, Gueho E, Rinaudo M, Isolement Defaye J. 6tucle structurale et proprietes antibiotiques et antifongiques dun comosant polysaccaridique de la diatome marine *Chaetoceras lauderi* Ralfs. Oceanis. Fasc. Hors.-Ser 1980:561–8.
- [323] Taylor RF, Ikawa M, Sasner JJ, Thurberg FP, andersen KK. Occurrence of choline esters in the marine dinoflagellate *Amphidinium carter*. J Phycol 1974;10:279–83.
- [324] Trick CG, andersen RJ, Harrison PJ. Environmental factors influencing the production of an antibacterial metabolite from the marine dinoflagellate, *Prorocentrum minimum*. Can J Fish aquat Sci 1984;41:423–32.
- [325] Moore RE, Cheuk C, Yang XQG, Patterson GML, Bonjouklian R, Smitka TA, Mynderse JS, Foster RS, Jones ND, Swartzendruber JK, Hapalindoles Deeter JB. antibacterial and antimycotic alkaloids from the cyanophyte Hapalosiphon fontinalis. J org Chem 1987;52:1036–43.
- [326] Prakash A. Growth and toxicity of a marine dinoflagellate Goniaulax tamarensis. J Fish Res Bd Can 1967;24:1589–606.
- [327] Sharma GM, Michaels L, Goniodomin Burkholder PR. a new antibiotic from a dinoflagellate. | Antibiot 1968;21:659-64.
- [328] Nagai H, Satake M, Yasumoto T. Antimicrobial activities of polyether compounds of dinoflagellate origins. J Appl Phycol 1990;2:305–8.
- [329] Carmichael WW. A review: cyanobacteria secondary metabolites—the cyanotoxins. I Appl Bact 1992:72:445–59.
- [330] Gleason FK. Cyanobacterin herbicide. U.S. Patent Number 4:626,271; 1986.
- [331] Gross EM, Wolk CP, Fischerellin Juttner F. a new allelochemical from the freshwater cyanobacterium *Fischerella muscicola*. J Phycol 1991;27:686–92.
- [332] Bagchi SN, Palod A, Chauhan VS. Algicidal properties of a bloom-forming blue-green alga, Oscillatoria sp. J Bas Microbiol 1990;30:21–9.
- [333] Chauhan VS, Marwah JB, Bagchi SN. Effect of an antibiotic from Oscillatoria sp on phytoplankters, higher plants and mice. New Phytol 1992;120:251–7.
- [334] Patterson GML, Baker KK, Baldwin CL, Bolis CM, Caplan FR, Larsen LK, Levine IA, Moore RE, Nelson CS, Tschappat KD, Tuang GD, Boyd MR, Cardellina JH, Collins RP, Gustafson KR, Snader KM, Weislow OS, Lewin RA. Antiviral activity of cultured blue-green algae (Cyanophyta). J Phycol 1993;29:125–30.
- [335] Rinehart KL, Shaw PD, Shield LS, Gloer JB, Harbour GC, MES Koker, Samain D, Schwartz RE, Tymiak AA, Weller DL, Carter GT, MHG Munro, Hughes RG, Renis HE, Swynenberg EB, Stringfellow DA, Vavra JJ, Coats JH, Zurenko GE, Kuentzel SL, Li LH, Bakus GJ, Brusca RC, Craft LL, Young DN, Connor JL. Marine natural products as sources of antiviral, antimicrobial and antineoplastic agents. Pure Appl Chem 1981;53:795–817.
- [336] Lau AF, Siedlecki J, Anleitner J, Patterson GML, Caplan FR, Moore RE. Inhibition of reverse transcriptase activity by extracts of cultured blue-green algae (Cyanophyta). Planta Med 1993;59:148–51.

- [337] Patterson GML, Baldwin CL, Bolis CM, Caplan FR, Karuso H, Larsen LK, Levine IA, Moore RE, Nelson CS, Tschappat KD, Tuang GD, Furusawa E, Furusawa S, Norton TR, Raybourne RB. Antineoplastic activity of cultured blue-green algae (Cyanophyta). J Phycol 1991;27:530–6.
- [338] Barchi JJ, Moore RE, Furusawa E, Patterson GML. Identification of cytotoxin from *Tolypothrix byssoidea* as tubercidin. Phytochem 1983;22:2851–2.
- [339] Ishibashi M, Moore RE, Patterson GML, Xu C, Clardy J. Scytophycins, cytotoxic and antimycotic agents from the cyanophyte *Scytonema pseudohofinanni*. J Org Chem 1986;51:5300–6.
- [340] Moore RE, Patterson GML, Mynderse JS, Barchi J, Norton TR, Furusawa E, Furusawa S. Toxins from cyanophytes belonging to the Scytonemataceae. Pure Appl Chem 1986;58:263–71.
- [341] Stewart JB, Bornemann V, Chen JL, Moore RE, Caplan FR, Karuso H, Larsen LK, Palterson GML. Cytotoxic, fungicidal nucleosides from blue-green algae belonging to the Scytonemataceae. J. Antibiot 1988;41:1048–56.
   [342] Carmeli S, Moore RE, Palterson GML. Tolytoxin and new scytophycins from
- [342] Carmeli S, Moore RE, Palterson GML. Tolytoxin and new scytophycins from three species of Scytonema. Lloydia 1990;55:1533–42.
- [343] Knubel G, Larsen LK, Moore RE, Levine IA, Palterson GML. Cytotoxic, antiviral indolocarbazoles from a blue-green alga belonging to the Nostocaceae. J Antibiot 1990;43:1236–9.
- [344] Patterson GML, Carmeli S. Biological effects of tolytoxin (6-hydroxy-7-0methylscytophycin B), a potent bioactive metabolite from cyanobacteria. Arch Microbiol 1992;157:406–10.
- [345] Patterson GML, Smith CD, Kimura LH, Britton BA, Carmeli S. Action of tolytoxin on cell morphology, cytoskeletal organization and actin polymerization. Cell Motil Cytoskel 1993;24:39–48.
- [346] Barchi JJ, Moore RE, Palterson GML. Acutiphycin and 20,21-didehydroacutiphycin, new antineoplastic agents from the cyanophyte *Oscillatoria acutissima*. J Am Chem Soc 1984;106:8193–7.
- [347] Kobayashi A, Ishibashi M, Nakamura H, Ozumi Y, Yamasu T, Sasaki T, Hirata Y. Amphidinolide-A, a novel antineoplastic macrolide from the marine dinoflagellate *Amphidinium* sp. Tet Lett 1986;27:5755–8.
- [348] Gerwick WH, Roberts MA, Proteau PJ, Chen JL. Screening cultured marine microalgae for anticancer-type activity. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:143–9.
- [349] Thiel T. Genetic analysis of cyanobacteria. In: Bryant DR, editor. The molecular biology of cyanobacteria. Dordrecht: Kluwer; 1994. p. 518–611.
- [350] Elhai E. Genetic techniques appropriate for the biotechnological exploitation of cyanobacteria. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:177–86.
- [351] Vermaas W. Molecular genetics of the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC6803: principles and possible biotechnology applications. J Appl Phycol 1996;8:263–73.
- [352] Murphy RC, Stevens SE. Cloning and expression of the cryIVD gene of Bacillus thuringiensis ssp. israelensis in the cyanobacterium Agmenellum quadruplicatum PR-6 and its resulting larvicidal activity. Appl Environ Microbiol 1992;58:1650–5.
- [353] Stevens SE, Murphy RC, Lamoreaux WJ, Coons LB. A genetically engineered mosquitocidal cyanobacterium. J Appl Phycol 1994;6:187–97.
- [354] Xiaoqiang W, Vennison SJ, Huirong L, Ben-Dov E, Zaritsky A, Boussiba S. Mosquito larvicidal activity of transgenic Anabaena strain PCC7120 expressing combinations of genes from *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *israelensis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 1997;63(12):4971–5.
- [355] Watanabe J. Kona green. Honolulu Star-Bulletin, May 3, 1996. p. D1.
- [356] Stevens DR, Purton S. Genetic engineering of eukaryotic algae: progress and prospects. J Phycol 1997;33:713–22.
- [357] Dawson HN, Burlingame R, Cannons AC. Stable transformation of *Chlorella*: rescue of nitrate reductase-deficient mutants with the nitrate reductase gene. Curr Microbiol 1997;35:356–62.
- [358] Dunahay TG, Jarvis EE, Roessler PG. Genetic transformation of the diatoms Cyclotella cryptica and *Navicula saprophila*. J Phycol 1995;31:1004–12.
- [359] Apt KE, Kroth-Pancic PG, Grossman AR. Stable nuclear transformation of the diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Mol Gen Genet 1996;252:572–9.
- [360] Stolz P, Obermayer B. Manufacturing microalgae for skin care. Cosmetics Toiletries 2005;120:99–106.
- [361] Marris E. Putting the carbon back: black is the new green. Nature 2006;442(7103):624–6.
- [362] Lehmann J. A handful of carbon. Nature 2007;447(7141):143-4.
- [363] Lee-Saung H, Lee-Yeon S, Jung-Sang H, Kang-Sam S, Shin-Kuk H. Antioxidant activities of fucosterol from the marine algae Pelvetia siliquosa. Arch Pharm Res 2003;26:719–22.
- [364] Plaza M, Cifuentes A, Ibanez E. In the search of new functional food ingredients from algae. Trends Food Sci Technol 2008;19:31–9.
- [365] Jensen A. Present and future needs for algae and algal products. Hydrobiologica 1993;260–261:15–23.
- [366] Naylor J. Production, trade and utilization of seaweeds and seaweed products. FAO fisheries technical paper nr 159. Food and Drug Administration of the United Nations; 1976.
- [367] Oohusa T. Recent trends in nori products and markets in Asia. J Appl Phycol 1993;5:155–9.
- [368] Merrill JE. Development of nori markets in the western world. J Appl Phycol 1993;5:149–54.
- [369] Yamanaka R, Akiyama K. Cultivation and utilization of Undaria pinnatifida (wakame) as food. J Appl Phycol 1993;5:249–53.
- [370] Lee RE. Phycology. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press; 1989.
- [371] Lahaye M, Vigouroux J. Liquifaction of dulse (*Palmaria palmata* (L.) Kuntze) by a commercial enzyme preparation and a purified endo-1,4-D-xylanase. J Appl Phycol 1992;4:329–37.

- [372] Lewis JG, Stanley NF, Guist GG. Commercial production and applications of algal colloids. In: Lembi C, Waaland JR, editors. Algae and human affairs. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press; 1988. p. 205–36.
- [373] Renn D. Marine algal polysaccharides: biomedical and biotechnological applica- tions. In: Paper presented at the first annual marine biotechnology symposium: bio-materials from the sea; 26 Sep 1994; Woods Hole, MA: Marine Biological Laboratory; 1994.
- [374] McHugh DJ. Production, properties and uses of alginates. In: McHugh DJ, editor. Production and utilization of products from commercial seaweeds. Food and Drug Administration of the United Nations; 1987. p. 58–115.
- [375] Stanley N. Production, properties and uses of carrageenan. In: McHugh DJ, editor. Production and utilization of products from commercial seaweeds. FAO fisheries technical paper nr 288. Food and Drug Administration of the United Nations; 1987. p. 116–46.
- [376] Armisen R, Galatas F. Production, properties and uses of agar. In: McHugh DJ, editor. Production and utilization of products from commercial seaweeds. FAO fisheries technical paper nr 288. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 1987. p. 1–57.
- [377] Renn D. Seaweeds and biotechnology- inseparable companions. Hydrobiologica 1990;204–205:7–13.
- [378] Coleman RA, Ramchunder SJ, Moody AJ, Foogo A. An enzyme in snail saliva induces herbivore-resistance in a marine alga. Funct Ecol 2007;21:101–6.
- [379] Hay ME, Duffy JE, Paul VJ, Renaud PE, Fenical W. Specialist herbivores reduce their susceptibility to predation by feeding on the chemically defended seaweed Avrainvillea longicaulis. Limnol Oceanogr 1990:35:1734–43.
- [380] Lau SCK, Qian PY. Inhibitory effect of phenolic compounds and marine bacteria on larval settlement of the barnacle *Balanus amphitrite* Darwin. Biofouling 2000;16:47–58.
- [381] Mokrini R, Ben Mesaoud M, Daoudi M, Hellio C, Marechal JP, El Hattab M. Meroditerpenoids and derivatives from the brown alga *Cystoseira baccata* and their antifouling properties. J Nat Prod 2008;71:1806–11.
- [382] de la Coba F, Aguilera J, Figueroa FL, de Galvez MV, Herrera E. Antioxidant activity of mycosporine-like amino acids isolated from three red macroalgae and one marine lichen. J Appl Phycol 2009;21:161–9.
- [383] Connan S, Stengel DB. Impacts of ambient salinity and copper on brown algae: 2. Interactive effects on phenolic pool and assessment of metal binding capacity of phlorotannin. Aquat Toxicol 2011;14:1–13.
- [384] Karez CS, Pereira RC. Metal contents in polyphenolic fractions extracted from the brown alga *Padina gymnospora*. Bot Mar 1995;38:151–5.
- [385] Schoenwaelder MEA, Wiencke C. Phenolic compounds in the embryo development of several northern hemisphere fucoids. Plant Biol 2000;2:24–33.
- [386] Cabrita MT, Vale C, Rauter AP. Halogenated compounds from marine algae. Mar Drugs 2010;8:2301–7.
- [387] La Barre S, Potin P, Leblanc C, Delage L. The halogenated metabolism of brown algae (Phaeophyta), its biological importance and its environmental significance. Mar Drugs 2010;8:988–1010.
- [388] Lee HS, Lee TH, Lee JH, Chae CS, Chung SC, Shin DS. Inhibition of the pathogenicity of *Magnaporthe grisea* by bromophenols, isocitrate lyase inhibitors, from the red alga *Odonthalia corymbifera*. J Agric Food Chem 2007;55:6923–8.
- [389] Zhao J, Fan X, Wang S, Li S, Shang S, Yang Y. Bromophenol derivatives from the red alga *Rhodomela confervoides*. J Nat Prod 2004;67:1032–5.
- [390] Whitfield FB, Helidoniotis F, Shaw KJ, Svoronos D. Distribution of bromophenols in species of marine algae from eastern Australia. J Agric Food Chem 1999;47:2367–73.
- [391] Awad NE. Bioactive brominated diterpenes from the marine red alga Jania rubens (L.) Lmx. Phytotherapy Res 2004;18:275–9.
- [392] Chung HY, Ma WCJ, Ang PO, Kim JS, Chen F. Seasonal variations of bromophenols in brown algae (*Padina arborescens, Sargassum siliquastrum* and *Lobophora variegata*) collected in Hong Kong. J Agric Food Chem 2003;51:2619–24.
- [393] Carreto JI, Carignan MO. Mycosporine-like amino acids: relevant secondary metabolites. chemical and ecological aspects. Mar Drugs 2011;9:387–446.
- [394] Sinha RP, Singh SP, Häder DP. Database on mycosporines and mycosporinelike amino acids (MAAs) in fungi, cyanobacteria, macroalgae, phytoplankton and animals. J Photochem Photobiol B 2007;89:29–35.
- [395] Groniger A, Sinha RP, Klisch M, Häder DP. Photoprotective compounds in cyanobacteria, phytoplankton and macroalgae a database. J Photochem Photobiol B 2000;58:115–22.
- [396] Reddy P, Urban S. Meroditerpenoids from the southern Australian marine brown alga *Sargassum fallax*. Phytochem 2009;70:250–5.
- [397] Masuda M, Kawaguchi S, Abe T, Kawamoto T, Suzuki M. Additional analysis of chemical diversity of the red algal genus Laurencia (Rhodomelaceae) from Japan. Phycol Res 2002;50:135–44.
- [398] Lane AL, Stout EP, Lin AS, Prudhomme J, Le Roch K, Fairchild CR, et al. Antimalarial bromophycolides J–Q from the Fijian red alga *Callophycus serratus*. J Org Chem 2009;74:2736–42.
- [399] Ragan MA, Glombitza KW. Phlorotannins, brown algal polyphenols. In: Round FE, Chapman DJ, editors. Prog Phycol Res, 4. Bristol: Biopress Ltd.-; 1986. p. 129–241.
- [400] Heo SJ, Jeon YJ. Evaluation of diphlorethohydroxycarmalol isolated from Ishige okamurae for radical scavenging activity and its protective effect against H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced cell damage. Process Biochem 2009;44:412–8.
- [401] Jung WK, Heo SJ, Jeon YJ, Lee CM, Park YM, Byun HG. Effects and molecular mechanism of dieckol isolated from marine brown alga on COX-2 and iNOS in microglial cells. J Agric Food Chem 2009;57:4439–46.

- [402] Green D, Kashman Y, Miroz A Colpol. A new cytotoxic C6-C4–C6 metabolite from the alga *Colpomenia sinuosa*. J Nat Prod 1993;56:1201–2.
- [403] Ishii A, Okino T, Suzuki M, Machiguchi Y. Tichocarpols A and B, two novel phenylpropanoids with feeding-deterrent activity from the red alga *Tichocarpus crinitus*. J Nat Prod 2004;67:1764–6.
- [404] Perez-Rodriguez E, Aguilera J, Figueroa FL. Tissular localization of coumarins in the green alga *Dasycladus vermicularis* (Scopoli) Krasser: a photoprotective role? J Exp Bot 2003;54:1093–100.
- [405] Feng Y, Carroll AR, Addepalli R, Fechner GA, Avery VM, Quinn RJ. Vanillic acid derivatives from the green algae *Cladophora socialis* as potent protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B inhibitors. J Nat Prod 2007;70:1790–2.
- [406] Pouvreau JB, Morançais M, Fleury F, Rosa P, Thion L, Cahingt B. Preliminary characterisation of the blue-green pigment "marennine" from the marine tychopelagic diatom Haslea ostrearia (Gaillon/Bory) Simonsen. J Appl Phycol 2006;18:757–67.
- [407] Klisch M, Häder DP. Mycosporine-like amino acids and marine toxins the common and the different. Mar Drugs 2008;6:147–63.
- [408] Martone PT, Estevez JM, Lu F, Ruel K, Denny MW, Somerville C. Discovery of lignin in seaweed reveals convergent evolution of cell-wall architecture. Curr Biol 2009;19:169–75.
- [409] Cerantola S, Breton F, Ar Gall E, Deslandes E. Co-occurence and antioxidant activities of fucol and fucophlorethol classes of polymeric phenols in *Fucus spiralis*. Bot Mar 2006;49:347–51.
- [410] Parys S, Kehraus S, Krick A, Glombitza KW, Carmeli S, Klimo K. In vitro chemopreventive potential of fucophlorethols from the brown alga *Fucus vesiculosus* L. by anti-oxidant activity and inhibition of selected cytochrome P450 enzymes. Phytochem 2010;71:221–9.
- [411] Hwang H, Chen T, Nines RG, Shin HC, Stoner GD. Photochemoprevention of UVB induced skin carcinogenesis in SKH-1 mice by brown algae polyphenols. Int J Cancer 2006;119:2742–9.
- [412] Nagayama K, Iwamura Y, Shibata T, Hirayama I, Nakamura T. Bactericidal activity of phlorotannins from the brown alga *Ecklonia kurome*. J Antimicrob Chemother 2002;50:889–93.
- [413] Boettcher AA, Targett NM. Role of polyphenolic molecular size in reduction of assimilation efficiency in *Xiphister mucosus*. Ecology 1993;74:891–903.

- [414] Artan M, Li Y, Karadeniz F, Lee SH, Kim MM, Kim SK. Anti-HIV-1 activity of phloroglucinol derivative, 6,6'-bieckol, from *Ecklonia cava*. Bioorg Med Chem 2008:16:7921–6.
- [415] Shim SY, Choi JS, Byun DS. Inhibitory effects of phloroglucinol derivatives isolated from *Ecklonia stolonifera* on FceRI expression. Bioorg Med Chem 2009;17:4734–9.
- [416] Kim SK, Kong CS. Anti-adipogenic effect of dioxinodehydroeckol via AMPK activation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Chem Biol Interact 2010;186:24–9.
- [417] Jung HA, Oh SH, Choi JS. Molecular docking studies of phlorotannins from Eisenia bicyclis with BACE1 inhibitory activity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2010;20:3211–5.
- [418] Yoon NY, Chung HY, Kim HR, Choi JS. Acetyl- and butyrylcholinesterase inhibitory activities of sterols and phlorotannins from *Ecklonia stolonifera*. Fish Sci 2008;74:200–7.
- [419] Yoon NY, Eom TK, Kim MM, Kim SK. Inhibitory effect of phlorotannins isolated from *Ecklonia cava* on mushroom tyrosinase activity and melanin formation in mouse B16F10 melanoma cells. J Agric Food Chem 2009;57:4124–9.
- [420] dos Santos AO, Veiga-Santos P, Ueda-Nakamura T, Filho BPD, Sudatti DB, Bianco EM. Effect of elatol, isolated from red seaweed *Laurencia dendroidea*, on *Leishmania amazonensis*. Mar Drugs 2010;8:2733–43.
- [421] Kim MM, Lee SH, Kim SK, inventors; Nat Univ Pukyong Ind Univ Coop, assignee. Antiallergy active composition containing a compound derived from Ecklonia cava. Korea and World patent WO2010041831; 2010 April 15.
- [422] Kim MM, Lee SH, Kim SK, inventors; Nat Univ Pukyong Ind Univ Coop, assignee. HIV-1 inhibiting pharmaceutical composition containing an Ecklonia cava-derived phloroglucinol polymer compound. Korea and World patent WO2010041833; 2010 April 15.
- [423] Yuasa I. inventor; Foley & Lardner LLP, assignee. Hepatitis-related preventive or therapeutic agents. US Patent No. US2010021494; 2010 Jan 28.
- [424] Cardozo KHM, Guaratini T, Barros MP, Falcão VR, Tonon AP, Lopes NP. Metabolites from algae with economical impact. Comp Biochem Physiol C 2007;146:60–78.
- [425] Stengel DB, Connan S, Popper ZA. Algal chemodiversity and bioactivity: sources of natural variability and implications for commercial application. Biotechnol Adv 2011;29:483–501.